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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The Directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The principal activity of Utmost Worldwide Limited (“the Company”) is the sale of insurance products and the
sale, administration and management of investment products.

Utmost Worldwide Limited was incorporated in Guernsey as a limited liability company on 17 August 1993, as
Generali Worldwide Insurance Company Limited. The name changed to Utmost Worldwide Limited
subsequently due to the acquisition of the Company by the Utmost Group on 28 February 2019. The Company
has been operating as a licensed insurer for over 30 years. The Company is composed of Iwo distinct business
units, Wealth Solutions and Corporate Solutions.

The Utmost Wealth Solutions unit (“Wealth Solutions’) specialises in providing insurance-based unit linked savings
and investment products targeted towards the internationally mobile expatriate market. Through its Utmost
Corporate Solutions unit (“Corporate Solutions”), the Company provides insurance products and services to
employers of all sizes; this includes corporate and personal medical insurance plans (now discontinued),
commercial insurance, life and disability cover and retirement and savings products.

From a geographic perspective, the Company has operations in Guernsey (Head Office), Hong Kong, the
Republic of Ireland, Singapore. Switzerland and through a subsidiary in the UAE. The operations in the Cayman
Islands and the Bahamas have been discontinued as of 31 December 2022 and have been recorded as
discontinuing operations during 2022. Please refer to note 25 for more detail.

The Company operates in accordance with the provision of The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and the
Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002. The Company is licensed under the Insurance Business
(Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002, as amended, by a Category A permit and The Insurance Managers and
Insurance Intermediaries (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002 as amended, under Article 6 of the Insurance
Business (Jersey) Law, 1996, under Insurance Act (Chapter 142) in Singapore, Insurance Ordinance (Cap 41) in
Hong Kong, Insurance Law 2010 in Cayman. Insurance Act 2008 in the British Virgin Islands, Insurance Act
Chapter 347 in The Bahamas and the Insurance Act in Switzerland. The Company surrendered its licence in the
Bahamas on 9 June 2023. The licence in the Cayman Islands was surrendered on 6 February 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors are responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and
fair view, in accordance with applicable Guernsey laws and International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, interpretations issued by the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRS accounting standards”) to the extent they have been adapted by
the United Kingdom (“UK”), of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for
that period. In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

— select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

— make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

— state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

— prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the flnancial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002,
as amended, by a Category A permit and The Insurance Managers and Insurance Intermediaries (Bailiwick of
Guernsey) Law, 2002 as amended. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is
unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware
of that information.

RESULTS
The state of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2023 is set out on page 6. The results for the year are set
out in detail on page 7 and the cash flows are set out on page 10. The comparative periods have been
restated due to IFRS 17.

DIVIDENDS
In 2023, iwo dividends were paid to Utmost International Group Holdings Limited. On 20 March 2023 the Board
resolved to approve a dividend of £25m which was paid on 2 May 2023, and on 14 September 2023 the Board
resolved to approve a dividend of £20m which was paid on 19 September 2023.

SIGNIfICANT EVENTS

Significant events during the period

During the year the Company completed its adoption of IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. Please refer to note 2.1.1
on the transition balance sheet and the implementation of this new accounting policy.

Significant events after the period
Refer to note 30 for details on all subsequent events.
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE lIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

The Directors of the Company are:

Andrew Henton (non-executive, appointed 1 June 2023)
Vic Holmes (non-executive)
Ian Maidens (non-executive)
Leon Steyn (executive)
Mark Thompson (non-executive)
Paul Thompson (non-executive)
Charles Bangor-Jones (executive)

Paul Thompson and Ian Maidens, two non-executive Group Directors, each hold a beneficial interest in the
share capital of the Company. No other Directors held any beneficial interest in the Company during the year.

The Secretary of the Company is:

Garth Norman

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers CI LLP has expressed its willingness to continue in office. Their reappointment will be
considered at a subsequent meeting of the board of directors of the company.

By order of the Board

Ic-I
Director Director

Date: 15 March 2024
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Utmost
Worldwide Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Utmost Worldwide Limited
(the company”) as at 31 December 2023, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the requirements of The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, The Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey)
Law, 2002 and The Insurance Managers and Insurance Intermediaries (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002.

What we have audited

The company’s financial statements comprise:

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA5”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (“IESBA Code”). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included
in the Annual Report and Financial Statements but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards, the requirements of Guernsey law and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Utmost
Worldwide Limited (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Use of this report

This independent auditor’s report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the members as a body
in accordance with Section 262 of The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Under The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit;
• proper accounting records have not been kept; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records.
We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Chartered Accountants
Guernsey, Channel Islands
19 March 2024
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AU amounts are inf000AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

unless omenMse stated

Note 31.12.2023 31 .12.2022 01 .01.2022Assets

Deterred acquisition costs 10 134,647 165,178 184,779Property. plant and equipment 11 1.644 3,252 3,421Reinsurance contract assets 19/20 20.798 37.909 17,702

Financial ossets at fair value held to cover linked liabilities
Financial investments 12 2.879.474 2,875,374 3,293,495Policyholder cash and cash equivalents 12 150,833 175.940 187.197

Total FInancIal Assets at fair value to cover linked Itablllfies 3,030,307 3,051,314 3,480,692

Investments in subsidiaries and associates 14 459 459 459Otherinvestments 13 659.442 666.164 755.215Other receivables 15 77.416 20,541 18,547Cash and cash equivalents 16 50,025 54,105 43,632

Total onsets
3,914,158 3,992,922 4,503,847

UobillItes

Investment contract liabilities 18 2,808,774 2,854,654 3,266.879
Insurance contract liabilities 19 737.904 722.323 740.316Deterred tax liabilities 9 2,166 - -

Deterred income liability 22 172,422 210.282 237.942Otherpayables 21 44.913 57,832 76,749
Total lIabIlltie 3,766,179 3,839,091 4,321,886

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 23 100.231 700,231 100.231Retained earnings 24 40.437 49.291 78.453
Otherreserves 24 7,317 4,309 3.277
Total equity 147.979 153,831 181,961

Total shareholders’ equity and Ilabitiites 3.914.158 3,992.922 4,503,847

The tinancial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by

Director Director

Please see note 2.7.1 for commentary on the restatement duo to the implementation of IFRS 17 and change in accounting policies.

The notes on pages 11 to 102 are an inlegrol port of these financial statements.
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12 
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459 459 
666.164 755.215 
20.541 18.547 
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Total eqully 
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23 
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172.422 
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3,766,17 
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40.431 

7.317 
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51,832 

3,839,091 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME All amounts are in £000
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated

Note 2023 2022

Insurance revenue 19 47.641 44026
Insurance service expenses 19 (13,407) (41,070)
Net income / (expense) from reinsurance contracts held 20 (29.461) (5,753)
Insurance service result 19 4,773 (2,797)

Fees and charges receivable on investment business 6 76,141 68,236

Investment return 339,422 (497,806)
Finance income / (expenses) from insurance contracts issued (32.927) 13,187
Finance income / (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held 1,309 (626)
Change in investment contract liabilities 18 (299,937) 491,883
Nef financial result 5 7,867 6,638

Other income 5,045 199
Other operating expenses 7 (53,663) (40.087)
Profit for the year before interest and tax 40,163 32,189
Finance costs 8 (673) (317)
Profit for the year before tax 39,490 31,872
Tax charge 9 (3,350) (1,288)
Profit for the year otter tax 36,140 30,584
Profit from discontinued operations 25

- 254
Profit for the year 36,140 30,838

Other comprehensive income / (expense)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss

Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through OCI 13 3,989 (5,584)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Re-measurement on retirement benefit asset/obligation 17 (981) 6,616

Total comprehensive income for the year 39,148 31,870

* Please see note 2.1.1 for commentary on the restatement due to the implementation of IFRS 17 and change in
accounting policies.

The notes on pages 11 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

Insurance revenue 
Insurance service expenses 
Net income/ (expense) from reinsurance contracts held 
Insurance service result 

Fees and charges recelvable on Investment business 

Investment return 
Finance income/ (expenses) from insurance contracts issued 
Finance income/ (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held 
Change in investment contract liabilities 
Net flnanclal resutt 

Other income 
Other operating expenses 
Profit for the year before Interest and tax 
Finance costs 
Profit for the year before tax 
Tax charge 
Profit for the year after tax 
Profit from discontinued operations 
Profit for the year 

Note 

19 
19 
20 
19 

18 
5 

7 

8 

9 

25 

All amounts are in £'000 

unless otherwise stated 

2023 2022° 

47,641 44,026 
(13,407) (41.070) 
(29.461) (5.753] 

4,773 (2,797) 

76,141 68,236 

339.422 (497,806) 
(32,927) 13,187 

1,309 (626) 
(299,937) 491,883 

7,867 6,638 

5,045 199 
(53,663) [40.087) 
40,163 32,189 

(673) [317 
39,490 31,872 

(3,350) [1288] 
36,140 30,584 

254 
36,140 30,838 

Other comprehensive Income/ (expense) 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss 

Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through OCI 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss 
Re-measurement on retirement benefit asset/obligation 

Total comprehensive Income for the year 

13 

17 

3,989 

(981) 

39,148 

(5,584) 

6.616 

31,870 

• Please see note 2.1.1 for commentary on the restatement due to the implementation of IFRS 17 and change in 
accounting policies. 

The notes on pages 11 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS All amounts in £000
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated

Note 2023 2022*

Profit before taxation 39,490 31,872

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 1,624 1,460
Net interest on defined benefit obligation 17 (456) (53)
Changes in investment contract liabilities 18 (45,880) (412,225)
Changes in insurance and reinsurance contract assets/liabilities 19 27,292 (32,200)
Net movement in financial assets 12 & 13 (274,8523 615,814
Change in other working capital balances (12,104) (28,954)
Net foreign exchange movement 12, 13 & 21 102,341 (227,744)
Tax paid 9 (1,493) (328)
Deferred tax liability 9 2,166 -

Net cash used in operating activities (161,872) (52,358)

Cash flows from investing activities

Net acquisition property, plant and equipment 11 (16) (1,291)
Net cash generated from investments 12 & 13 199,330 121,276
Interest and dividends received 12 & 13 4,502 3,819
Net cash flows from investing activities

203,816 123,804

Cash flows from financing activities

Leasehold right of use asset payments 21 (1,024) (974)
Payment of dividend (45,000) (60,000)
Net cash flows used in financing activities

(46,024) (60,974)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
(4,080) 10,472

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period
54,105 43,632

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period
50,025 54,105

* Please see note 2.1.1 for commentary on the restatement due to the implementation of IFRS 17 and
change in accounting policies.

The notes on pages 11 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS All amounts in £'000 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated 

Note 2023 2022° 

Profit before taxation 39,490 31,872 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 1,624 1,460 

Net interest on defined benefit obligation 17 (456) (53) 

Changes in investment contract liabilities 18 (45,880) (412,225) 

Changes in insurance and reinsurance contract assets/liabilities 19 27,292 (32,200) 

Net movement in financial assets 12 & 13 (274,852) 615,814 

Change in other working capital balances (12,104) (28,954) 

Net foreign exchange movement 12, 13 & 21 102,341 (227,744) 

Tax paid 9 (1,493) (328) 

Deferred tax liability 9 2,166 

Net cash used in operating activities (161,872) (52,358) 

Cash flows from Investing activities 

Net acquisition property, plant and equipment 11 (16) (1,291) 

Net cash generated from investments 12 & 13 199,330 121,276 

Interest and dividends received 12&13 4,502 3,819 

Net cash flows from Investing activities 203,816 123,804 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Leasehold right of use asset payments 21 (1,024) (974) 

Payment of dividend (45,000) (60,000) 

Net cash flows used In financing activities (46,024] (60,974] 

Net movement In cash and cash equivalents (4,0go) 10,472 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period 54,105 43,632 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 50,025 54,105 

Please see note 2.1.1 for commentary on the restatement due to the implementation of IFRS 17 and 
change in accounting policies. 

The notes on pages 11 to 102 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ji amounts in £000
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated

1. General Information

The principal activity of Utmost Worldwide Limited (the Company’) is the sale of insurance products and the sale.
administration and management of investment products. The Company’s registered office and principal place of
business is Utmost House, Hirzel Street, St Peter Port, Guernsey and the Company has a physical presence in Hong Kong,
the Republic of Ireland, Singapore, Switzerland, and through a subsidiary in the United Arab Emirates (UAE). The
operations in the Cayman Islands and the Bahamas have been discontinued as of 31 December 2022 and hove been
recorded as discontinuing operations in 2022. The Company has not prepared consolidated financial statements (see
note 2.2).

More details about the Company’s principal activities, operations and the laws that govern such activities are set out in
the Directors’ report on page 1.

The ultimate parent company which maintains a majority controlling interest in the Company is recognised by the
directors as 0CM Utmost Holdings Limited, a Cayman incorporated entity. 0CM Utmost Holdings Limited is an
investment vehicle owned by funds which ore managed and advised by Oaktree Capital Management, L.P., a
subsidiary of the ultimate controlling party Oakfree Capital Company Holdings GP, LLC.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements ate set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board, interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee to the extent they have been adopted by the UK (IFRS Accounting Standards”) and with
applicable requirements of The Componies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, The Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law,
2002 and The Insurance Managers and Insurance Intermediaries (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law. 2002. The financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of certain assets and liabilities to the extent required or permitted under IFRS Accounting Standards as set out

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS accounting standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates ore significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3. AU amounts in the notes are shown in
thousands of Sterling Pounds. rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

All amounts in £'000 
unless otherwise stated 

1. General Information 

The principal activity of Utmost Worldwide Limited ('the Company") is the sale of insurance products and the sale, 
administration and management of investment products. The Company's registered office and principal place of 
business is Utmost House, Hirzel Street. St Peter Port, Guernsey and the Company has a physical presence in Hong Kong, 
the Republic of Ireland, Singapore, Switzerland, and through a subsidiary in the United Arab Emirates (UAE]. The 
operations in the Cayman Islands and the Bahamas have been discontinued as of 31 December 2022 and have been 
recorded as discontinuing operations in 2022. The Company has not prepared consolidated financial statements (see 
note 2.2). 

More details about the Company's principal activities, operations and the laws that govern such activities are set out in 
the Directors' report on page 1. 

The ultimate parent company which maintains a majority controlling interest in the Company is recognised by the 
directors as OCM Utmost Holdings Limited, a Cayman incorporated entity. OCM Utmost Holdings Limited is an 
investment vehicle owned by funds which are managed and advised by Oaktree Capital Management, L.P., a 
subsidiary of the ultimate controlling party Oaktree Capital Company Holdings GP, LLC. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

2.1 Basis of presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board, interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee to the extent they have been adopted by the UK ("IFRS Accounting Standards") and with 
applicable requirements of The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, The Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 
2002 and The Insurance Managers and Insurance Intermediaries (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002. The financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of certain assets and liabilities to the extent required or permitted under IFRS Accounting Standards as set out 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS accounting standards requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company's 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3. All amounts in the notes are shown in 
thousands of Sterling Pounds, rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS All amounts in £000

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated

2.1.1 Change in accounting policies

The IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts in May 2017 (modified in 2020 and 202]) as a replacement to
the previous insurance contracts standard IFRS 4 and applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023. The standard has been applied retrospectively, subject to the transitional options provided for in the
standard. The Company’s accounting policies in respect of contracts within the scope of IERS 17 are set out
in note 2.14.

On adoption of IFRS 17 the Company has restated the comparative information, under the transitional
provisions as set out in note 2.14, as presented in these financial statements.

The Directors have considered the requirements of IFRS 17 and the needs of the users of the Financial
Statements in preparing the insurance disclosures. The insurance disclosures are aggregated at a level that
reflects the manner in which the Company and Utmost Group is managed, split between the Iwo distinct
business units, Wealth Solutions and Corporate Solutions. Contracts issued within the business unit are set out
under note 2,14 and the nature and extent of the risks are disclosed under note 4.1

The current disclosure approach has been selected under the Directors view that to segregate information
to a level more granular than the current aggregation would disclose a large amount of information that
the users of the financial statements would consider insignificant detail. The level of disclosure adopted is
considered sufficient for a) regulators and shareholders to assess the effect that contracts within the scope
of IFRS 17 have on the Company’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows, and b) for
policyholders with an interest in understanding the financial statements to assess the solvency, liquidity, and
going concern position of the company.

In addition to restatement of the line items affected by the adoption of IFRS17, changes to presentation
have been implemented to provide readers of the Financial Statements with a view consistent and
comparable to the Group accounts (see note 2.2) which are prepared on a consolidated basis, and sister
entities which also contribute to the consolidated view.

The originally presented and restated information for the comparative periods are presented in the tables
below. The elimination of balances under IFRS 4 and replacement with IFRS 17 balances leads to a
corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity which is primarily caused by the release of prudence
margins under IFRS 4.
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

All amounts in £'000 

unless otherwise stated 

2.1.1 Change In accounting policies 

The IASB issued IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" in May 2017 (modified in 2020 and 2021) as a replacement to 
the previous insurance contracts standard IFRS 4 and applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023. The standard has been applied retrospectively, subject to the transitional options provided for in the 
standard. The Company's accounting policies in respect of contracts within the scope of IFRS 17 are set out 
in note 2.14. 

On adoption of IFRS 17 the Company has restated the comparative information, under the transitional 
provisions as set out in note 2.14, as presented in these financial statements. 

The Directors have considered the requirements of IFRS 17 and the needs of the users of the Financial 
Statements in preparing the insurance disclosures. The insurance disclosures are aggregated at a level that 
reflects the manner in which the Company and Utmost Group is managed, split between the two distinct 
business units. Wealth Solutions and Corporate Solutions. Contracts issued within the business unit are set out 
under note 2.14 and the nature and extent of the risks are disclosed under note 4.1 

The current disclosure approach has been selected under the Directors view that to segregate information 
to a level more granular than the current aggregation would disclose a large amount of information that 
the users of the financial statements would consider insignificant detail. The level of disclosure adopted is 
considered sufficient for a) regulators and shareholders to assess the effect that contracts within the scope 
of IFRS 17 have on the Company's financial position, financial performance and cash flows, and b) for 
policyholders with an interest in understanding the financial statements to assess the solvency, liquidity, and 
going concern position of the company. 

In addition to restatement of the line items affected by the adoption of IFRS17, changes to presentation 
have been implemented to provide readers of the Financial Statements with a view consistent and 
comparable to the Group accounts (see note 2.2) which are prepared on a consolidated basis, and sister 
entities which also contribute to the consolidated view. 

The originally presented and restated information for the comparative periods are presented in the tables 
below. The elimination of balances under IFRS 4 and replacement with IFRS 17 balances leads to a 
corresponding increase in shareholders' equity which is primarily caused by the release of prudence 
margins under IFRS 4. 

12 



UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS P.Jlamountsin’000

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated

Statement of comprehensive income 2022

for the year ended 31 for the year ended
Reclassification!

December 2022 as 31 December 2022
restatement

previously reported restated

Net insurance premium revenue 47,715 (47,715) -

Insurance revenue - 44,026 44,026
Fees and charges receivable 70,870 (2,634) 68,236
Other Income 3,176 (2,977) 199
Investment return (30,686) (467,120) (497,806)
Gross benefits and claims paid (82,934) 82,934 -

Claims ceded to reinsurers 18,475 (18,475) -

Insurance service expenses - (41,070) (41.070)
Gross change in contract 61,742 (61,742) -

Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers (4,747) 4747 -

Expenses for the acquisition of insurance (22,958) 22,958 -

Administration expenses (23,485) 23,485
Exchange losses-net (1,771) 1,771
Net income I (expense) from reinsurance contracts - (5,753) (5,753)
Finance income / (expenses) from insurance - 13,187 13,187
Finance income / (expenses) from reinsurance - (626) (626)
Movement in investment contract liabilities - 491.883 491,883
Other operating expenses - (40,087) (40,087)
Interestexpense (317) 317 -

Finance costs - (317) (317)
35,080 (3,208) 31,872

Restated measurement changes amounts as recognised In the
statements of financial position

On transition as at 1 January 2022 13,382
Less: balance as at year-end on 31 December2022 (10,173)
Other movements (1)
Net movement recognised in the year 3,208
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

Statement of comprehensive Income 2022 

All amounts in £'000 
unless otherwise stated 

For the year ended 31 Reclassification/ For the year ended 
December 2022 as 31 December 2022 
previously reported restatement restated 

Net insurance premium revenue 47,715 (47,715) 
Insurance revenue 44,026 44,026 
Fees and charges receivable 70,870 (2,634) 68,236 
Other Income 3,176 (2.977) 199 
Investment return (30.686) (467,120) (497,806) 
Gross benefits and claims paid (82,934) 82,934 
Claims ceded to reinsurers 18,475 (18,475) 
Insurance service expenses (41,070) (41.070) 
Gross change in contract 61,742 (61,742) 
Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers (4,747) 4,747 
Expenses for the acquisition of insurance (22,958) 22,958 
Administration expenses (23,485) 23,485 
Exchange losses - net (771) 1,771 
Net income/ (expense) from reinsurance contracts (5,753) (5.753) 
Finance income/ (expenses) from insurance 13,187 13,187 
Finance income/ (expenses) from reinsurance (626) (626) 
Movement in investment contract liabilities 491,883 491,883 
Other operating expenses (40,087) (40,087) 
Interest expense (317) 317 
Finance costs 317] [317] 

35,080 (3,208 31,872 

Restated measurement changes amounts as recognised In the 
statements of financial poslHon 
On transition as at 1 January 2022 
Less: balance as at year-end on 31 December 2022 
Other movements 
Net movement recognised In the year 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS All amounts in £000

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherse stated

2.1.1 New and amended standards and interpretations

The Company applied standards and amendments which have been listed below. The Company has not earty adopted any
other standard, interpretation or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

It should be noted that although the following new standards and amendments were applied for the first time in 2023, only IFRS 17
materially affects the annual financial statements of the Company.

Standard! Interpretation Content
Applicable for financial years

beginning on! after

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance
Contracts’ and

Classification and recognition of

amendments
insurance contracts

1 January 2023

Amendment to 12,
Deferred tax related to assets and

Income Taxes’
liabilities arising from a single 1 January 2023
transaction

Amendments to IFRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’
IFRS 17 is effective from 1 January 2023. It provides the first comprehensive guidance on accounting for insurance contracts under
IFRS accounting standards, replacing IFRS 4. This has materially affected both the measurement and presentation of insurance
contract liabilities, reinsurance contract assets and investment contract liabilities of the Company. This has been further expanded
on above.

Amendment to lAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’
On 17 May 2021 the IASB issued ‘Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction’ clarifying how
companies account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. This is not applicable to the
Company during the current financial year.

A number of narrow-scope amendments to lAS 1, lAS 8 and disclosure of accounting policies
- Amendments to lAS 8 ‘Accounting Estimates’, contains an expanded definition of accounting estimates to help entities distinguish
between accounting policies and accounting estimates.

- Amendments to AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 included an issue of ‘Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ with amendments to
help preparers in deciding which accounting policies to disclose in their financial statements.

- Amendment to lAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ providing a more general approach to the classification of liabilities
under lAS I based on the contractual arrangements in place at the reporting date.

2.1.2 Standards and interpretations effective subsequent to 2023 but not early adopted

The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRS standards that hove been issued but are not yet effective, and
which are not expected to have a material impact on the Company:

Standard! Interpretation Content
Applicable for financial years

beginning on! after

Amendments to IFRS 7 and Disclosure requirements added to
lAS 7 ‘Supplier Finance Arrangements’.

1 January 2024

Clarification of seller-lessee’s

Amendment to IFRS 16,
subsequent measurement of sale and

“Leases”
lease-back transactions that satisfy 1 January 2024
the requirements of IFRS 15 to be
accounted for as a sale.

Amendment to lAS 1,
‘Presentation of financial

Classification of liabilities as current or

statements’.
non-current

1 January 2024

16

UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

All amounts in £'000 
unless otherwise stated 

2.1.1 New and amended standards and interpretations 

The Company applied standards and amendments which have been listed below. The Company has not early adopted any 
other standard, interpretation or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective. 

It should be noted that although the following new standards and amendments were applied for the first time in 2023, only IFRS 17 
materially affects the annual financial statements of the Company. 

Standard/ Interpretation Content Applicable for financial years 
beginning on/ after 

IFRS 17, 'Insurance Classification and recognition of Contracts' and 1 January 2023 
amendments Insurance contracts 

Amendment to IAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and 

'Income Taxes' liabilities arising from a single 1 January 2023 
transaction 

Amendments to IFRS 17, 'Insurance Contracts' 
IFRS 17 is effective from 1 January 2023. It provides the first comprehensive guidance on accounting for Insurance contracts under 
IFRS accounting standards, replacing IFRS 4. This has materially affected both the measurement and presentation of insurance 
contract liabilities, reinsurance contract assets and investment contract liabilities of the Company. This has been further expanded 
on above. 

Amendment to /AS 12, 'Income Taxes' 
On 17 May 2021 the IASB issued 'Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction' clarifying how 
companies account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. This is not applicable to the 
Campany during the current financial year. 

A number of narrow-scope amendments to 1AS 1, IAS 8 and disclosure of accounting policies 
- Amendments to IAS 8 'Accounting Estimates', contains an expanded definition of accounting estimates to help entities distinguish 
between accounting policies and accounting estimates. 
- Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 included an issue of 'Disclosure of Accounting Policies' with amendments to 
help preparers in deciding which accounting policies to disclose in their financial statements. 
- Amendment to IAS 1, 'Presentation of Financial Statements' providing a more general approach to the classification of liabilities 
under IAS 1 based on the contractual arrangements in place at the reporting date. 

2.1.2 Standards and interpretations effective subsequent to 2023 but not early adopted 

The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRS standards that have been issued but are not yet effective, and 
which are not expected to have a material impact on the Company: 

Standard/ Interpretation Content Applicable for financial years 
beginning on/ after 

Amendments to IFRS 7 and Disclosure requirements added to 1 January 2024 IAS 7 'Supplier Finance Arrangements'. 

Clarification of seller-lessee's 

Amendment to IFRS 16, subsequent measurement of sale and 

"Leases" lease-back transactions that satisfy 1 January 2024 
the requirements of IFRS 15 to be 
accounted for as a sale. 

Amendment to IAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or 'Presentation of financial non-current 1 January 2024 
statements'. 
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2.1.2 Standards and interpretations effective subsequent to 2023 but not early adopted (continued)

A number of narrow-scope amendments to lAS 7, If R$ 7, If RS 16. lAS 1 and lAS 21.

- Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases, related to sale and leaseback transactions which is not applicable for the Company as the
Company does not enter into sale and leoseback transactions.

- Amendments to lAS 1 regarding the classification of leases as current and non-current.

- Amendments to lAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ and IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments’ relating to supplier finance arrangements. This is
not applicable to the Company as the Company does not engage in supplier financing arrangements.

2.2 Consolidation

These financial statements are prepared as the Company’s separate financial statements, As permitted under IFRS 10, the
Company has not presented consolidated financial statements because it is, itself, a wholly owned subsidiary of Utmost
International Company Holdings Limited (“UIGH”), a subsidiary of Utmost Group Limited (the Group), which presents consolidated
financial statements available for public use.

Moreover, the Company’s equity securities are not traded in organised financial markets and the Company is not in the process of
filing its financial statements with securities commissions or other regulatory organizations for the purpose of issuing any class of
instruments in an organised financial market.

The financial statements of Utmost Group Limited have been prepared in accordance with IFRS accounting standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board, in conformity with the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 and can be
found at https://utmostCompany .co.uk/financials/annual-occounts/.

2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company has control.
Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary.

Specifically, the Company controls a subsidiary if, and only if, the Company has:

- power over the subsidiary (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary):

- exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary; and

- The ability to use its power over the subsidiary to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and in cases when
the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of a subsidiary, the Company considers all relevant factors and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over a subsidiary. including:

- the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the subsidiary:

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

- the voting rights and potential voting rights.

The power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanies a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting
rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Company controls another entity. The Company’s accounting treatment of investments in subsidiaries is to
hold at cost less impairment. Gains and losses on disposal of subsidiaries are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income
in the year of disposal.

2.3 Foreign currency

2.3.1 FunctIonal and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are initially measured in the currency of the transaction and subsequently converted to
Pounds Sterling, as the Pound Sterling is considered the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in thousands of Pound Sterling (the “presentation
currency”).
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2.1.2 Standards and interpretations effective subsequent to 2023 but not early adopted (continued) 

A number of narrow-scope amendments to IAS 7, IFRS 7, IFRS 16, IAS 1 and IAS 21. 
- Amendment to IFRS 16 'Leases', related to sole and leaseback transactions which is not applicable for the Company as the 
Company does not enter into sale and leaseback transactions. 

- Amendments to IAS 1 regarding the classification of leases as current and non-current. 

- Amendments to IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' and IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments' relating to supplier finance arrangements. This is 
not applicable to the Company as the Company does not engage in supplier financing arrangements. 

2.2 Consolidation 

These financial statements are prepared as the Company's separate financial statements. As permitted under IFRS 10, the 
Company has not presented consolidated financial statements because it is, itself, a wholly owned subsidiary of Utmost 
International Company Holdings Limited ("UIGH"), a subsidiary of Utmost Group Limited (the Group), which presents consolidated 
financial statements available for public use. 

Moreover, the Company's equity securities are not traded in organised financial markets and the Company is not in the process of 
filing its financial statements with securities commissions or other regulatory organizations for the purpose of issuing any class of 
instruments in an organised financial market. 

The financial statements of Utmost Group Limited have been prepared in accordance with IFRS accounting standards issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, in conformity with the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 and can be 
found at https://utmostCompany .co.uk/financials/annual-accounts/. 

2.2. 1 Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company hos control. 
Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable retums from its involvement with the subsidiary and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. 

Specifically, the Company controls a subsidiary if, and only if, the Company has: 

- power over the subsidiary (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary); 

- exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary; and 

- The ability to use its power over the subsidiary to affect its returns. 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and in cases when 
the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of a subsidiary, the Company considers all relevant factors and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over a subsidiary, including: 

- the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the subsidiary; 

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

- the voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The power to govem the financial and operating policies generally accompanies a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting 
rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the Company controls another entity. The Company's accounting treatment of investments in subsidiaries is to 
hold at cost less impairment. Gains and losses on disposal of subsidiaries are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income 
in the year of disposal. 

2.3 Foreign currency 
2.3.1 Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements are initially measured in the currency of the transaction and subsequently converted to 
Pounds Sterling, as the Pound Sterling is considered the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (the "functional currency"). The financial statements are presented in thousands of Pound Sterling (the "presentation 
currency). 

17 



UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS All amounts in £000

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 37 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated

2.3.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting fram the settlement of transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit and loss, are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in fareign currencies are translated into the
functional currency based on the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.

2.4 Properly, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated monthly, as follows:

Furniture and fittings - 3 years;
Computer equipment - 3 years:
Leasehold improvements - remaining period of the lease.

2.5 Right-of-Use (ROU) asset! rental lease liabllilies.

The only leases that the Company has under IFRS 16 are for rented buildings associated with its physical presence in the
jurisdictions in which it operates. The Company recognises an additional ROU asset related to the dilapidation of the buildings that
it occupies and the requirement to restore it at the end of the lease period, that is depreciated over the remaining period of the
lease, as well as recognising a dilapidation provision related to this future expected outflow of economic benefits associated with
the cost to restore the building to its farmer state.

2.5.1 Measurement
As a lessee the Company recognises a ROU asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The ROU asset is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and any costs to reinstate the underlying asset (if deemed material),
less any lease incentives received.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate as determined by the Company using an incremental borrowing rate for that currency.

2.5.2 Subsequent measurement

The ROU asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method over the length of the lease.
The lease liability will be subsequently measured by increasing the carrying value to reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced to reflect the lease payments made. Re-measurement occurs to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

2.5.3 Short term leases

The Company does not recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less. The lease payments
associated with these leases are expensed in a straight line and in accordance with the terms of the lease.
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2.3.2 Transactions and balances 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit and loss, are reported as 
part of the fair value gain or loss. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency based on the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. 

2.4 Property, plant and equipment 

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
Depreciation is calculated monthly, as follows: 

Furniture and fittings­ 
Computer equipment ­ 
Leasehold improvements ­ 

3 years; 
3 years; 
remaining period of the lease. 

2.5 Right-of-Use (ROU) asset/ rental lease liabilities. 

The only leases that the Company has under IFRS 16 are for rented buildings associated with Its physical presence in the 
jurisdictions in which it operates. The Company recognises an additional ROU asset related to the dilapidation of the buildings that 
it occupies and the requirement to restore it at the end of the lease period, that is depreciated over the remaining period of the 
lease. as well as recognising a dilapidation provision related to this future expected outflow of economic benefits associated with 
the cost to restore the building to its former state. 

2.5.1 Measurement 
As a lessee the Company recognises a ROU asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The ROU asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and any costs to reinstate the underlying asset (if deemed material), 
less any lease incentives received. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the Interest rate as determined by the Company using an incremental borrowing rate for that currency. 

2.5.2 Subsequent measurement 

The ROU asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method over the length of the lease. 
The lease liability will be subsequently measured by increasing the carrying value to reflect the interest on the lease liability and 
reduced to reflect the lease payments made. Re-measurement occurs to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications. 

2.5.3 Short term leases 

The Company does not recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less. The lease payments 
associated with these leases are expensed in a straight line and in accordance with the terms of the lease. 
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2.6 Computer software

All costs associated with unique software products and with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are
recognised as an expense as incurred.

2.7 Financial assets

The Company classifies its investments into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FA at
FVTPL), financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (PA at FVOCI), and financial assets measured at
amartised cost tEA at ACI.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flaw characteristics and
the Company’s business model for managing them. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets or both. The different classification criteria are discussed in more detail below.

2.7.1 Classification

2.7.1.1 Business model assessment
The Business Model is determined at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve the
business objectives of the entity and does not depend on management’s intentions for an individual instrument. This review is not
at an instrument-by-instrument classification but at a higher level of aggregation.

The Company has evaluated its business models by portfolios or lines of business.

2.7.1.2. SPPlfesf
As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual terms to identify whether they meet the solely
payments of principal and interests (“SPPI”) test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change over
the life of the financial asset )for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a debt arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of money
and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies judgement and considers relevant factors.

FA at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition affair value through profit
or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term, if it
forms part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-term profit taking, or if so designated by
management. Derivatives (including embedded derivatives) are also classified os held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges and can be demonstrated to be effective as hedging instruments.

2.7.2 Financial assets affair value through profit or loss

Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.6 Computer software 
All costs associated with unique software products and with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. 

2.7 Financial assets 
The Company classifies its investments into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FA at 
FVTPL). financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FA at FVOCI). and financial assets measured at 
amortised cost (FA at AC). 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and 
the Company's business model for managing them. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets or both. The different classification criteria are discussed in more detail below. 

2.7.1 Classification 

2.7.1.1 Business model assessment 
The Business Model is determined at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve the 
business objectives of the entity and does not depend on management's intentions for an individual instrument. This review is not 
at an instrument-by-instrument classification but at a higher level of aggregation. 

The Company has evaluated its business models by portfolios or lines of business. 

2.7.1.2. SPPI test 
As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual terms to identify whether they meet the solely 
payments of principal and interests ("SPPI") test. 

'Principal' for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change over 
the life of the financial asset (for example. if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount). 

The most significant elements of interest within a debt arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of money 
and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies judgement and considers relevant factors. 

FA at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading. financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit 
or loss. or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured al fair value. 

A financial asset is classified as held for trading at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term, if it 
forms part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-term profit taking. or if so designated by 
management. Derivatives (including embedded derivatives) are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
hedges and can be demonstrated to be effective as hedging instruments. 

2.7.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. 
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2.7.2 FInancial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit and loss at inception are those that are held to match insurance and
investment contracts liabilities that are linked to the changes in fair value of these assets. The designation of these assets to be at
fair value through profit and loss eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes
referred to as an accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains
and losses on them on different bases.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit and loss’ category are
presented in the statement of comprehensive income within net income / (expense) from investments in the period in which they
arise.

2.7.3 ClassIfication of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

The Company accounts for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet the following conditions:

— The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets; and,

— The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test.

These instruments largely comprise debt instruments and had previously been classified as available for sale. Debt instruments in
this category are those that are intended to be held to collect contractual cash flows and which may be sold in response to
needs far liquidity or in a response to changes in market conditions. They are not debt instruments which are backing policyholder
liabilities at FVTPL which would create an accounting mismatch.

2.7.4 Financial assets measured at omortised cost

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The Company includes in this category loans and receivables and
receivables arising from insurance contracts and cash and cash equivalents and accrued income. Financial assets at amortised
cost are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market other than
those that the Company intends to sell in the short term.

2.7.5 Recognition and measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs. These are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”).

The financial assets of the Company measured at amortised cost do not contain a significant financing component, hence, the
Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL’s. The Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL’s at each reporting dote. The Company has established processes based on
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. More
detail on credit risk is provided in note 4.4.

Regular way purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date, the date on which the Company commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of all financial assets not carried at
fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Financial assets carried at fair
value through profit and loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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2.7.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit and loss at inception are those that are held to match insurance and 
investment contracts liabilities that are linked to the changes in fair value of these assets. The designation of these assets to be at 
fair value through profit and loss eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes 
referred to as 'an accounting mismatch') that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains 
and losses on them on different bases. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 'financial assets al fair value through profit and loss' category are 
presented in the statement of comprehensive income within net income / (expense) from investments in the period in which they 
arise. 

2.7.3 Classification of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

The Company accounts for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet the following conditions: 
The instrument is held within a business model. the objective of which is both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets; and, 
The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test. 

These instruments largely comprise debt instruments and had previously been classified as available for sale. Debi instruments In 
this category are those that are intended to be held to collect contractual cash flows and which may be sold in response to 
needs for liquidity or in a response to changes in market conditions. They are not debt instruments which are backing policyholder 
liabilities at FVTPL which would create an accounting mismatch. 

2.7.4 Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
A debt instrument is measured al amortised cost if ii is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specific dales to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The Company includes in this category loans and receivables and 
receivables arising from insurance contracts and cash and cash equivalents and accrued income. Financial assets at amortised 
cost are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market other than 
those that the Company intends to sell in the short term. 

2.7.5 Recognition and measurement 

Financial assets at amortised cost are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs. These are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for Expected Credit Loss ("ECL"). 

The financial assets of the Company measured at amortised cost do not contain a significant financing component. hence. the 
Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL's. The Company does not track changes in credit risk. but instead 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL's at each reporting date. The Company has established processes based on 
historical credit loss experience. adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. More 
detail on credit risk is provided in note 4.4. 

Regular way purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date, the date on which the Company commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised al fair value plus, in the case of all financial assets not carried at 
fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit and loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
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2.7.5 Recognition and measurement (continued)

FA at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value recognised in OCI.
Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in investment return. On de-recognition cumulative gains
or losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in
profit or loss in invesfment return. Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVTPL is recorded using the
contractual interest rate. Interest income earned on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents is presented within other income.
All other interest income is recognised within the investment return. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVTPL is
recorded in profit or loss as investment return, when the right to payment has been established.

2.7.6 Determination of fair value

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities is
based an quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry Company, pricing service or regulatory agency. and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arms length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as
being inactive.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these techniques, fair values are
estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected
future cash flows or other valuation techniques, using inputs existing at the dates of the statement of financial position.

The Company uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised financial instruments of
lower complexity like options or interest rate and currency swaps. Far these financial instruments, inputs into models are generally
market observable.

Financial assets where the fair value is derived using unobservable Level 3 inputs are principally valued using valuations obtained
from external parties which are reviewed internally to ensure appropriateness. The majority of these investments are in suspended
funds or funds in liquidation. the valuations of which ore derived from the best possible amount of proceeds from reolisation of the
underlying assets. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on
assumptions. The impact on net profit of financial instrument valuations reflecting non-market observable inputs is disclosed in
note 4.7.

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation
techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the Company holds. Valuations are therefore
adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risks, liquidity risk and counterparty credit risk. Based
on the established fair value and model governance policies and related controls and procedures applied, management
believes that these valuation adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state the values of financial instruments carried
at fair value in the statement of financial position. Price data and parameters used in the measurement procedures applied are
generally reviewed carefully and adjusted, if necessary — particularly in view of the current market developments.

The fair value of over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives is determined using valuation methods that are commonly accepted in the
financial markets, such as the present value technique and option pricing models. The fair value of foreign exchange forwards is
generally based on current forward exchange rates.
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2.7.5 Recognition and measurement (continued) 

FA at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value recognised in OCI. 
Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in investment return. On de-recognition cumulative gains 
or losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in 
profit or loss in investment return. Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVTPL is recorded using the 
contractual interest rate. Interest income earned on the Company's cash and cash equivalents is presented within other income. 
All other interest income is recognised within the investment return. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVIPL is 
recorded in profit or loss as investment re tum. when the right to payment has been established. 

2.7.6 Determination of fair value 

For financial instruments traded in active markets. the determination of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities is 
based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 
exchange, dealer, broker. industry Company, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and 
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. If the above criteria are not met. the market is regarded as 
being inactive. 

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these techniques, fair values are 
estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected 
future cash flows or other valuation techniques. using inputs existing at the dates of the statement of financial position. 

The Company uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised financial instruments of 
lower complexity like options or interest rate and currency swaps. For these financial instruments, inputs into models ore generally 
market observable. 

Financial assets where the fair value is derived using unobservable Level 3 inputs are principally valued using valuations obtained 
from external parties which are reviewed internally to ensure appropriateness. The majority of these investments are in suspended 
funds or funds in liquidation. the valuations of which are derived from the best possible amount of proceeds from realisation of the 
underlying assets. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on 
assumptions. The impact on net profit of financial instrument valuations reflecting non-market observable inputs ls disclosed in 
note 4.7. 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with certainty. and valuation 
techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the Company holds. Valuations are therefore 
adjusted, where appropriate. to allow for additional factors including model risks, liquidity risk and counterparty credit risk. Based 
on the established fair value and model governance policies and related controls and procedures applied, management 
believes that these valuation adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state the values of financial instruments carried 
at fair value in the statement of financial position. Price data and parameters used in the measurement procedures applied are 
generally reviewed carefully and adjusted, if necessary - particularly in view of the current market developments. 

The fair value of over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives is determined using valuation methods that are commonly accepted in the 
financial markets. such as the present value technique and option pricing models. The fair value of foreign exchange forwards is 
generally based on current forward exchange rates. 
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2.7.6 Determination of fair value (continued)

In cases where the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the instruments are carried at cost less
any impairment.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current market prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active, the
Company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as liffle as possible on entity-specific inputs.

2.7.7 Derecognltlon of financial assets

The financial assets (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of financial assets) are derecognised
when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets and all
substantial risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to another party. If the Company neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognizes its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognize the financial asset and
also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.

2.8 Impairment of assets

2.8.1 Impairment of other financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL5) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECL5 are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the appropriate effective interest rate.

The key elements used in the calculation of ECLs are as follows:
Probability of defaulf — This is an estimate of likelihood of a counterparty defaulting at its financial obligation over a given time
horizon, either over the next 12 months or the remaining lifetime of the obligation.

Loss given default — This is an estimate of loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows of a financial instrument due from a counterparty and those that the Company
would expect to receive, including the realization of any collateral or effect of any credit enhancement.

Exposure at default — This represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments in the event of default, which pertains to
its amortised cost.

ECL5 are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the nexf 12-months (12-month
ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required f or credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default to
lifetime ECL).

The Company’s financial assets at FVOCI comprise solely of quoted bonds that are classed as investment grade and therefore are
considered to be low credit risk investments. Where the credit risk of any bond deteriorates, the Company will sell the bond and
purchase bonds meeting the required investment grade.
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2.7.6 Determination of fair value (continued) 

In cases where the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably. the instruments are canied at cost less 
any impairment. 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current market prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active, the 
Company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm's length transactions. 
reference lo other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making 
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. 

2.7.7 Derecognition of financial assets 

The financial assets (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of financial assets) are derecognised 
when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets and all 
substantial risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to another party. If the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues lo control the transferred asset. the Company recognizes its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset. the Company continues lo recognize the financial asset and 
also recognizes a collaleralized borrowing for the proceeds received. 

2.8 Impairment of assets 

2.8.1 Impairment of other financial assets 

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all 
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted al the appropriate effective interest rate. 

The key elements used in the calculation of ECLs are as follows: 
Probability of default -- This Is an estimate of likelihood of a counterparty defaulting at its financial obligation over a given time 
horizon, either over the next 12 months or the remaining lifetime of the obligation. 

Loss given default -- This is an estimate of loss arising In the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows of a financial instrument due from a counterparty and those that the Company 
would expect to receive, including the realization of any collateral or effect of any credit enhancement. 

Exposure al default -- This represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments in the event of default, which pertains to 
its amortised cost. 

ECLs are recognised In two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (12-month 
ECLJ. For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss 
allowance Is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a 
lifetime ECL). 

The Company's financial assets al FVOCI comprise solely of quoted bonds that are classed as investment grade and therefore are 
considered lo be low credit risk investments. Where the credit risk of any bond deteriorates. the Company will sell the bond and 
purchase bonds meeting the required investment grade. 
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2.8.7 Impairment of other financial assets (continued)

The Company recognizes lifetime ECLs for financial assets that are measured at amortised cost. The ECCs on these assets are
estimated by applying the simplified approach using a provision matrix developed based on the Company’s historical credit loss
experience and credit information that are specific to the debtors, adjusted for general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate. These assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on shared credit risk characteristics.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default tcredit impaired) when contractual payments are 30 days past due.However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.8.2 Impairment of other non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

2.9 Derivative financial instruments

Currently the Company holds no own risk derivatives. Policyholders hold a very small number of derivatives at their own risk.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less which are subject to insignificant risk of change in value, and for the purposes of
presenting the cash flow statement, net of any bank overdrafts (which are presented as borrowings in the statement of financial
position).

2.11 Equity

Shares are classified as eauitv as there is no obliqation to transfer cash or other assets.
Revaluation reserves comprise gains and losses due to the financial assets at FVOCI; currency translation adjustments and remeasurements of the post-employment defined benefit plan are separately presented in the statement of changes in equity for
better understanding of the components of reserves.

The Revenue reserve represents all current and prior period results of operations as reported in the statement of profit or loss,
reduced by the amounts of dividends declared.

Dividends to the Company’s shareholder are recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

2.12 Insurance and Investment contracts - classification

The Company issues investment and insurance contracts. Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance riskare classified as insurance contracts. Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Company from the policyholder isnot significant are classified as investment contracts.
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2.8. 1 Impairment of other financial assets (continued) 

The Company recognizes lifetime ECL.s for financial assets that are measured at amortised cost. The ECL.s on these assets are 
estimated by applying the simplified approach using a provision matrix developed based on the Company's historical credit loss 
experience and credit information that are specific to the debtors, adjusted for general economic conditions and an assessment 
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where 
appropriate. These assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on shared credit risk characteristics. 

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default (credit impaired) when contractual payments are 30 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset ta be in default when internal or external information 
indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts. 

A financial asset is written off when there Is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

2.8.2 Impairment of other non-financial assets 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

2.9 Derivative financial instruments 

Currently the Company holds no own risk derivatives. Policyholders hold a very small number of derivatives at their own risk. 

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less which are subject to insignificant risk of change in value, and for the purposes of 
presenting the cash flow statement, net of any bank overdrafts (which are presented as borrowings in the statement of financial 
position). 

2.11 Equity 

Shares are classified as eauitv as there is no obliaation to transfer cash or other assets. 
Revaluation reserves comprise gains and losses due to the financial assets at FVOCI; currency translation adjustments and re­ 
measurements of the post-employment defined benefit plan are separately presented in the statement of changes in equity for 
better understanding of the components of reserves. 

The Revenue reserve represents all current and prior period results of operations as reported in the statement of profit or loss. 
reduced by the amounts of dividends declared. 

Dividends to the Company's shareholder are recognised as a liability in the Company's financial statements in the period in which 
the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders. 

2.12 Insurance and investment contracts - classification 
The Company issues investment and insurance contracts. Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk 
are classified as insurance contracts. Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Company from the policyholder is 
not significant are classified as investment contracts. 
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2.12 Insurance and investment contracts - classification (continued)

Some insurance contracts contain a discretionary participation feature rDPF”). This feature entitles the policyholder to additional
discretionary benefits as a supplement to guaranteed benefits. Those cantracts that invest in the Depasit Administration
(Guaranteed Return) fund are classed as insurance contracts with a DPF, as the Company exercises a degree of discretion on the
amount and rate at which eligible surplus is released.

Contracts issued by the Company which are unit-linked and do not contain any significant insurance risk are all classified as
investment contracts. The majority of the Company’s business is unit-linked and classified as investment contracts.

2.13 LiabIlities under investment contracts - measurement

The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows measured using the value of the
unit reserves, based on the current market value of the assets that is available to the Company for similar financial instruments.

The investment contracts written by the Company do not contain any DPF. Unit linked financial liabilities are measured at fair
value by reference to the value of the underlying net asset value, of the underlying assets at the statement of financial position
dote, with the respective assets and liabilities classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss’ and Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit and loss” respectively in the Statement of Financial Position. The decision by the Company to
designate its unit linked liabilities at fair value through profit or loss reflects the fact that the liabilities ore calculated with reference
to the value of the underlying assets.

Premiums received and withdrawals from investment contracts ore accounted for directly in the Statement of Financial Position as
adjustments to the investment contract liability. Investment income and changes in fair value arising from the investment contract
assets ore included on o net basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Benefits are deducted from financial liabilities and
transferred to amounts due to investment contract holders on the basis of notifications received or, when the benefit falls due for
payment, on the earlier of the date when paid or when the contract ceases to be included within those liabilities. The Company
earns revenue on investment management, administration and other services provided to holders of investment contracts, as
detailed in note 2.18.1 and is recognised in fees and charges receivable on investment business. Revenue is recognised as the
services are performed.

The investment contracts may also include embedded derivatives, such as surrender value options, loyalty bonus payments, or the
right to cease or reduce premium payments. These derivatives are allowed for in the liability adequacy tesf in note 2.14.3.

2.14 Liabilities under life Insurance contracts

Scope
IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts issued,
reinsurance contracts held and investment contracts with discretionary participation features (DPF”). When identifying contracts
in the scope of IFRS 17 the Company has assessed:

the significance of any insurance risk accepted from the policyholder and for reinsurance contracts the insurance risk
- ceded to a reinsurer

- whether a number of contracts needs to be treated as a single contract

whether investment components and goods and services are distinct and have to be separated and accounted for
- under another standard.

Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Company from the policyholder is not significant are classified as
investment contracts and follow financial instruments accounting under IFRS 9. The life insurance contracts arise from two main
areas of business: Wealth Solutions and Corporate Solutions. These two business areas contain individual unit linked contracts with
material insurance benefits, savings contracts with deposit administration funds or with unit-linked funds that hove the option to
invest in deposit administration funds, Group life and disability insurance, life annuities and non-life insurance.
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2.12 Insurance and investment contracts - classification (continued) 

Some insurance contracts contain a discretionary participation feature ("DPF"). This feature entitles the policyholder to additional 
discretionary benefits as a supplement to guaranteed benefits. Those contracts that invest in the Deposit Administration 
(Guaranteed Return) fund are classed as insurance contracts with a DPF, as the Company exercises a degree of discretion on the 
amount and rate at which eligible surplus is released. 

Contracts issued by the Company which are unit-linked and do not contain any significant insurance risk are all classified as 
investment contracts. The majority of the Company's business is unit-linked and classified as investment contracts. 

2.13 Liabilities under investment contracts - measurement 
The fair value of financial liabilities Is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows measured using the value of the 
unit reserves, based on the current market value of the assets that is available to the Company for similar financial instruments. 

The investment contracts written by the Company do not contain any DPF. Unit linked financial liablllties are measured at fair 
value by reference to the value of the underlying net asset value, of the underlying assets at the statement of financial position 
date, with the respective assets and liabilities classified as "Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss" and "Financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit and loss" respectively in the Statement of Financial Position. The decision by the Company to 
designate its unit linked liabilities at fair value through profit or loss reflects the fact that the liabilities ore calculated with reference 
to the value of the underlying assets. 

Premiums received and withdrawals from investment contracts are accounted for directly in the Statement of Financial Position as 
adjustments to the investment contract liability. Investment income and changes in fair value arising from the investment contract 
assets are included on a net basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Benefits are deducted from financial liabilities and 
transferred to amounts due to investment contract holders on the basis of notifications received or, when the benefit falls due for 
payment, on the earlier of the date when paid or when the contract ceases to be included within those liabilities. The Company 
earns revenue on investment management, administration and other services provided to holders of investment contracts, as 
detailed in note 2.18.1 and is recognised in fees and charges receivable on investment business. Revenue is recognised as the 
services are performed. 

The investment contracts may also include embedded derivatives, such as surrender value options, loyalty bonus payments, or the 
right to cease or reduce premium payments. These derivatives are allowed for in the liability adequacy test in note 2.14.3. 

2. 14 Liablllties under llfe insurance contracts 

Scope 
IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts issued, 
reinsurance contracts held and investment contracts with discretionary participation features ("DPF"). When identifying contracts 
in the scope of IFRS 17 the Company has assessed: 

the significance of any insurance risk accepted from the policyholder and for reinsurance contracts the insurance risk 
ceded to a reinsurer 
whether a number of contracts needs to be treated as a single contract 

whether investment components and goods and services are distinct and have to be separated and accounted for 
under another standard. 

Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Company from the policyholder Is not significant ore classified as 
investment contracts and follow financial instruments accounting under IFRS 9. The life insurance contracts arise from two main 
areas of business: Wealth Solutions and Corporate Solutions. These two business areas contain individual unit linked contracts with 
material insurance benefits, savings contracts with deposit administration funds or with unit-linked funds that have the option to 
invest in deposit administration funds, Group life and disability insurance, life annuities and non-life insurance. 
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2.14 Liabilities under life insurance contracts (continued)

The Group uses different measurement approaches, depending on the type of contract, as follows:

Segment Contracts Issued Product classification Measurement model

Insurance contracts issued

. . . Insurance contractsIndividual unit-linked contracts with . . Variable Fee ApproachWealth Solutions . . . with direct
material insurance benefits . . (VFA)

participation features

Savings contracts with deposit
administration funds or with unit- Insurance contractsCorporate .

linked funds that have the option with direct VFASolutions . . . . . .

to invest in deposit administration participation features
funds.

. General MeasurementGroup life and disability insurance Insurance contracts
Model (GMM)

Life Annuities Insurance contracts GMM

Non-Life Insurance Insurance contracts GMM

Reinsurance contracts issued

Corporate . ... Reinsurance contracts
Group life and disability GMMSolutions held

. . Reinsurance contractsLife annuity
held

GMM

. Reinsurance contractsNon-Life Stop Loss agreement
held

GMM

Measurement models
The General Measurement Model (‘GMM”) is the general accounting approach for the measurement of insurance and
reinsurance contracts under IFRS 17. The GMM is formed of the following building blocks each of which are detailed further below:

• Fulfilment cash flows (‘FCF”( comprising:
- The Present Value of future cash flows t”PVFCF’) and
- Risk adjustment IRA’)

• Contractual Service Margin (CSM”)

Insurance contracts and investments contracts with direct participation features f’DPF’) (a contract with DPF and the transfer of
significant insurance risk to the Company are classified as insurance contracts with DPF) are viewed as creating an obligation to
pay policyholders an amount that is equal to the fair value of the underlying items, less a variable fee for service. The variable fee
comprises the Company’s share of the fair value of the underlying items, which is based on policy fees and management charges
(withdrawn from policyholder account values based on the fair value of underlying assets and specified in the contracts with
policyholders) less other cash flows that do not vary based on the retums on underlying items. The measurement approach for
insurance and investment contracts (excluding reinsurance contracts) with DPF and insurance contracts with direct participation
features is referred to as the Variable Fee Approach, (“VFA”). The VFA modifies the GMM to reflect that a significant portion of the
consideration an entity receives far the contracts is a variable fee.

Level of aggregation

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF ore aggregated into groups for measurement purposes. Firstly, insurance
contracts are grouped into portfolios such that all contracts in the group are managed together or share the same risk
characteristics. Portfolios of insurance contracts are then further sub-divided into groups of insurance contracts according to the
profitability characteristics of the contracts and the financial year in which they were issued.

The Company judges that division of products into portfolios according to product type. currency and reinsurance arrangements
meets the requirements of grouping products that are managed together and give rise to similar risks.
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Segment Contracts Issued Product classification Measurement model 
Insurance contracts Issued 

Individual unit-linked contracts with Insurance contracts Variable Fee Approach Wealth Solutions with direct material insurance benefits participation features (VFA) 

Savings contracts with deposit 

Corporate administration funds or with unit- Insurance contracts 
linked funds that have the option with direct VFA Solutions to invest in deposit administration participation features 

funds. 

Group life and disability insurance Insurance contracts General Measurement 
Model(GMM) 

Life Annuities Insurance contracts GMM 

Non-Life Insurance Insurance contracts GMM 

Reinsurance contracts issued 

Corporate Group life and disability Reinsurance contracts GMM Solutions held 

Life annuity Reinsurance contracts GMM held 

Non-Life Stop Loss agreement Reinsurance contracts GMM held 

Measurement models 
The General Measurement Model ("GMM") is the general accounting approach for the measurement of insurance and 
reinsurance contracts under IFRS 17. The GMM is formed of the following building blocks each of which are detailed further below: 

Fulfilment cash flows ("FCF") comprising: 
- The Present Value of future cash flows f'PVFCP') and 
- Risk adjustment ("RA") 

Contractual Service Margin ("CSM") 

Insurance contracts and investments contracts with direct participation features ("DPF") (a contract with DPF and the transfer of 
significant insurance risk to the Company are classified as insurance contracts with DPF) are viewed as creating an obligation to 
pay policyholders an amount that is equal to the fair value of the underlying items. less a variable fee for service. The variable fee 
comprises the Company's share of the fair value of the underlying items, which is based on policy fees and management charges 
(withdrawn from policyholder account values based on the fair value of underlying assets and specified in the contracts with 
policyholders) less other cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on underlying items. The measurement approach for 
insurance and investment contracts (excluding reinsurance contracts) with DPF and insurance contracts with direct participation 
features is referred to as the Variable Fee Approach, ("VFA"). The VFA modifies the GMM to reflect that a significant portion of the 
consideration an entity receives for the contracts is a variable fee. 

Level of aggregation 

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are aggregated into groups for measurement purposes. Firstly, insurance 
contracts are grouped into portfolios such that all contracts in the group are managed together or share the same risk 
characteristics. Portfolios of insurance contracts are then further sub-divided into groups of insurance contracts according to the 
profitability characteristics of the contracts and the financial year in which they were issued. 

The Company judges that division of products into portfolios according to product type, currency and reinsurance arrangements 
meets the requirements of grouping products that are managed together and give rise to similar risks. 
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Level of aggregation (continued)

On initial recognition, the Company divides the contracts by profitability characteristics as follows: Whether the contracts have no
significant possibility of becoming onerous, are onerous and all other contracts, Insurance contracts that have a CSM at initial
recognition greater than the the risk adjustment are judged to have no significant possibility of becoming onerous, Insurance
contracts where at initial recognition the total of the fulfilment cash flows, any allocated acquisition cash flows and any cash flows
arising from the contract at that date is a net outflow are recognised as onerous. All other contracts are grouped together.
Reinsurance contracts are judged to be distinct and are not grouped together.

Contract boundaries
The Company uses the concept of contract boundaries to determine the cash flows that should be considered in the
measurement of groups of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF. This assessment is
reviewed for new contracts issued each reporting period. Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise
from the rights and obligations that exist during the period in which the policyholder is obligated to pay premiums or the Company
has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with insurance coverage or other services.

Cash flows outside the insurance contract boundary relate to future insurance contracts and are recognised when those contracts
meet the recognifion criteria. Cash flows are within the boundaries of investment contracts with DPF if they result from a
substantive obligation of the Company to deliver cash at a present or future date. For reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are
within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and obligations of the Company that exist during the reporting
period in which the Company is compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer or in which the Company has a substantive right to
receive services from the reinsurer.

Insurance acquisition cash flows
The Company includes the following acquisition cash flows within the contract boundary that arise from selling, underwriting and
starting a group of insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF and that are:
a. costs directly attributable to individual contracts and groups of contracts: and
b. costs directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF to which the group belongs,
which are allocated on a systematic and rational basis to measure the group of insurance contracts or investment contracts with
DPF
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Level of aggregation (continued) 

On initial recognition, the Company divides the contracts by profitability characteristics as follows: Whether the contracts have no 
significant possibility of becoming onerous, are onerous and all other contracts. Insurance contracts that have o CSM at initial 
recognition greater than the the risk adjustment are judged to have no significant possibility of becoming onerous. Insurance 
contracts where at initial recognition the total of the fulfilment cash flows, any allocated acquisition cash flows and any cash flows 
arising from the contract at that date is a net outflow are recognised as onerous. NI other contracts are grouped together. 
Reinsurance contracts are judged to be distinct and are not grouped together. 

Contract boundaries 
The Company uses the concept of contract boundaries to determine the cash flows that should be considered in the 
measurement of groups of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF. This assessment is 
reviewed for new contracts issued each reporting period. Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract If they arise 
from the rights and obligations that exist during the period in which the policyholder is obligated to pay premiums or the Company 
has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with insurance coverage or other services. 

Cash flows outside the insurance contract boundary relate to future insurance contracts and are recognised when those contracts 
meet the recognition criteria. Cash flows are within the boundaries of investment contracts with DPF if they result from a 
substantive obligation of the Company to deliver cash at a present or future date. For reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are 
within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and obligations of the Company that exist during the reporting 
period in which the Company is compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer or in which the Company has a substantive right to 
receive services from the reinsurer. 

Insurance acquisition cash flows 
The Company includes the following acquisition cash flows within the contract boundary that arise from selling, underwriting and 
starting a group of insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF and that are: 
a. costs directly attributable to individual contracts and groups of contracts; and 
b. costs directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF to which the group belongs, 
which are allocated on a systematic and rational basis to measure the group of Insurance contracts or investment contracts with 
D)PF 
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Insurance acquisition cash flows (continued)

Insurance acquisition cash flows are initially deterred on the balance sheet and then allocated against groups of insurance
contracts to which they are directly attributable. Insurance acquisition cash flows ate included within the measurement of the
CSM and recognised in the income statement over the period in which services are provided to the policyholder. Insurance
acquisition cash flow assets are assessed for impairment where there are indicators of impairment.

2.14.1 Recognition and derecognifion

Groups of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF issued are initially recognised from the earliest of the following:

the beginning of the coverage period; or
the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due date; or

• where a group of contracts is onerous, from when the group becomes onerous.
Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF acquired in a business combination or a portfolio transfer are accounted
for as if they were entered into at the date of acquisition or transfer.

A group of reinsurance contracts held that covers the losses of separate insurance contracts on a proportionate basis
(proportionate or quota share reinsurance) is recognised at the later of:

• the beginning of the coverage period of that group ; or
the initial recognition of any underlying insurance contract.

A group of reinsurance contracts held that covers aggregate losses from underlying contracts in excess of a specified amount
(non-proportionate reinsurance contracts, such as excess of loss reinsurance( is recognised at the earlier of:
• beginning of the coverage period of that group ; or

the date the entity recognises an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts if the entity entered into the related
reinsurance contract held in the group of reinsurance contracts held at or before that date.

Only contracts that meet the recognition criteria by the end of the reporting period are included in the groups of insurance
contracts and measured under IFRS 17. The start and end periods of each insurance group are selected to coincide with the
Company’s reporting periods. Composition of the insurance groups are not reassessed in subsequent periods.

Accounting for contract modification and derecogniHon
An insurance contract is derecognised when it is:

extinguished (when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is discharged or cancelled(: or
the contract is modified and certain additional criteria are met.

When an insurance contract is modified by the Company as a result of an agreement with the counterparty or due to a change
in regulations, the Company treats changes in cash flows caused by the modification as changes in estimates of the FCF, unless
the conditions for the derecognition of the original contract, as set out in the IFRSJ7 standard, are met. The Company
derecognises the original contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract if any of the following conditions are
present:

a. if the modified terms had been included at contract inception and the Company would have concluded that the modified
contract:

i. is not in scope of IFRS 17;
ii. results in different separable components;
üi. results in a different contract boundary; or
iv. belongs to a different group of contracts:

b. the original contract represents an insurance contract with direct participation features, but the modified contract no longer
meets that definition, or vice versa.
When an insurance contract is derecognised from within a group of insurance contracts, the Company adjusts the FCF to
eliminate the PVFCF and RA relating to the rights and obligations removed from the group and adjusts the CSM (unless the
decrease in the FCF is allocated to the loss component of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) of the group (. depending on
the reason for the derecognition.
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Insurance acquisition cash flows (continued) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows are initially deferred on the balance sheet and then allocated against groups of insurance 
contracts to which they are directly attributable. Insurance acquisition cash flows are Included within the measurement of the 
CSM and recognised in the income statement over the period in which services are provided to the policyholder. Insurance 
acquisition cash flow assets are assessed for impairment where there are indicators of impairment. 

2.14.1 Recognition and derecognition 

Groups of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF issued are initially recognised from the earliest of the following: 

the beginning of the coverage period; or 
the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due date; or 
where a group of contracts is onerous, from when the group becomes onerous. 

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF acquired in a business combination or a portfolio transfer are accounted 
for as if they were entered Into at the date of acquisition or transfer. 

A group of reinsurance contracts held that covers the losses of separate insurance contracts on a proportionate basis 
(proportionate or quota share reinsurance) is recognised at the later of: 

the beginning of the coverage period of that group ; or 
· the initial recognition of any underlying insurance contract. 

A group of reinsurance contracts held that covers aggregate losses from underlying contracts in excess of a specified amount 
(non-proportionate reinsurance contracts, such as excess of loss reinsurance) is recognised at the earlier of: 

beginning of the coverage period of that group ; or 
the date the entity recognises an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts if the entity entered into the related 

reinsurance contract held In the group of reinsurance contracts held at or before that date. 

Only contracts that meet the recognition criteria by the end of the reporting period are included in the groups of insurance 
contracts and measured under IFRS 17. The start and end periods of each insurance group are selected to coincide with the 
Company's reporting periods. Composition of the insurance groups are not reassessed in subsequent periods. 

Accounting for contract modification and derecognition 
An insurance contract is derecognised when it is: 
· extinguished (when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is discharged or cancelled); or 
· the contract is modified and certain additional criteria are met. 
When an Insurance contract is modified by the Company as a result of an agreement with the counterparty or due to a change 
in regulations, the Company treats changes in cash flows caused by the modification as changes in estimates of the FCF, unless 
the conditions for the derecognition of the original contract, as set out in the IFRS17 standard, are met. The Company 
derecognises the original contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract if any of the following conditions are 
present: 

a. if the modified terms had been included at contract Inception and the Company would have concluded that the modified 
contract: 

i. is not in scope of IFRS 17; 
ii. results in different separable components; 
iii. results in a different contract boundary; or 
iv. belongs to a different group of contracts; 

b. the original contract represents an insurance contract with direct participation features. but the modified contract no longer 
meets that definition, or vice versa. 
When an insurance contract is derecognised from within a group of insurance contracts. the Company adjusts the FCF to 
eliminate the PVFCF and RA relating to the rights and obligations removed from the group and adjusts the CSM (unless the 
decrease in the FCF is allocated to the loss component of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) of the group ), depending on 
the reason for the derecognition. 
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Measurement
Fulfilment cash flows
The FCF are an explicit, unbiased and probability-weighted estimate (i.e. expected value) of the present value of the future cash
outflows minus the present value of the future cash inflows that will arise as the entity fulfils insurance contracts, including a risk
adjustment for non-financial risk.

The estimates of future cash flows:

a. are based on a probability weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes:

b. are determined from the perspective of the Company, provided the estimates are consistent with observable market prices far
market variables: and
c. reflect conditions existing at the measurement date.

Where the effect of future variations in experience on future cash flows are symmetric, a single best estimate is assumed to
represent the full range of possible outcomes. In a small number of cases, where the effect of future experience variances is not
symmetric, then the best estimate is adjusted by probability weighting the effect on cash flows of a range of possible outcomes.

Underlying cash flows, where these arise in multiple currencies, are converted into a single functional currency at the appropriate
prevailing foreign exchange rates. In order to discount the FCE the Company uses the bottom-up approach to determine in each
applicable currency, a discount rate curve by applying a liquidity adjustment, where appropriate, to a risk-free yield. The risk-free
yield curve is from the published yield curve for the relevant currency.

The assumptions used to calculate the FCF on reinsurance contract assets are generally consistent with those used to calculate
the FCF of the Insurance Contracts underlying the Reinsurance Contracts Held. Differences in assumptions relate to items that
differ between the underlying Insurance Contracts and reinsurance contract assets, for example reinsurer default risk, reinsurance
servicing expenses and liquidity risk. The reinsurance contract assets are modified for the risk of non-performance by the reinsurer.
The impact is applied by adjusting the FCF discount rates. This adjustment is not made to reinsurance contracts that are liabilities.

An investment component is the amount that an insurance contract or investment contract with DPF requires the Company to
repay to a policyholder even if an insured event does not occur. The Company has not separated any investment components
from insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF as the investment components are not considered to be distinct from
the underlying contracts. Non-distinct investment components include the unit fund on unit-linked products and with-profit funds
for with-profit products. Movements in investment components will not be included in insurance revenue and insurance service
expenses under IFRS 17.

Risk Adjustment

An explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is estimated separately from the other estimates and is included in fulfilment cash
flows. The risk adjustment is determined as the difference between the fulfilment cash flows under a single, insurance portfolio
specific, stress scenario and the base scenario. The risk adjustment is calculated without consideration for any reinsurance in place
and represents the compensation the Company requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash
flows that arises from non-financial risk as the Company fulfils insurance contracts.

The estimated future cash flows are adjusted using the current discount rates to reflect the time value of money and the financial
risks related to those cash flows, to the extent not included in the estimated cash flows. The discount rates reflect the
characteristics of the cash flows arising from the groups of insurance contracts, including timing. currency and liquidity of cash
flows. Risk of the Company’s nan-performance is not included in the measurement of groups of insurance contracts issued.

The Company uses consistent assumptions to measure the estimates of the PVFCF for the group of reinsurance contracts held and
such estimates for the groups of underlying insurance contracts. The risk adjustment for reinsurance is determined in the same way
as for insurance business but with the stress scenario being determined from a scenario relevant to the underlying insurance
portfolio.

The risk adjustment for reinsurance represents the risk adjustment transferred to the reinsurer and as such will not exceed the risk
adjustment on the underlying insurance contract.
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Measurement 
Fulfilment cash flows 
The FCF are on explicit, unbiased and probability-weighted estimate (i.e. expected value) of the present value of the future cash 
outflows minus the present value of the future cash inflows that will arise as the entity fulfils insurance contracts, including a risk 
adjustment for non-financial risk. 
The estimates of future cash flows: 
a. are based on a probability weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes; 

b. are determined from the perspective of the Company. provided the estimates ore consistent with observable market prices for 
market variables; and 
c. reflect conditions existing at the measurement date. 

Where the effect of future variations in experience on future cash flows ore symmetric. a single best estimate is assumed to 
represent the full range of possible outcomes. In a small number of cases, where the effect of future experience variances is not 
symmetric, then the best estimate is adjusted by probability weighting the effect on cash flows of a range of possible outcomes. 

Undertying cash flows, where these arise in multiple currencies. are converted into a single functional currency at the appropriate 
prevailing foreign exchange rates. In order to discount the FCF the Company uses the bottom-up approach to determine in each 
applicable currency, a discount rate curve by applying a liquidity adjustment, where appropriate, to a risk-free yield. The risk-free 
yield curve is from the published yield curve for the relevant currency. 

The assumptions used to calculate the FCF on reinsurance contract assets are generally consistent with those used to calculate 
the FCF of the Insurance Contracts underlying the Reinsurance Contracts Held. Differences in assumptions relate to items that 
differ between the underlying Insurance Contracts and reinsurance contract assets. for example reinsurer default risk, reinsurance 
servicing expenses and liquidity risk. The reinsurance contract assets ore modified for the risk of non-performance by the reinsurer. 
The impact ls applied by adjusting the FCF discount rotes. This adjustment is not mode to reinsurance contracts that ore liabilities. 

An investment component ls the amount that an insurance contract or investment contract with DPF requires the Company to 
repay to a policyholder even if an insured event does not occur. The Company has not separated any investment components 
from insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF as the investment components are not considered to be distinct from 
the underlying contracts. Non-distinct investment components include the unit fund on unit-linked products and with-profit funds 
for with-profit products. Movements in investment components will not be included in insurance revenue and insurance service 
expenses under IFRS 17. 

Risk Adjustment 
An explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is estimated separately from the other estimates and is included in fulfilment cash 
flows. The risk adjustment is determined as the difference between the fulfilment cash flows under a single, insurance portfolio 
specific, stress scenario and the base scenario. The risk adjustment is calculated without consideration for any reinsurance in place 
and represents the compensation the Company requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and liming of the cash 
flows that arises from non-financial risk as the Company fulfils insurance contracts. 

The estimated future cash flows are adjusted using the current discount rates to reflect the time value of money and the financial 
risks related to those cash flows, to the extent not included in the estimated cash flows. The discount rates reflect the 
characteristics of the cash flows arising from the groups of insurance contracts, including timing. currency and liquidity of cash 
flows. Risk of the Company's non-performance is not included in the measurement of groups of insurance contracts issued. 

The Company uses consistent assumptions to measure the estimates of the PVFCF for the group of reinsurance contracts held and 
such estimates for the groups of underlying insurance contracts. The risk adjustment for reinsurance is determined in the same way 
as for insurance business but with the stress scenario being determined from a scenario relevant to the underlying insurance 
portfolio. 

The risk adjustment for reinsurance represents the risk adjustment transferred to the reinsurer and as such will not exceed the risk 
adjustment on the underlying insurance contract. 
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Contractual service margin
The CSM is a component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance contracts issued representing the
unearned profit that the Company will recognise as it provides insurance services in the future.

At initial recognition, the CSM is on amount that results in no income or expenses (unless a group of contracts is onerous) arising
from:
a. the initial recognition of the FCF: and
b. cash flows arising from the contracts in the group at that date.
c. the derecognifion at the date ot initial recognition of:
(i) any asset for insurance acquisition cash flows: and
)ii) any other asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related to the group of confracts

For a group of insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF issued where the CSM would be negative, this means the
group of insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF issued is onerous. Groups of onerous contracts are recognised when
the group becomes onerous. A loss from onerous insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income immediately with no CSM recognised on the Statement of Financial Position.

For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM represents a deferred gain or loss that the Company will recognise as a reinsurance
expense as it receives reinsurance coverage in the fufure.

For insurance contracts acquired in a portfolio transfer or business combination, at initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that
results in no income or expenses arising from:

a. the initial recognition of the FCF; and

b. a proxy for premiums received in the portfolio transfer or business combination.
The premium proxy is either the fair value of assets transferred minus any consideration paid or the fair of liabilities received in
insurance portfolio transfers or business combinations respectively. To the extent that amounts cannot be directly attributed to the
acquired contracts the premium proxy is allocated to acquired insurance groups using weightings based on risk.

At initial recognition contracts ore assessed as to whether they are onerous, profitable or initially profitable but have the potential
to become unprofitable and are allocated to different groups depending upon this assessment. The approach taken is to
compare at initial recognition, for each insurance contract, the CSM with the risk adjustment. If the CSM is greater than the risk
adjustment, the insurance contract is classified as profitable. I the CSM is zero the contract is classified as onerous. All other
contracts are classified as having the potential to become onerous.

Subsequent measurement
The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of insurance contracts issued is the sum of:
a. the liability for remaining coverage ‘LRC’, comprising:
i. the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date: and
ii. the CSM of the group at that date: and

b. the liability for incurred claims (“dC”), comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.
The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of reinsurance contracts held is the sum of:
a. the remaining coverage, comprising:

i. the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date: and
ii. the CSM of the group at that date: and

b. the incurred claims, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.
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Contractual service margin 
The CSM is a component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance contracts issued representing the 
unearned profit that the Company will recognise as it provides insurance services In the future. 

At initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that results In no income or expenses (unless a group of contracts is onerous) arising 
from: 
a. the initial recognition of the FCF; and 
b. cash flows arising from the contracts in the group at that date. 
c. the derecognition at the date of initial recognition of: 
(i) any asset for insurance acquisition cash flows; and 
(ii) any other asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related to the group of contracts 

For a group of insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF issued where the CSM would be negative, this means the 
group of insurance contracts or Investment contracts with DPF issued is onerous. Groups of onerous contracts are recognised when 
the group becomes onerous. A loss from onerous insurance contracts or investment contracts with DPF is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Immediately with no CSM recognised on the Statement of Financial Position. 

For reinsurance contracts held. the CSM represents a deferred gain or loss that the Company will recognise as a reinsurance 
expense as It receives reinsurance coverage in the future. 

For insurance contracts acquired in a portfolio transfer or business combination, at initial recognition. the CSM is an amount that 
results in no income or expenses arising from: 

a. the initial recognition of the FCF; and 
b. a proxy for premiums received in the portfolio transfer or business combination. 
The premium proxy Is either the fair value of assets transferred minus any consideration paid or the fair of liabilities received in 
insurance portfolio transfers or business combinations respectively. To the extent that amounts cannot be directly attributed to the 
acquired contracts the premium proxy Is allocated to acquired Insurance groups using weightings based on risk. 

At initial recognition contracts are assessed as to whether they are onerous, profitable or initially profitable but have the potential 
to become unprofitable and are allocated to different groups depending upon this assessment. The approach taken is to 
compare at Initial recognition. for each insurance contract, the CSM with the rislc adjustment. If the CSM is greater than the risk 
adjustment, the insurance contract is classified as profitable. I the CSM is zero the contract is classified as onerous. All ether 
contracts are classified as having the potential to become onerous. 

Subsequent measurement 
The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of insurance contracts Issued is the sum of: 
a. the liability for remaining coverage "LRC", comprising: 
i. the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date; and 
ii. the CSM of the group at that date; and 
b. the liability for incurred claims ("LIC"), comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date. 
The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of reinsurance contracts held is the sum of: 
a. the remaining coverage, comprising: 
i. the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date; and 
ii. the CSM of the group at that date; and 
b. the incurred claims. comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date. 
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Changes in fulfilment cash flows
The FCF are updated by the Company for current assumptions at the end of every reporting period, using the current estimates of
the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows and of discount rates.

The way in which the changes in estimates of the FCF are treated depends on which estimate is being updated:

a. changes that relate to current or past service ore recognised in profit or loss: and

b. changes that relate to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM or the loss component within the LRC as per the
policy below.

For insurance contracts under the GMM, the following adjustments relate to future service and thus adjust the CSM:
a. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future service and related cash flows such
as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes:
b. changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except those described in the following paragraph:

c. differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the actual investment
component that becomes payable in the period: and

d. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service.

Adjustments a., b. and d. are measured using the locked-in discount rates as described in the section on interest accretion on the
CSM below.

For insurance contracts under the GMM, the following adjustments do not relate to future service and thus do not adjust the CSM:

a. changes in the FCF for the effect of the time value of money and the effect of financial risk and changes thereon:
b. changes in the FCF relating to the LIC; and

c. experience adjustments relating to insurance service expenses (excluding insurance acquisition cash flows).
For insurance contracts measured under the VFA, where the value of the variable tee is material, the following adjustments relate
to future service and thus adjust the CSM:
a. changes in the Company’s share of the fair value of the underlying items: and
b. changes in the FCF that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items:

i. changes in the effect of the time value of money and financial risks including the effect of financial guarantees:
ii. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future service and related cash flows such

as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes:

iii. changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except those described in the following paragraph:
iv. differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the actual investment

component that becomes payable in the period: and
v. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service.

Adjustments il-v. ore measured using the current discount rates.
For insurance contracts measured under the VFA, the following adjustments do not relate to future service and thus do not adju5t
the CSM:
a. changes in the obligation to pay the policyholder the amount equal to the fair value of the underiying items:

b. changes in the FCF that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items:
i. changes in the FCF relating to the LIC: and
ii. experience adjustments relating to insurance service expenses (excluding insurance acquisition cash flows).
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Changes in fulfilment cash flows 
The FCF are updated by the Company far current assumptions at the end of every reporting period, using the current estimates of 
the amount. timing and uncertainty of future cash flows and of discount rates. 

The way in which the changes in estimates of the FCF ore treated depends on which estimate is being updated: 

a. changes that relate to current or past service are recognised in profit or loss; and 

b. changes that relate to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM or the loss component within the LRC as per the 
policy below. 
Far Insurance contracts under the GMM, the following adjustments relate to future service and thus adjust the CSM: 
a. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future service and related cash flows such 
as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes; 
b. changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except those described In the following paragraph; 

c. differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the actual investment 
component that becomes payable in the period; and 
d. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service. 

Adjustments a .. b. and d. are measured using the locked-In discount rates as described in the section on interest accretion on the 
CSM below. 

For Insurance contracts under the GMM, the following adjustments do not relate to future service and thus do not adjust the CSM: 

a. changes in the FCF for the effect of the time value of money and the effect of financial risk and changes thereon; 
b. changes in the FCF relating ta the UC; and 
c. experience adjustments relating ta Insurance service expenses (excluding insurance acquisition cash flows). 
For Insurance contracts measured under the VFA, where the value of the variable fee is material, the following adjustments relate 
to future service and thus adjust the CSM: 
a. changes In the Company's share of the fair value of the underlying items; and 
b. changes In the FCF that do not vary based on the returns of underlying Items: 

i. changes in the effect of the time value of money and financial risks including the effect of financial guarantees; 
ii. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future service and related cash flows such 

as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes; 
iii. changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except those described in the following paragraph; 
iv. differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the actual investment 

component that becomes payable in the period; and 
v. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service. 

Adjustments ii.-v. are measured using the current discount rates. 
For Insurance contracts measured under the VFA, the following adjustments do not relate to future service and thus do not adjust 
theCSM: 
a. changes in the obligation to pay the policyholder the amount equal to the fair value of the underlying items; 

b. changes In the FCF that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items: 
i. changes in the FCF relating to the UC; and 
ii. experience adjustments relating to insurance service expenses (excluding insurance acquisition cash flows). 
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Changes to the contractual service margin
For insurance contracts issued, at the end of each annual reporting period the carrying amount of the CSM is adjusted by the
Comoanv to reflect the effect of the followina chanaes:
a. The effect of any new contracts added to the group.
b. For contracts measured under the GMM, interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM.
c. Changes in the FCF relating to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM. Changes in the FCF ore recognised in the
CSM to the extent the CSM is available. When an increase in the FCF exceeds the carrying amount of the CSM, the CSM is
reduced to zero, the excess is recognised in insurance service expenses and a loss component is recognised within the CRC. When
the CSM is zero, changes in the FCF adjust the loss component within the LRC with correspondence to insurance service expenses.
The excess of any decrease in the FCF over the loss component reduces the loss component to zero and reinstates the CSM.
d. The eftect of any currency exchange differences.
e. The amount recognised as insurance revenue for services provided during the period determined after all other adjustments
above.

For a group of reinsurance contracts held, the carrying amount of the CSM at the end of each reporting period is adjusted to
reflect changes in the FCF in the same manner as a group of underlying insurance contracts issued, except that when underlying
contracts are onerous and thus changes in the underlying FCF related to future service are recognised in insurance service
expenses by adjusting the loss component, respective changes in the FCF of reinsurance contracts held are also recognised in the
insurance service result.

Interest accretion on the CSM
Under the GMM, interest is accreted on the CSM using discount rates determined at initial recognition that are applied to nominal
cash flows that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items (locked-in discount rates).

Release of the CSM to profit or loss
The amount of the CSM recognised in profit or loss for services in the period is determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining
at the end of the reporting period over the current and remaining expected coverage period of the group of insurance contracts
based on coverage units.

For contracts issued, the Company determines the proportion of coverage provided in the period for the purpose of CSM
recoanition as follows:
a. Coverage units in the period, divided by
b. The sum of:

Coverage units in the period, and
ii. End of period coverage units total forecast.
c. Where all amounts included in this calculation are undiscounted.

The coverage units used by the Company are as follows:

Business Type Coverage Units (proxy for “quantity of benefits”).

Non-linked Sum at Risk

Life and disability Earned premiums

Unit linked business Higher of Unit reserves and sum assured

Unitised with-profits Unit Fund

Annuities Annuities paid in period
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Changes to the contractual service margin 
For insurance contracts issued. at the end of each annual reporting period the carrying amount of the CSM is adjusted by the 
Comoanv to reflect the effect of the followina chanaes: 
a. The effect of any new contracts added to the group. 
b. For contracts measured under the GMM, interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM. 
c. Changes in the FCF relating to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM. Changes in the FCF ore recognised in the 
CSM to the extent the CSM is available. When an increase in the FCF exceeds the carrying amount of the CSM, the CSM is 
reduced to zero, the excess is recognised In insurance service expenses and a loss component is recognised within the LRC. When 
the CSM is zero, changes in the FCF adjust the loss component within the LRC with correspondence to insurance service expenses. 
The excess of any decrease in the FCF over the loss component reduces the loss component to zero and reinstates the CSM. 
d. The effect of any currency exchange differences, 
e. The amount recognised as Insurance revenue for services provided during the period determined after all other adjustments 
above. 

For a group of reinsurance contracts held, the carrying amount of the CSM at the end of each reporting period is adjusted to 
reflect changes in the FCF in the same manner as a group of underlying insurance contracts issued, except that when underlying 
contracts are onerous and thus changes in the underlying FCF related to future service are recognised in Insurance service 
expenses by adjusting the loss component. respective changes in the FCF of reinsurance contracts held are also recognised in the 
insurance service result. 

Interest accretion on the CSM 
Under the GMM, interest is accreted on the CSM using discount rates determined at initial recognition that are applied to nominal 
cash flows that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items (locked-in discount rates). 

Release of the CSM to profit or loss 
The amount of the CSM recognised in profit or loss for services in the period is determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining 
at the end of the reporting period over the current and remaining expected coverage period of the group of insurance contracts 
based on coverage units. 
For contracts issued, the Company determines the proportion of coverage provided in the period for the purpose of CSM 
recoanition as follows: 
a. Coverage units In the period, divided by 
b. The sum of: 
i. Coverage units in the period, and 
ii. End of period coverage units total forecast. 
c. Where all amounts included in this calculation are undiscounted. 

The coverage units used by the Company are as follows: 

Business Type 

Non-linked 
Life and disability 

Unit linlced business 

Unitised with-profits 
Annuities 

Coverage Units (proxy for "quantity of benefits"). 

Sum at Risk 
Earned premiums 

Higher of Unit reserves and sum assured 

Unit Fund 
Annuities paid in period 
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Onerous contracts — loss components
When adjustments to the CSM exceed the amount of the CSM, the group of contracts becomes onerous and the Company
recognises the excess in insurance service expenses and records it as a loss component of the LRC.

When a loss component exists, the Company allocates the following between the loss component and the remaining component
of the LRC for the respective group of contracts, based on amortising the loss component in line with the amortisation of the CSM
ti.e. based on coveraqe units remaining).
The Company allocates the amortisotion of the loss component to insurance revenue with an equivalent offset in insurance
service expenses. Decreases in the FCF in subsequent periods reduce the remaining loss component and reinstate the CSM after
the loss component is reduced to zero. Increases in the FCF in subsequent periods increase the loss component.

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income
Insurance revenue
As the Company provides services under the group of insurance contracts, it reduces the CRC and recognises insurance revenue.
The amount of insurance revenue recognised in the reporting period depicts the transfer of promised services at an amount that
reflects the portion of consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services.

Insurance revenue comprises the following:
Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC:

a. insurance claims and expenses incurred in the period measured as the amounts expected at the beginning of the period,
excluding:

- amounts related to the loss component;

- repayments of investment components; and
- amounts of transaction-based taxes collected in a fiduciary capacity.

b. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding:
- changes included in insurance finance income (expenses);
- changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM); and
- amounts allocated to the loss component;

c. amounts of the CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided in the period: and
a. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to past and current service and related cash
flows such as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes.

Insurance service expenses
insurance service expenses include the following:
a. incurred claims and benefits excluding investment components;
b. other incurred directly attributable insurance service expenses;
c. changes that relate to past service (i.e. changes in the FCF relating to the dC); and
d. changes that relate to future service (i.e. losses/reversals on onerous groups of contracts from changes in the loss components).
e. allocation of non-directly attributable expenses.

Expenses that do not relate to contracts in the scope of IFRS 17 will be presented in other operating expenses under the relevant
accounting standard.
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Onerous contracts - loss components 
When adjustments to the CSM exceed the amount of the CSM, the group of contracts becomes onerous and the Company 
recognises the excess in insurance service expenses and records it as a loss component of the LRC. 

When a loss component exists, the Company allocates the following between the loss component and the remaining component 
of the LRC for the respective group of contracts, based on amortising the loss component in line with the amortisation of the CSM 
(i.e. based on coverage units remainina). 
The Company allocates the amortisation of the loss component to insurance revenue with on equivalent offset in insurance 
service expenses. Decreases in the FCF in subsequent periods reduce the remaining loss component and reinstate the CSM ofter 
the loss component is reduced to zero. Increases in the FCF in subsequent periods increase the loss component. 

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income 
Insurance revenue 
As the Company provides services under the group of insurance contracts, it reduces the LRC and recognises insurance revenue. 
The amount of insurance revenue recognised in the reporting period depicts the transfer of promised services at an amount that 
reflects the portion of consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. 

Insurance revenue comprises the following: 
Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC: 

a. insurance claims and expenses Incurred in the period measured as the amounts expected at the beginning of the period, 
excluding: 

- amounts related to the loss component; 
- repayments of investment components; and 
- amounts of transaction-based taxes collected in a fiduciary capacity. 

b. changes In the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding: 
- changes included in insurance finance income (expenses]; 
- changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM); and 
- amounts allocated to the loss component; 

c. amounts of the CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided in the period; and 
d. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to post and current service and related cash 
flows such as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes. 

Insurance service expenses 
Insurance service expenses include the following: 
a. incurred claims and benefits excluding investment components; 
b. other incurred directly attributable insurance service expenses; 
c. changes that relate to past service (i.e. changes in the FCF relating to the UC); and 
d. changes that relate to future service (i.e. losses/reversals on onerous groups of contracts from changes in the loss components). 
e. allocation of non-directly attributable expenses. 

Expenses that do not relate to contracts in the scope of IFRS 17 will be presented in other operating expenses under the relevant 
accounting standard. 
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Insurance service result from reinsurance confracts held
Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held
The Company presents the financial performance of groups of reinsurance contracts held on a net basis in net income (expenses)
from reinsurance contracts held, comprising the following amounts:

a. reinsurance expenses;

b. incurred claims recovery;

c. other incurred directly athibutable insurance service expenses;
d. effect of changes in risk of reinsurer non-performance;
e. changes that relate to future service (i.e. changes in the FCF that do not adjust the CSM for the group of underlying insurance
contracts); and

f. changes relating to past service (i.e. adjustments to incurred claims).

Reinsurance expenses are recognised similarly to insurance revenue. The amount of reinsurance expenses recognised in the
reporting period depicts the transfer of received services at an amount that reflects the portion of ceding premiums the Company
expects to pay in exchange for those services.

Reinsurance expenses comprise the following amounts relating to changes in the remaining coverage:
a. insurance claims and other expenses recovery in the period measured at the amounts expected to be incurred at the

beginning of the period. excluding repayments of investment components;
b. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding:

- changes included in finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held: and
- changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM);

c. amounts of the CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services received in the period: and
d. ceded premium experience adjustments relating to past and current service.
Ceding commissions that are not contingent on claims of the underlying contracts issued reduce ceding premiums and are
accounted for as part of reinsurance expenses.

Insurance finance Income or expenses

Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of insurance contracts arising
from:

a. the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and
b. the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

For contracts measured under the GMM, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses are:
a. interest accreted on the FCF and the CSM;
b. the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions; and
c. foreign exchange differences arising from contracts denominated in a foreign currency.
For contracts measured under the VFA, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses are:
a. changes in the fair value of underiying items, excluding the shareholders’ share of underlying items:
b. interest accreted on the FCF relating to cash flows that do not vary with returns on underlying items; and
c. the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions on the FCF relating to cash flows that do not vary with
returns on underlying items.

For the contracts measured under the GMM and the VFA, the Company includes all insurance finance income or expenses for
the period in profit or loss.
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Insurance service result from reinsurance contracts held 
Net income (expenses/ from reinsurance contracts held 
The Company presents the financial performance of groups of reinsurance contracts held on a net basis in net income (expenses) 
from reinsurance contracts held. comprising the following amounts: 

a. reinsurance expenses; 
b. incurred claims recovery; 
c. other incurred directly attributable insurance service expenses; 
d. effect of changes in risk of relnsurer non-performance; 
e. changes that relate to future service (i.e. changes in the FCF that do not adjust the CSM for the group of underlying insurance 
contracts); and 
f. changes relating to post service (i.e. adjustments to Incurred claims). 
Reinsurance expenses ore recognised similarly to insurance revenue. The amount of reinsurance expenses recognised in the 
reporting period depicts the transfer of received services at on amount that reflects the portion of ceding premiums the Company 
expects to pay in exchange for those services. 
Reinsurance expenses comprise the following amounts relating to changes in the remaining coverage: 
a. insurance claims and other expenses recovery in the period measured at the amounts expected to be incurred at the 

beginning of the period, excluding repayments of investment components; 
b. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding: 
- changes included in finance Income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held; and 
- changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM); 
c. amounts of the CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services received in the period; and 
d. ceded premium experience adjustments relating to past and current service. 
Ceding commissions that ore not contingent on claims of the underlying contracts issued reduce ceding premiums and are 
accounted for as port of reinsurance expenses. 

Insurance finance income or expenses 
Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of insurance contracts arising 
from: 
a. the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and 
b. the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk. 

For contracts measured under the GMM, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses ore: 
a. Interest accreted on the FCF and the CSM; 
b. the effect of changes in interest rotes and other financial assumptions; and 
c. foreign exchange differences arising from contracts denominated in a foreign currency. 
For contracts measured under the VFA, the main amounts within Insurance finance Income or expenses are: 
a. changes In the fair value of underlying items, excluding the shareholders' share of underlying items; 
b. interest accreted on the FCF relating to cash flows that do not vary with returns on underlying items; and 
c. the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions on the FCF relating to cash flows lhot do not vary with 
returns on underlying items. 

For the contracts measured under the GMM and the VFA, the Company includes all insurance finance income or expenses for 
the period in profit or loss. 
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Transition

The transition balance sheet has been prepared using the Fair Value Approach for all in-scope business as it is impracticable to
use the Fully Retrospective Approach because it is not possible to determine a risk adjustment at historic reporting dates.

The Company had no basis upon which to determine the risk adjustment since it had no policy from which a reliable margin for
taking on non-financial risk associated with the contracts in scope of IFRS 17 could be determined at the transition date and there
was no explicit historical view of the compensation required for non-financial risk on acquired insurance contracts. Consideration
was taken to deriving an approach that used margins from historical acquisitions however as the majority of the acquired policies
have been investment contracts, with significant reinsurance on insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, it was not
possible to accurately reflect the view of insurance risk at historic reporting dates.

Under the Fair Value Approach, the CSM or loss component at the transition date was calculated as the difference between the
fair value of a group of contracts at that date and the FCF at that date. The Company measured the fair value of a group of
contracts as the Solvency II best estimate liability of cash flows within the IFRS17 Contract Boundary, calibrated using a market
value adjustment to give a fair value calculated as 90% of:

• Solvency II best estimate experience assumptions plus best estimates for assumptions not required under Solvency II, plus

• a 146.19% share of the insurance company’s Solvency II Risk Margin. The Solvency II Risk Margin is allocated to groups of
insurance contracts (“GICs”) (the level of aggregation of contracts at which CSM5 are determined) based on the
relative contribution of those cohorts to the aggregated results.

2.14.2 Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts and investment contracts

Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers and insurance
contract holders, If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying
amount of the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises the impairment loss in the statement of comprehensive income.
The Company gathers the objective evidence that an insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted for loans
and receivables. The impairment loss is also calculated under the same method used for these financial assets. These processes
are described in note 2.8. No impairments have been recognised to date.

2.14.3 LIability adequacy test

At each statement of financial position date, liability adequacy tests are performed to assess whether the investment contract
liabilities are adequate. Current best estimates of future cash flows are compared to the carrying value of the liabilities, Any
deficiency is charged as an expense to the statement of comprehensive income.
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Transition 
The transition balance sheet has been prepared using the Fair Value Approach for all in-scope business as it is impracticable to 
use the Fully Retrospective Approach because It is not possible to determine a risk adjustment at historic reporting dates. 

The Company had no basis upon which to determine the risk adjustment since it had no policy from which a reliable margin for 
taking on non-financial risk associated with the contracts in scope of IFRS 17 could be determined at the transition date and there 
was no explicit historical view of the compensation required for non-financial risk on acquired insurance contracts. Consideration 
was taken to deriving an approach that used margins from historical acquisitions however as the majority of the acquired policies 
have been investment contracts. with significant reinsurance on insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF, it was not 
possible to accurately reflect the view of insurance risk at historic reporting dates. 

Under the Fair Value Approach, the CSM or loss component at the transition date was calculated as the difference between the 
fair value of a group of contracts at that date and the FCF at that date. The Company measured the fair value of a group of 
contracts as the Solvency II best estimate liability of cash flows within the IFRS17 Contract Boundary, calibrated using a market 
value adjustment to give a fair value calculated as 90% of: 

Solvency II best estimate experience assumptions plus best estimates for assumptions not required under Solvency II. plus 

a 146.19% share of the insurance company's Solvency II Risk Margin. The Solvency II Risk Margin is allocated to groups of 
insurance contracts ("GICs") (the level of aggregation of contracts at which CSMs are determined) based on the 
relative contribution of those cohorts to the aggregated results. 

2.14.2 Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts and investment contracts 

Receivables and payables ore recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers and insurance 
contract holders. If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying 
amount of the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises the impairment loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 
The Company gathers the objective evidence that an Insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted for loans 
and receivables. The impairment loss is also calculated under the same method used for these financial assets. These processes 
are described in note 2.8. No impairments have been recognised to date. 

2.14.3 Liability adequacy test 

At each statement of financial position date, liability adequacy tests are performed to assess whether the investment contract 
liabilities are adequate. Current best estimates of future cash flows are compared to the carrying value of the liabilities. Any 
deficiency is charged as an expense to the statement of comprehensive income. 
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2.14.4 Deferred acquisition costs (‘DAC on investment contracts

Commissions that vary with and are related to the acquisition of new investment and insurance contracts are treated as DAC to
the extent that the commission relates to the future provision of services by the parties to whom payments are made, when the
degree of completeness of the service can be reliably measured and the Company is confident of future economic benefit from
the introduction acquired. The movement in DAC is expensed and recognised in the acquisition of insurance and investment
contracts line in the statement of comprehensive income over the premium payment term (a period determined by policy
features chosen by the contract holder introduced in return for the commission payment) for regular premium business. The
periods over which it is expensed range from five to thirty years for regular premium business and thirty years for single premium
business. Commissions for which liability arises on completion of a significant act without the expectation of the delivery of further
services are recognised in expenses when incurred.

The DAC also includes the client incentive premium when provided to certain Vision contract holders at the outset of the policy.
This regular premium is an incentive whereby the contract holder benefited from one to three months free premium at policy
inception depending on the premium payment term and premium amount. It is amortised in a straight-line method over the
premium payment term. Reviews to assess the recoverability of deferred acquisition costs on investment contracts are carried out
at each period end date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication of non-
recoverability or impairment, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Impairment losses are reversed through the Statement
of Comprehensive Income if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such losses are
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net ot amortisation where applicable, if no impairment loss had been recognised. The Company has used historic
exchanae rates in accordance with IFRIC 22. within the determination of its DAC to meet IFRS 15.

2.14.5 Deferred Income Liability C’DlL’J

The DIL represents the charges levied under investment contracts where payment for the services contractually due under such
contracts is received in advance of the Company’s performance of those services. The full amount of these fees is deferred and is
amortised in a straight-line method over the premium payment term for the regular premium Vision product and the amortisation
period of 30 years for single premium business (Note 22).

The Company has used historic exchange rates in accordance with IFRIC 22, within the determination of its DIL to meet IFRS 15.

2.15 Other expenses

All other expenses. not arising on contracts in the scope of IFRS 17, are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of goods or
services or at the date they are incurred.

2.16 Taxation

The Company is subject to taxation in Guernsey, at a tax rate of 10%, which is the standard company tax rate for insurance
businesses. Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of current tax and deferred tax not recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, if any.

Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior
reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They are calculated using the tax rates and
tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax
assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in the profit or loss.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method, on temporary differences at the end of each reporting period between
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Under the liability method, with
certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognized for oil deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax totes that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled provided such tax rates have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
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2.14.4 Deferred acquisition costs "DAC") on investment contracts 

Commissions that vary with and are related to the acquisition of new investment and insurance contracts are treated as DAC to 
the extent that the commission relates to the future provision of services by the parties to whom payments are made. when the 
degree of completeness of the service can be reliably measured and the Company is confident of future economic benefit from 
the introduction acquired. The movement in DAC is expensed and recognised in the acquisition of insurance and investment 
contracts line in the statement of comprehensive income over the premium payment term (a period determined by policy 
features chosen by the contract holder introduced in return for the commission payment) for regular premium business. The 
periods over which it Is expensed range from five to thirty years for regular premium business and thirty years for single premium 
business. Commissions for which liability arises on completion of a significant act without the expectation of the delivery of further 
services are recognised in expenses when incurred. 

The DAC also includes the client Incentive premium when provided to certain Vision contract holders at the outset of the policy. 
This regular premium is an incentive whereby the contract holder benefited from one to three months free premium at policy 
inception depending on the premium payment term and premium amount. It is amortised in a straight-line method over the 
premium payment term. Reviews to assess the recoverability of deferred acquisition costs on investment contracts ore carried out 
at each period end dote to determine whether there Is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication of non­ 
recoverability or impairment. the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Impairment losses are reversed through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income if there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such losses are 
reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of amortisation where applicable. if no impairment loss hod been recognised. The Company has used historic 
exchanae rates in accordance with IFRIC 22. within the determination of its DAC to meet IFRS 15. 

2.14.5 Deferred Income Liability (DIL") 

The OIL represents the charges levied under investment contracts where payment for the services contractually due under such 
contracts is received in advance of the Company's performance of those services. The full amount of these fees is deferred and is 
amortised in a straight-line method over the premium payment term for the regular premium Vision product and the amortisation 
period of 30 years for single premium business (Note 22). 
The Company has used historic exchange rates in accordance with IFRIC 22, within the determination of its DIL to meet IFRS 15. 

2.15 Other expenses 

All other expenses, not arising on contracts in the scope of IFRS 17, are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of goods or 
services or at the date they are incurred. 

2.16 Taxation 

The Company is subject to taxation in Guernsey, at a tax rate of 10%, which is the standard company tax rate for insurance 
businesses. Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of current tax and deferred tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. if any. 

Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior 
reporting period. that are uncollected or unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They are calculated using the tax rates and 
tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax 
assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in the profit or loss. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method. on temporary differences at the end of each reporting period between 
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Under the liability method, with 
certain exceptions. deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rotes that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled provided such tax rates have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
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2.16 Taxation (continued)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deterred tax asset to be utilised.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

2.17 Employee benefits

2.17.1 Pension obligations

The Company operates various pension schemes. The schemes ore generally funded through payments to insurance companies
or trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Company has both defined benefit and
defined contribution plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines on amount of pension benefit that an employee
will receive on retirement, usually dependant on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and where the
investment risk associated with the pension benefits ultimately available rests with the employee and not with the Company. The
liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments
for unrecagnised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs and accounted for under lAS 19. Refer to nate 17 for the detail.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates
of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to
maturity that approximate the terms of the related pension liability. Post-service costs ore recognised immediately in income.

For defined contribution plans, the Company pays contributions to privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

2.17.2 Exposure to risk of the defined benefit fund

The Company is exposed to the risk that additional contributions will be required in order to fund the defined benefit fund (the
fund’) as a result of poor experience. Some of the key factors that could lead to shortfalls are:

— Investment performance — the return achieved on the funds assets may be lower than expected.
— Interest rate risk — the risk that gilt performance will be affected by movements in interest rates.
— Investment mismatch — the characteristics of the funds assets and liabilities may differ, meaning their respective valuations do
not move together in in response to a change in the same valuation input, such as interest and inflation rates.
— Mortality — members could live longer than foreseen. This would mean that benefits are paid for longer than expected,
increasing the value of the related liabilities.

— Options far members — members may exercise options resulting in unanticipated extra costs.

The fund has 0% exposure equities (2022: 0%). thereby removing the exposure of the employer to the risk of a general downturn in
equity markets, and repositioned its portfolio primarily in guts, which themselves carry exposure to interest rate risks. In order to
assess the sensitivity of the fund’s pension liability to these risks, sensitivity analyses have been carried out in note 17. Each
sensitivity analysis is based on changing one of the assumptions used in the calculations, with no change in the other assumptions.
The same method has been applied as was used to calculate the original pension liability and the results are presented in
comparison to that liability, It should be noted that in practice it is unlikely that one assumption will change without a movement
in the other assumptions, there may also be some correlation between some of these assumptions, It should also be noted that
the value placed on the liabilities does not change on a straight-line basis when one of the assumptions is changed. For example,
a 2% change in an assumption will not necessarily produce twice the effect on the liabilities of a 1% change.
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2.16 Taxation (continued) 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets ls reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period. to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

2.17 Employee benefits 
2.17.1 Pension obligations 

The Company operates various pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through payments to insurance companies 
or trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Company has both defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee 
will receive on retirement. usually dependant on one or more factors such as age. years of service and compensation. A defined 
contribution pion is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and where the 
investment risk associated with the pension benefits ultimately available rests with the employee and not with the Company. The 
liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments 
for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and post service costs and accounted for under IAS 19. Refer to note 17 for the detail. 

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates 
of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that hove terms to 
maturity that approxlmate the terms of the related pension liability. Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income. 

For defined contribution plans. the Company pays contributions to privately administered pension insurance plans on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions hove been 
paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they ore due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 

2.17.2 Exposure to risk of the defined benefit fund 

The Company is exposed to the risk that additional contributions will be required in order to fund the defined benefit fund (the 
"fund") as o result of poor experience. Some of the key factors that could lead to shortfalls are: 

- Investment performance -- the return achieved on the fund's assets may be lower than expected. 
- Interest rate risk -- the risk that gilt performance will be affected by movements in interest rates. 
- Investment mismatch -- the characteristics of the fund's assets and liabilities may differ. meaning their respective valuations do 
not move together in in response to a change in the some valuation input, such as interest and inflation rotes. 
- Mortality -- members could live longer than foreseen. This would mean that benefits are paid for longer than expected, 
increasing the value of the related liabilities. 
- Options for members -- members may exercise options resulting in unanticipated extra costs. 

The fund has 0% exposure equities (2022: 0%), thereby removing the exposure of the employer to the risk of a general downturn in 
equity markets, and repositioned Its portfolio primarily in gilts, which themselves carry exposure to interest rate risks. In order to 
assess the sensitivity of the fund's pension liability to these risks, sensitivity analyses have been carried out in note 17. Each 
sensitivity analysis is based on changing one of the assumptions used in the calculations, with no change in the other assumptions. 
The same method has been applied as was used to calculate the original pension liability and the results are presented in 
comparison to that liability. It should be noted that in practice it is unlikely that one assumption will change without o movement 
in the other assumptions, there may also be some correlation between some of these assumptions. It should also be noted that 
the value placed on the liabilities does not change on a straight-line basis when one of the assumptions is changed. For example, 
a 2% change in an assumption will not necessarily produce twice the effect on the liabilities of a 1% change. 
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2.17.3 Resfrictlon of assets of the defined benefit fund

As the fund is currently in surplus it has not been necessary to adjust the statement of financial position items as a result of the
requirements of IFRIC 14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset issued by IASB’s International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee.

2.17.4 Fund amendment of the defined benefit fund

There have been no past service casts or settlements in the financial year ending 31 December 2023 nor 31 December 2022, since
the Pension Scheme is closed to the future accrual of benefits.

2.17.5 funding policy of the defined benefit fund
The Company is the sole employer in the fund. Following the cessation of accrual of benefits with effect from 31 December 2010,
regular contributions to the fund are no longer required. However, additional contributions are still made to cover any shortfalls
that arise following each valuation.

2.17.6 liability to the defined benefit fund

The Company is responsible for meeting the administration expenses incurred in the operation of the fund. On the withdrawal of
the other participating employer from the fund, the Trustees would be responsible for deciding on the terms on which additional
funding would be sought from the relevant employer or surplus funds disposed of. The Company has guaranteed that. in the
event of winding up the fund, deferred members would receive at least standard transfer values after annuitisation of the pensions
in payment and allowance for winding up costs.

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising in the course of the ordinary activities of the
Company when those inflows result in on increase in equity, other than increases relating to contributions from equity participants,
and is recognition of the fair value of the services provided by the Company. Income other than that arising on recognition of the
changes in the value of financial and insurance assets and liabilities is recognised as follows:

2.18.1 Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchonge for transferring
ooods or services to a customer.

Besides general insurance activity, the Company provides insurance-based unit linked savings and investment products. Revenue
from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods and services are transferred to the customer at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Company is entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Revenue arising from investment management, administration and other related services offered by the Company in relation to
investment contracts is recognised in the accounting period in which the contractual performance obligations ore satisfied. Fees
consist primarily of investment management and policy administration fees arising from services rendered in conjunction with the
issue and management of investment contracts where the Company actively manages, or subcontracts management to related
and third parties, the consideration received from its customers in order to attempt to generate a return commensurate with the
investment profile that the customer selected on origination of the instrument or varied subsequently. Investment management
services comprise the activity of choosing, and instigating trades in, financial instruments to be acquired by or sold from the
Company’s pools of assets notionally backing the investment component of its liabilities under investment contracts.
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2.17.3 Restriction of assets of the defined benefit fund 

As the fund is currently in surplus it has not been necessary to adjust the statement of financial position items as a result of the 
requirements of IFRIC 14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset issued by IASB's International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee. 
2.17.4 Fund amendment of the defined benefit fund 

There have been no post service costs or settlements in the financial year ending 31 December 2023 nor 31 December 2022, since 
the Pension Scheme is closed to the future accrual of benefits. 

2.17.5 Funding policy of the defined benefit fund 
The Company is the sole employer in the fund. Following the cessation of accrual of benefits with effect from 31 December 2010, 
regular contributions to the fund are no longer required. However, additional contributions are still made to cover any shortfalls 
that arise following each valuation. 

2.17.6 Liability to the defined benefit fund 

The Company is responsible for meeting the administration expenses incurred in the operation of the fund. On the withdrawal of 
the other participating employer from the fund. the Trustees would be responsible for deciding on the terms on which additional 
funding would be sought from the relevant employer or surplus funds disposed of. The Company has guaranteed that, In the 
event of winding up the fund. deferred members would receive at least standard transfer values after annuitisation of the pensions 
In payment and allowance for winding up costs. 

2.18 Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising in the course of the ordinary activities of the 
Company when those inflows result In an increase in equity, other than increases relating to contributions from equity participants. 
and Is recognition of the fair value of the services provided by the Company. Income other than that arising on recognition of the 
changes in the value of financial and insurance assets and liabilities is recognised as follows: 

2.18.I Revenue from contracts with customers 

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be 
recognised at on amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
aoods or services to a customer. 
Besides general insurance activity, the Company provides insurance-based unit linked savings and investment products. Revenue 
from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods and services are transferred to the customer at an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the Company is entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

Revenue arising from investment management, administration and other related services offered by the Company in relation to 
investment contracts is recognised in the accounting period in which the contractual performance obligations are satisfied. Fees 
consist primarily of investment management and policy administration fees arising from services rendered in conjunction with the 
issue and management of Investment contracts where the Company actively manages. or subcontracts management to related 
and third parties, the consideration received from its customers in order to attempt to generate a return commensurate with the 
investment profile that the customer selected on origination of the instrument or varied subsequently. Investment management 
services comprise the activity of choosing. and instigating trades In, financial instruments to be acquired by or sold from the 
Company's pools of assets notionally backing the investment component of its liabilities under investment contracts. 
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2.18.1 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Such activities generate revenue that is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contractual services being the
receipt of premiums for the rendering of these services. The amount recognised is the amount that best reflects the consideration.
which the Company expects to receive for the above services. In the cases of investment management fees and ongoing policy
administration fees, these services comprise an indeterminate number of acts over the life of the individual contracts, whereas the
performance obligations are satisfied over time. For practical purposes, the Company recognises these fees on a straight-line
basis over the rime of the contract. The Company charges its customers for investment management, administration and other
related services using the following different approaches:

Set-up fees are charged to policyholders on inception. Such fees are recognised as charged, as the set up activity constitutes a
sianificant act, which is assessed os a comoleted oerformance obliaatfon;

Initial or front-end fees that relate to the provision of investment services are deferred and recognised over the expected term of
the oolicv on a stroiaht-line basis.

Regular fees are charged to policyholders periodically (monthly, quarteriy or annually) either directly or by making a deduction
from invested funds. Regular charges billed in advance are recognised on a straight-line basis over the billing period, which is
deemed equivalent to the period over which the performance obligation is satisfied. Fees charged at the end of the period ore
accrued as a receivable that is offset against the financial liability when charged to the customer.

The Company also derives income from the services it provides in the establishment of investment contracts and the collection
and application of premium thereto. The Company defers the full amount of establishment fees received to date for regular
premium business and the initial fees received for single premium business. This is subsequenfly released in a straight-line method
over the expected period for which regular premium policy premiums will be collected or the amortisation period of 30 years for
single premium business. The balance of this contract liability is shown in Note 18.

2.18.1.1 Costs to obtain

Incremental directly attributable costs incurred in acquiring the contract, for example broker commissions, are amortised in a
straight line method over the premium payment term. This recognition treatment is consistent with amortising the full amount of
the administration fees during the initial period over the premium payment term, which are the revenues derived from the services
to the customer to which these costs to acquire relate. Broker commission on single premium business is also omortised in a
straight line method over the amortisation period of 30 years. The client incentive premium, which is a cost to the company at
inception is expensed at inception and thereafter amortised over the premium payment term.

2.18.2 Costs to fulfil

Costs to fulfil are those periodic specific costs relating directly to the contract only, for example renewal commissions. These are
expensed as they are incurred which is consistent with the satisfaction of the performance obligations which these costs are
utilised to satisfy, and the recognition of the related administration fee generated. This is also consistent with the treatment of the
related costs to acquire and administration fee at inception.
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2.18.1 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
Such activities generate revenue that is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contractual services being the 
receipt of premiums for the rendering of these services. The amount recognised is the amount that best reflects the consideration, 
which the Company expects to receive for the above services. In the coses of investment management fees and ongoing policy 
administration fees, these services comprise on indeterminate number of acts over the life of the individual contracts, whereas the 
performance obligations are satisfied over time. For practical purposes. the Company recognises these fees on a straight-line 
basis over the time of the contract. The Company charges its customers for investment management, administration and other 
related services using the following different approaches: 

Set-up fees are charged to policyholders on inception. Such fees are recognised as charged, as the set up activity constitutes a 
sianificant act. which is assessed as a completed performance obliaation; 
Initial or front-end fees that relate to the provision of investment services are deferred and recognised over the expected term of 
the oolicv on a straiaht-line basis. 

Regular fees are charged to policyholders periodically (monthly, quarterly or annually) either directly or by making a deduction 
from invested funds. Regular charges billed in advance are recognised on a straight-line basis over the billing period, which is 
deemed equivalent to the period over which the performance obligation is satisfied. Fees charged at the end of the period are 
accrued as a receivable that is offset against the financial liability when charged to the customer. 

The Company also derives income from the services it provides in the establishment of investment contracts and the collection 
and application of premium thereto. The Company defers the full amount of establishment fees received to date for regular 
premium business and the initial fees received for single premium business. This is subsequently released in a straight-line method 
over the expected period for which regular premium policy premiums will be collected or the amortisation period of 30 years for 
single premium business. The balance of this contract liability is shown in Note 18. 

2.18.1.1 Costs to obtain 
Incremental directly attributable costs incurred in acquiring the conlroct, for example broker commissions. are amortised in a 
straight line method over the premium payment term. This recognition treatment is consistent with amortising the full amount of 
the administration fees during the initial period over the premium payment term, which are the revenues derived from the services 
to the customer to which these costs to acquire relate. Broker commission on single premium business is also amortised in a 
straight line method over the amortisation period of 30 years. The client incentive premium, which is a cost to the company at 
Inception is expensed at inception and thereafter amortised over the premium payment term. 

2.18.2 Costs to fulfil 

Costs to fulfil are those periodic specific costs relating directly to the contract only, for example renewal commissions. These are 
expensed as they are incurred which is consistent with the satisfaction of the performance obligations which these costs are 
utilised to satisfy, and the recognition of the related administration fee generated. This is also consistent with the treatment of the 
related costs to acquire and administration fee at inception. 
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2.18.2 Interest income

Interest income for financial assets is reconnised usinq the effective interest method.

2.19 Related party relationships and transactions

Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the Company and its related parties.
regardless of whether a price is charged.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the
other party in making financial and operating decisions. These parties include:

(a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common
control with the Company;

(b( individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Company that gives them significant influence
over the Company and close members of the family of any such individual: and.

(c) the Company’s funded retirement plan.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship and not merely to
the legal form.

2.20 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are recognised and measured in terms of lAS 37. Provisions are recognised
when there is a present obligation due to a past event and it is probable that on oufflow of cash or other economic resources will
be required to settle the obligation, If an outflow is not probable or a reliable estimate of the amounts cannot be made, then it will
be treated as a contingent liability.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed by uncertain future events that are not wholly
within the control of the Company. An example is litigation against the entity when it is uncertain whether the entity has
committed an act of wrongdoing and when it is not probable that settlement will be needed.

Contingent assets are possible assets that arises from post events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. Contingent assets are not
recognised in the financial statements unless the realisation of income is virtually certain.

3. Critical occounflnQ estimates and IudQments In oi,pIyln accountinq policies

The Company makes assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported within the financial sfatements.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1 Critical accounting judgements

a) Functional currency
As nofed in 2.3.1 management considered the Company’s functional currency to be Pounds Sterling based on various
considerations including the economic environment in which the Company operates.

Given the Company has significant operations in jurisdictions not based in Pounds Sterling, the selection of the functional currency
is a critical judgement and accordingly management will continue to assess the functional currency in future periods to ensure it
continues to reflect events and conditions relevant to the Company.

An analysis to show the sensitivity of the Company’s equity to currency movements is shown in note 4.6.3.
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2.18.2 Interest income 

Interest income for financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. 

2.19 Related party relationships and transactions 

Related party transactions are transfers of resources. services or obligations between the Company and its related parties, 
regardless of whether a price is charged. 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant Influence over the 
other party in making financial and operating decisions. lhese parties include: 

(a) individuals owning. directly or Indirectly through one or more intermediaries. control or are controlled by. or under common 
control with the Company; 
(b) individuals owning. directly or Indirectly. an interest in the voting power of the Company that gives them significant influence 
over the Company and close members of the family of any such Individual; and. 
(c) the Company's funded retirement plan. 

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship and not merely to 
the legal form. 

2.20 Provisions, contingent liablllties and contingent assets 

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are recognised and measured in terms of IAS 37. Provisions are recognised 
when there is a present obligation due to a past event and it is probable that an outflow of cash or other economic resources will 
be required to settle the obligation. If an outflow is not probable or a reliable estimate of the amounts cannot be made. then it will 
be treated as a contingent liability. 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed by uncertain future events that are not wholly 
within the control of the Company. An example is litigation against the entity when it is uncertain whether the entity has 
committed an act of wrongdoing and when it is not probable that settlement will be needed. 

Contingent assets are possible assets that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. Contingent assets are not 
recognised in the financial statements unless the realisation of income is virtually certain. 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting pollcles 

The Company makes assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported within the financial statements. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors. including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

3.1 Critical accounting Judgements 

a) Functional currency 
As noted in 2.3.1 management considered the Company's functional currency to be Pounds Sterling based on various 
considerations including the economic environment in which the Company operates. 

Given the Company has significant operations in jurisdictions not based in Pounds Sterling, the selection of the functional currency 
is a critical judgement and accordingly management will continue to assess the functional currency in future periods to ensure it 
continues to reflect events and conditions relevant to the Company. 

An analysis to show the sensitivity of the Company's equity to currency movements is shown in note 4.6.3. 
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3.1 Critical accounting judgemenfs (continued)

bJ Product classification
The Company’s classification between which products are insurance contracts and which are investment contracts is detailed in
notes 2.12. This is a critical judgement for the Company given the classification dictates the relevant presentation and
measurement that is applied to each type of contract in the financial statements,

ci Evaluation of business model applied in manaqing financial instruments
The Company developed business models which reflect how it manages its portfolio of financial instruments. The Company’s
business models need not be assessed at entity level or as a whole but shall be applied at the level of a portfolio of financial
instruments (i.e.. group of financial instruments that are managed together by the Company) and not on on instrument-by-
instrument basis (i.e., not based on intention or specific characteristics of individual financial instrument).

In determining the classification of a financial instrument under IFRS 9. the Company evaluates in which business model a financial
instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments belong to taking into consideration the objectives of each business model
established by the Company (e.g., held-for-trading, generating accrual income, direct matching to a specific liability) as those
relate to the Company’s investment and trading strategies.

3.2 Critical accounting esfimates

a) Insurance contract liabilities & reinsurance contract assets

Insurance contract liability accounting is discussed in more detail in accounting policies 2.1.1 and 2.14 with further detail of the key
assumptions made in determining insurance contract liabilities included in note 20.

Critical amongst these are the assumptions underpinning the classification ot a contract as insurance or investment, in
accordance with the definitions given in note 2.12, and critical assumptions, as discussed in note 19.2.

Reinsurance contract liability accounting is discussed in more detail in accounting policies 2.14.

b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are measured and accounted for as set out in accounting policies 2.7, 2.8 and 2.9.
Where possible, financial assets and liabilities are valued on the basis of listed market prices by reference to quoted market bid
prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities (mid for policyholder liabilities), without any deduction for transaction costs. These
are categorised as Level 1 financial instruments and do not involve estimates, It prices are not readily determinable, fair values
are determined using valuation techniques including the last available quoted price, reduced in line with the company’s write-
down policy. Financial instruments valued where valuation techniques are based on observable market data at the period end
are categorised as Level 2 financial instruments. Financial instruments valued where valuation techniques are based on non-
observable inputs are categorised as Level 3 financial instruments. Level 2 and Level 3 financial instruments therefore involve the
use of estimates and notes 2.7 and 4.7 provides further disclosures on fair value hierarchy and assumptions used to determine tair
values.

cI Deferred income liability (DILl
Deferred income liability (DIL) is front-end fees received from investment contract holders as a pre-payment for asset
management and related services and to cover initial broker commission, These amounts are non-refundable and are released
to income as the services are rendered.

The methodology applied to calculate the DIL is based on the initial units allocated on regular premium Vision and initial fees
received on Single premium business, amortised in a straight-line method over the premium payment term or the amortisation
period of 30 years for single premium business.

d) Deferred acquisition costs (DAC)
Deferred acquisition cost (DAC) is based on initial costs incurred by the Company and relates to investment contract holders.
These initial costs comprise of initial commission and client incentive premium. Initial commission is commission payable to the
broker at the outset of the policy. The client incentive premium was provided to certain Vision contract holders at the outset of
the policy. This regular premium is an incentive whereby the contract holder benefited from one to three months tree premium at
policy inception depending on the premium payment term and premium amount.

The methodology applied to calculate the DAC is based on the initial commission paid for regular and single premium business
and the cost of the client incentive premium on Vision, amorfised in a straight-line method over the premium payment term for
Vision and 30 years for single premium business.
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3.1 Critical accounting Judgements (continued) 

bl Product classification 
The Company's classification between which products ore insurance contracts and which ore investment contracts is detailed in 
notes 2.12. This is a critical judgement for the Company given the classification dictates the relevant presentation and 
measurement that is applied to each type of contract in the financial statements. 

c) Evaluation of business model applied in managing financial instruments 
The Company developed business models which reflect how It manages its portfolio of financial instruments. The Company's 
business models need not be assessed at entity level or as a whole but shall be applied at the level of a portfolio of financial 
instruments (i.e., group of financial instruments that are managed together by the Company) and not on an instrument-by­ 
instrument basis (i.e., not based on intention or specific characteristics of individual financial instrument). 

In determining the classification of a financial Instrument under IFRS 9, the Company evaluates In which business model a financial 
instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments belong to taking into consideration the objectives of each business model 
established by the Company (e.g., held-for-trading, generating accrual income, direct matching to a specific liability) as those 
relate to the Company's investment and trading strategies. 

3.2 Critical accounting estimates 

oJ Insurance contract liabilities & reinsurance contract assets 
Insurance contract liability accounting is discussed in more detail in accounting policies 2.1.1 and 2.14 with further detail of the key 
assumptions made in determining insurance contract liabilities included in note 20. 

Critical amongst these ore the assumptions underpinning the classification of a contract as insurance or Investment, In 
accordance with the definitions given in note 2.12, and critical assumptions, as discussed in note 19 .2. 

Reinsurance contract liability accounting is discussed in more detail in accounting policies 2.14. 

bJ fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are measured and accounted for as set out in accounting policies 2.7, 2.8 and 2.9. 
Where possible, financial assets and liabilities are valued on the basis of listed market prices by reference to quoted market bid 
prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities (mid for policyholder liabilities), without any deduction for transaction costs. These 
are categorised as Level 1 financial instruments and do not involve estimates. If prices are not readily determinable. fair values 
are determined using valuation techniques including the last available quoted price, reduced in line with the company's write­ 
down policy. Financial instruments valued where valuation techniques are based on observable market data at the period end 
are categorised as Level 2 financial instruments. Financial instruments valued where valuation techniques are based on non­ 
observable inputs are categorised as Level 3 financial instruments. Level 2 and Level 3 financial Instruments therefore involve the 
use of estimates and notes 2.7 and 4.7 provides further disclosures on fair value hierarchy and assumptions used to determine fair 
values. 

c) Deferred income liability [DIL 
Deferred Income liability (DIL) Is front-end fees received from investment contract holders as a pre-payment for asset 
management and related services and to cover initial broker commission. These amounts are non-refundable and are released 
to Income as the services are rendered. 

The methodology applied to calculate the DIL is based on the initial units allocated on regular premium Vision and initial fees 
received on Single premium business, amortised in a straight-line method over the premium payment term or the amortisation 
period of 30 years for single premium business. 

d) Deferred acquisition costs (DAC) 
Deferred acquisition cost (DAG) is based on initial costs incurred by the Company and relates to investment contract holders. 
These initial costs comprise of initial commission and client incentive premium. Initial commission is commission payable to the 
broker at the outset of the policy. The client incentive premium was provided to certain Vision contract holders at the outset of 
the policy. This regular premium is an incentive whereby the contract holder benefited from one to three months free premium at 
policy Inception depending on the premium payment term and premium amount. 

The methodology applied to calculate the DAG is based on the initial commission paid for regular and single premium business 
and the cost of the client incentive premium on Vision, amortised in a straight-tine method over the premium payment term for 
Vision and 30 years for single premium business. 
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3.2 CrItical accounting estimates (continued)

e) Determination of appropriate discount rate in measuring lease liabilities
The Company measures its lease liabilities at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date
at the lease contract. The lease payments are discounted using a reasonable rate deemed by management to be equal to the
Company’s incremental borrowing rate. In determining a reasonable discount rate, management considers the term of the leases.
the underlying asset and the economic environment. Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates bought
about by changes in such factors.

f) Estimation of allowance for ECL
The measurement of the allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost and FA at FVOCI is an area that requires the use
of significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g., likelihood of customers defaulting and
the resulting losses). Explanation regarding the allowance for ECL is discussed further in Note 4.4.

01 Impairment of non-financial assets
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or a cash-generating unit based on
expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Estimation uncertainty
relates to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rate (see note 20). Though
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in those assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values
and any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations.

Impairment losses recognized on the Investments in Subsidiaries, Right-of-Use Assets and Property and Equipment accounts are
discussed in Notes 9 and 6, respectively.

h) Valuation of post-employment defined benefit asset
The determination of the Company’s asset and obligation and cost of post-employment defined benefit is dependent on the
selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, among others,
discount rates, expected rate of return on plan assets, salary rate increase, and employee turnover rate. A significant change in
any of these actuarial assumptions may generally affect the recognised expense, other comprehensive income or losses and the
carrying amount of the post-employment benefit obligation in the next reporting period.

The amounts of post-employment benefit obligation and expense and an analysis of the movements in the estimated present
value of post-employment benefit, as well as the significant assumptions used in estimating such obligation are presented in Note
17.

ii Income tax positions
The Company operates as stated in multiple jurisdictions in multiple currencies. For each jurisdiction in which the Company
operates there is a different tax regime which requires a different local calculation of the Company’s taxable profits. Therefore,
management deem it necessary to consider each jurisdiction independently for the purposes of tax. Where necessary the
Company chooses to consult with specialist tax advisors to ensure that all calculations of tax are prepared in accordance with
local requirements.

The taxable profit is provided to the relevant tax authorities on the basis of the local accounting standards and audited financial
statements and adjusted as required in each jurisdiction in which the Company operates.
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3.2 Critical accounting estimates (continued) 

e) Determination of appropriate discount rate in measuring lease liabilities 
The Company measures its lease liabilities at present value of the lease payments that ore not paid at the commencement dote 
of the lease contract. The lease payments ore discounted using a reasonable rate deemed by management to be equal to the 
Company's incremental borrowing rate. In determining a reasonable discount rate, management considers the term of the leases, 
the underlying asset and the economic environment. Actual results. however, may vary due to changes in estimates bought 
about by changes in such factors. 

fl Estimation of allowance for ECL 
The measurement of the allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost and FA at FVOCI is an area that requires the use 
of significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g., likelihood of customers defaulting and 
the resulting losses). Explanation regarding the allowance for ECL is discussed further in Note 4.4. 

al lmoairment of non-financial assets 
In assessing impairment. management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or a cash-generating unit based on 
expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Estimation uncertainty 
relates to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rote (see note 20). Though 
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected In the financial statements are 
appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in those assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values 
and any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations. 

Impairment losses recognized on the Investments in Subsidiaries. Right-of-Use Assets and Property and Equipment accounts are 
discussed in Notes 9 and 6, respectively. 

h) Valuation of post-employment defined benefit asset 
The determination of the Company's asset and obligation and cost of post-employment defined benefit is dependent on the 
selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include. among others, 
discount rates, expected rate of return on plan assets, salary rate increase. and employee turnover rate. A significant change in 
any of these actuarial assumptions may generally affect the recognised expense, other comprehensive income or losses and the 
carrying amount of the post-employment benefit obligation In the next reporting period. 

The amounts of post-employment benefit obligation and expense and an analysis of the movements in the estimated present 
value of post-employment benefit, as well as the significant assumptions used in estimating such obligation are presented in Note 
17. 

i) Income tax positions 
The Company operates as stated in multiple jurisdictions in multiple currencies. For each jurisdiction in which the Company 
operates there is a different tax regime which requires a different local calculation of the Company's taxable profits. Therefore, 
management deem it necessary to consider each jurisdiction independently for the purposes of tax. Where necessary the 
Company chooses to consult with specialist tax advisors to ensure that all calculations of tax are prepared in accordance with 
local requirements. 

The taxable profit is provided to the relevant tax authorities on the basis of the local accounting standards and audited financial 
statements and adjusted as required in each jurisdiction in which the Company operates. 
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3.2 CritIcal accounting estimates (continued)

I) Income tax positions (continued)

The Company reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the carrying amount of any
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Management assessed that there are no deferred tax assets recognised as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 as there is not sufficient taxable income in the respective jurisdictions, which these arose from.

During 2023, the Company recognised a deferred tax liability on future profits expected to emerge from the Swiss Branch. The Swiss
Branch actuarial reserves are prepared on a more prudent basis than IFRS reserves and therefore a large profit is expected to
emerge as the book runs off and the non-unit reserve (NUR) unwinds. The previous approach to recognising deferred tax liabilities
and therefore the taxable value of in-force policies (PVFP) was determined based on the difference between the unit reserve and
the Solvency II best estimate of liability (511 BEL). This approach did not take into account the prudent NUR. The current approach
recognises the impact of the unwind of the NUR on the profits payable in Switzerland. This deferred tax balance recognised in
2023 represents an lAS 8 change in accounting policy, as management has elected to amend the accounting policy related to
future profits expected to emerge from the Swiss Branch. This is a prospective application only.

j) Fair Value Approach to IFRS 17 balance sheet
The transition balance sheet to IFRS 17 as at 1 January 2022 has been prepared using the Fair Value Approach for all in-scope
business as it is impracticable to use the Fully Retrospective Approach because it is not possible to determine a Risk Adjustment at
historic reporting dates. This is a key judgment taken by the Company in preparing the transition balance sheet.

In note 18. payables relating to investment contracts include judgements on potential future client compensation, and during the
prior year, uncertainty relating to required regulatory provisions which have subsequently been released after regulatory approval.

4. Manaaement of insurance and financial risk

The Company issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. This section summarises these risks and the way
the Company manages them.

4.l Insurance risk

Insurance risk is based on uncertainty, which must exist in at least one of the following ways at the inception of an insurance
contract:

i. whether an insured event will (or will not) occur:
ii. when it will occur: or
iii. how much the insurer will need to pay if it occurs (or does not occur)

Across a portfolio of insurance risks, the overall outcome generally becomes more certain, and suitable for statistical analysis. The
Company has developed its underwriting strategies and other management techniques to mitigate the Company’s exposure to
insurance risk. The sensitivity of the financial results to the main insurance risks can be found in note 20.

4.1.1 Insurance risk manaqement
The Company’s insurance products are designed to ensure that policies are unambiguous, and hence minimise the risk of the
insurance cover having greater scope than that originally intended. Included within the design process are a number of
technical, legal and compliance reviews with such risk mitigation as one of the specific aims.

Prior to or at inception, insurance contracts under which the Company accepts significant risk are subjected to an underwriting
process. This aims not only to ensure that business is correctly priced, but also to ensure that risk concentrations are identified and
exposure limits are not breached. Where necessary, risk is transferred using reinsurance. The Company uses reinsurance for
several purposes. In some instances, it is used to decrease the deviation from average claim size for a line of business. This
reduces volatility of the result, subject to performance by the reinsurer. In other areas. reinsurance is used to limit the Company’s
exposure to catastrophe, such as multiple deaths under a group life policy. During the financial period, the Company only
purchased cover from reinsurers that met the requirements as set out in the Utmost Worldwide Risk Appetite Statement.

42

UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

All amounts in £'000 

unless otherwise stated 

3.2 Critical accounting estimates (continued) 

I} Income fax positions (continued} 

The Company reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and reduces the carrying amount of any 
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Management assessed that there are no deferred tax assets recognised as at 31 December 
2023 and 2022 as there is not sufficient taxable income in the respective jurisdictions, which these arose from. 

During 2023, the Company recognised a deferred tax liability on future profits expected to emerge from the Swiss Branch. The Swiss 
Branch actuarial reserves are prepared on a more prudent basis than IFRS reserves and therefore a large profit ls expected to 
emerge as the book runs off and the non-unit reserve (NUR) unwinds. The previous approach to recognising deferred tax liabilities 
and therefore the taxable value of in-force policies (PVFP) was determined based on the difference between the unit reserve and 
the Solvency II best estimate of liability (SIi BEL). This approach did not take into account the prudent NUR. The current approach 
recognises the impact of the unwind of the NUR on the profits payable in Switzerland. This deferred tax balance recognised in 
2023 represents an IAS 8 change In accounting policy, as management has elected to amend the accounting policy related to 
future profits expected to emerge from the Swiss Branch. This is a prospective application only. 

j} Fair Value Approach to IFRS 17 balance sheet 
The transition balance sheet to IFRS 17 as at 1 January 2022 has been prepared using the Fair Value Approach for all in-scope 
business as it is impracticable to use the Fully Retrospective Approach because it is not possible to determine a Risk Adjustment at 
historic reporting dates. This is a key judgment taken by the Company in preparing the transition balance sheet. 

In note 18, payables relating to investment contracts include judgements on potential future client compensation, and during the 
prior year, uncertainty relating to required regulatory provisions which have subsequently been released after regulatory approval. 

4. Management of insurance and financial risk 

The Company issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. This section summarises these risks and the way 
the Company manages them. 

4.1 Insurance risk 

Insurance risk is based on uncertainty, which must exist in at least one of the following ways at the inception of an insurance 
contract: 

i. whether an insured event will (or will not) occur; 
II. when it will occur; or 
Ill. how much the Insurer will need to pay if it occurs (or does not occur) 

Across a portfolio of insurance risks. the overall outcome generally becomes more certain, and suitable for statistical analysis. The 
Company has developed its underwriting strategies and other management techniques to mitigate the Company's exposure to 
insurance risk. The sensitivity of the financial results to the main insurance risks can be found in note 20. 

4.1.1 Insurance risk management 
The Company's insurance products are designed to ensure that policies are unambiguous, and hence minimise the risk of the 
insurance cover having greater scope than that originally intended. Included within the design process are a number of 
technical, legal and compliance reviews with such risk mitigation as one of the specific aims. 

Prior to or at inception, insurance contracts under which the Company accepts significant risk are subjected to an underwriting 
process. This aims not only to ensure that business is correctly priced, but also to ensure that risk concentrations are identified and 
exposure limits are. not breached. Where necessary, risk is transferred using reinsurance. The Company uses reinsurance for 
several purposes. In some instances, It is used to decrease the deviation from average claim size for a line of business. This 
reduces volatility of the result, subject to performance by the reinsurer. In other areas, reinsurance is used to limit the Company's 
exposure to catastrophe, such as multiple deaths under a group life policy. During the financial period, the Company only 
purchased cover from reinsurers that met the requirements as set out in the Utmost Worldwide Risk Appetite Statement. 
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4.1.2 Insurance contracts - Genetal Measurement Model

4.1.2.1 Life annuities
The Company has a closed book of annuity business. The main insurance risk in this category is that of longevity. The mortality
experience is reviewed annually, and benchmarking is used to maintain provisions in line with up-to-date developments in life
expectancy for the types of lives covered. Assets are closely matched to the estimated liabilities to protect the Company against
interest rate risk for this class of business. Reinsurance is used to limit the Company’s risk exposure in respect of a single annuity
contract.

4. l.2.2 Grouo life and disability insurance
The Company provides a range of life and disability covers for commercial clients, including a wide variety of multi-national
organisations, with the main insurance risks introduced being mortality and morbidity. Policies are usually renewable annually, and
are subject to an underwriting process. The Company seeks to determine wttether risk concentrations exist, for example by looking
at the exposure to lives assured at single buildings or to concentrations within specific industry sectors. There is generally good
geographical diversity. The Company monitors the mortality and morbidity experience at least annually to ensure that the
provisions and pricing remain appropriate. The Company monitors its asset-liability matching in respect at its provisions for long-
term disability payments. Quota share and surplus reinsurance treaties- and catastrophe excess loss reinsuronce are used to limit
the Company’s risk exposure.

4.1.2.3 Non-life insurance
The Company has a legacy non-life insurance contract which covers a range of non-life coverages for a commercial client. The
Company reviews the claims experience to determine appropriate provisions. The Company has a stop loss reinsurance in place
to mitigate the potential aggregate loss.

4.1.3 Insurance contracts - Variable Fee Aoaroach

4.1.3.1 Savings contracts with deposit administration fund options
The Company offers savings funds to corporate clients and leavers, whose employees may select deposit administration funds or
unit linked funds that carry the option to switch info deposit administration funds. There is no significant insurance risk attached to
such contracts. However, the Company is also exposed to other risks of a financial nature, in particular those created by capital
and interest rate guarantees. These ore mitigated by actuarial review of bonus sustainability, limited duration and value of
guarantees, the imposition of performance monitoring against investment risk guidelines and the ability to impose market value
adjustments to withdrawals should they be judged necessary.

4.1.3.2 Individual unit-linked contracts with material insurance benefits
Individual unit-linked contracts with additional death benefits at least 10% are classified as insurance contracts under IFRS17 and
those with additional death benefits greater than 5% but below 10% are generally classed as insurance contracts but with
exceptions. These contracts represent a small minority of total individual unit-linked contracts, and are no longer sold. The main
insurance risk for this contract is that of mortality. The mortality experience is reviewed annually and used in the calculation of
provisions.

4.2 Financial risk

The Company is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, financial liabilities (investment contracts and borrowings),
reinsurance assets and insurance liabilities. The most significant risks relate to market risk and currency risk. The Company
segregates various asset and liability categories so that they can be matched, with the aim of minimising the interest rate risk whilst
maintaining an appropriate credit quality within each segregated portfolio. Such matching focuses on the typical duration of
each class of liabilities, and seeks to ensure that the associated assets’ characteristics are similar in nature. Equity price risk is
naturally hedged in some areas, in particular the exposure to unit linked contract holders, as the liability fluctuates in a near-
identical fashion. The Company also retains some indirect equity price risk through the investments underlying its defined benefit
pension scheme. Other risks, namely currency, liquidity and cash flow interest rate risk are either controlled at an operational level
by the day-to-day application of risk management policies and procedures or overseen by the Board Investment Committee. The
financial assets, which are most exposed to financial risk, are the investments in subsidiaries, reinsurance contract assets and
receivables arising out of direct insurance operations and due from contract holders.
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4.1.2 Insurance contracts - General Measurement Model 

4.1.2.1 Life annuities 
The Company has a closed book of annuity business. The main insurance risk in this category is that of longevity. The mortality 
experience is reviewed annually, and benchmarking is used lo maintain provisions in line with up-to-dale developments in life 
expectancy for the types of lives covered. Assets are closely matched lo the estimated liabilities to protect the Company against 
interest rate risk for this class of business. Reinsurance is used to limit the Company's risk exposure in respect of a single annuity 
contract. 

4.1.2.2 Group life and disability insurance 
The Company provides a range of life and disability covers for commercial clients, including a wide variety of multi-national 
organisations, with the main insurance risks introduced being mortality and morbidity. Policies ore usually renewable annually. and 
are subject lo an underwriting process. The Company seeks to determine whether risk concentrations exist, for example by looking 
al the exposure lo lives assured at single buildings or lo concentrations within specific industry sectors. There is generally good 
geographical diversity. The Company monitors the mortality and morbidity experience at least annually to ensure that the 
provisions and pricing remain appropriate. The Company monitors its asset-liability matching in respect of Its provisions for long­ 
term disability payments. Quota share and surplus reinsurance treaties- and catastrophe excess loss reinsurance are used to limit 
the Company's risk exposure. 

4.1.2.3 Non-life insurance 
The Company has a legacy non-life insurance contract which covers a range of non-life coverages for a commercial client. The 
Company reviews the claims experience to determine appropriate provisions. The Company has a stop loss reinsurance in place 
to mitigate the potential aggregate loss. 

4.1.3 Insurance contracts - Variable Fee Approach 

4.1.3.1 Savings contracts with deposit administration fund options 
The Company offers savings funds to corporate clients and leavers. whose employees may select deposit administration funds or 
unit linked funds that carry the option to switch into deposit administration funds. There is no significant insurance risk attached to 
such contracts. However. the Company is also exposed to other risks of a financial nature, in particular those created by capitol 
and interest rate guarantees. These ore mitigated by actuarial review of bonus sustainability, limited duration and value of 
guarantees, the imposition of performance monitoring against investment risk guidelines and the ability to impose market value 
adjustments lo withdrawals should they be judged necessary. 

4.1.3.2 Individual unit-linked contracts with material insurance benefits 
Individual unit-linked contracts with additional death benefits al least 10% are classified as insurance contracts under IFRS17 and 
those with additional death benefits greater than 5% but below 10% are generally classed as insurance contracts but with 
exceptions. These contracts represent a small minority of total individual unit-linked contracts, and are no longer sold. The main 
insurance risk for this contract is that of mortality. The mortality experience is reviewed annually and used in the calculation of 
provisions. 

4.2 Financial risk 

The Company Is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, financial liabilities (investment contracts and borrowings}, 
reinsurance assets and insurance liabilities. The most significant risks relate lo market risk and currency risk. The Company 
segregates various asset and liability categories so that they can be matched. with the aim of minimising the interest rate risk whilst 
maintaining an appropriate credit quality within each segregated portfolio. Such matching focuses on the typical duration of 
each class of liabilities, and seeks to ensure that the associated assets' characteristics are similar in nature. Equity price risk is 
naturally hedged in some areas, in particular the exposure to unit linked contract holders. as the liability fluctuates in a near­ 
identical fashion. The Company also retains some indirect equity price risk through the investments underlying its defined benefit 
pension scheme. Other risks, namely currency, liquidity and cash flow interest rate risk are either controlled at an operational level 
by the day-to-day application of risk management policies and procedures or overseen by the Board Investment Committee. The 
financial assets. which ore most exposed to financial risk. ore the investments in subsidiaries. reinsurance contract assets and 
receivables arising out of direct insurance operations and due from contract holders. 
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4.2.7 Financial risk management
The Company maintains its monetary assets other than accwed income in short term instruments and fixed income investments,
such as cash, term deposits and bonds. It manages exposure to foreign currency by converting its income to the reporting
currency.

The Company manages these positions within an asset liability management (ACM) framework that has been developed to
achieve both efficient matching of financial liabilities to investment contract holders and of the investment element of insurance
liabilities to insurance contract holders, and to achieve long-term investment returns in excess of its obligations under insurance
and investment contracts.

Within the ALM framework, the Company periodically produces reports at portfolio, legal entity and asset and liability class level
that are circulated to the Company’s key management personnel. The principal technique of the Company’s ALM is to match
assets to the key characteristics, these being duration and currency for non-linked products. For each distinct class of liabilities, a
separate portfolio of assets is maintained. Credit risk is also managed at a portfolio level. The Company has not materially
changed the processes used to manage its risks from previous periods.

The Company’s ALM is integrated with the management of the financial risks associated with the Company’s other classes of
financial assets and liabilities not directly associated with insurance and investment liabilities. The notes below explain how
financial risks are managed using the categories utilised in the Company’s ALM framework. In particular, the ALM Framework
requires the management of interest rate risk, equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk at the portfolio level. Foreign currency is
managed on both a portfolio level and a company wide basis. To reflect the Company risk management approach, the required
disclosures for interest rate, equity price and liquidity risks are given separately for each portfolio of the ACM Framework. Credit risk
disclosures are provided for the whole Company in note 4.4.

Fixed and auaranteed investment contracts
Investment contracts with guaranteed and fixed terms have benefit payments that ore fixed and guaranteed at the inception of
the contract. The financial component of these benefits is usually a guaranteed fixed interest rate (for the insurance contracts, this
rate may apply to maturity and/or death benefits) and hence the Company’s primary financial risk on these contracts is the risk
that interest income and capital redemptions from the financial assets backing the liabilities is insufficient to fund the guaranteed
benefits payable.

4.2.2 Unit-linked contracts
For unit-linked contracts, the Company matches all the assets on which the unit prices are based with assets in the portfolio.

The Company’s exposure to market risk (being primarily interest rate, equity price and currency risks) from these contracts is in the
risk of volatility in asset management fees due to the impact of interest rate, equity price and currency movements on the fair
value of the assets held in the linked funds, on which investment management fees are based.
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4.2.1 Financial risk management 
The Company maintains its monetary assets other than accrued income in short term instruments end fixed income investments. 
such cs cash, term deposits end bonds. It menages exposure to foreign currency by converting its incame to the reporting 
currency. 

The Company manages these positions within an asset liability management (ALM] framework that has been developed to 
achieve both efficient matching of financial liabilities to Investment contract holders end of the investment element of insurance 
liabilities to insurance contract holders, end to achieve long-term investment returns in excess of its obligations under insurance 
and investment contracts. 

Within the ALM framework, the Company periodically produces reports at portfolio, legal entity and asset and liability class level 
that are circulated to the Company's key management personnel. The principal technique of the Company's ALM is to match 
assets to the key characteristics, these being duration and currency for non-linked products. For each distinct class of liabilities, a 
separate portfolio of assets is maintained. Credit risk is also managed at a portfolio level. The Company hos not materially 
changed the processes used to menage its risks from previous periods. 

The Company's ALM Is integrated with the management of the financial risks associated with the Company's other classes of 
financial assets and liabilities not directly associated with insurance and investment liabilities. The notes below explain how 
financial risks are managed using the categories utilised in the Company's ALM framework. In particular, the ALM Framework 
requires the management of interest rate risk, equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk at the portfolio level. Foreign currency is 
managed on both a portfolio level and a company wide basis. To reflect the Company risk management approach, the required 
disclosures for interest rote, equity price and liquidity risks ore given separately for each portfolio of the ALM Framework. Credit risk 
disclosures ere provided for the whole Company in note 4.4. 

Fixed and auoranteed investment contracts 
Investment contracts with guaranteed end fixed terms hove benefit payments that ore fixed and guaranteed at the inception of 
the contract. The financial component of these benefits Is usually a guaranteed fixed interest rate (for the insurance contracts, this 
rate may apply to maturity and/or death benefits] and hence the Company's primary financial risk on these contracts is the risk 
that Interest income and capitol redemptions from the financial assets backing the liabilities is insufficient to fund the guaranteed 
benefits payable. 

4.2.2 Unit-linked contracts 
For unit-linked contracts, the Company matches all the assets on which the unit prices are based with assets in the portfolio. 

The Company's exposure to market risk (being primarily Interest rate, equity price and currency risks) from these contracts is in the 
risk of volatility in asset management fees due to the impact of interest rate, equity price end currency movements on the fair 
value of the assets held in the linked funds, on which investment management fees ore based. 
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4.3 Capital management

The Utmost Group Capital Management Policy and the Company’s Capital Management Standard set out the framework within
which the Company manages its capital position. Capital is managed under the framework requirements to meet the strategic
objectives of both the Company and Utmost Group. These objectives include meeting all regulatory solvency requirements on an
ongoing basis, while maintaining adequate margins to absorb short term fluctuations arising from changes in market, economic or
other factors, and providing returns to shareholders. The Company periodically reviews the capital position and annually updates
its medium-term capital management plan.

The regulatory solvency requirements are determined, ptincipally, in accordance with the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of
Guernsey) Law, 2002, as amended, and The Insurance Solvency Rules 2021 as well as with regard to similar requirements relating to
the specific activities in other jurisdictions in which the Company is licensed. The Company is permitted under The Insurance
Solvency Rules 2021 to adopt one of a number of recognised standard formulae in calculation of its solvency capital requirement.
The Company has adopted the UK Solvency II requirements, as set by the Prudential Regulation Authority, in relation to the
calculation of its capital requirements, and has received consent from the Guernsey Financial Services Commission, as set out in
letters dated 10 December 2015 and 11 October 2021, to apply the UK Solvency II methodology in the determination of its
available capital.

The UK Solvency II capital requirement considers market, credit, counterparty, underwriting and operational risks, and application
of the standard formula itself is considered generally appropriate as an approach to determining the Company’s overall capital
requirement.

The Company is required by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission to maintain at all times a solvency ratio of at least 135%,
and the Company’s Capital Management Standard sets out a commitment to maintain a solvency ratio of at least 150%
immediately following the payment of any dividend.

The provisional solvency ratio is summarised below, and is not subject to the audit:

2023 2022
Provisional funaudifed)
(unaudited)

Eligible own funds (available capital) 317,130 303,331
Solvency capital requirement 165,594 159203

Solvency II ratio 191.5% 190.5%

The Company was compliant throughout the period with all capital requirements in the jurisdictions in which it is licensed.
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4.3 Capital management 

The Utmost Group Capital Management Policy and the Company's Capital Management Standard set out the framework within 
which the Company manages its capital position. Capital is managed under the framework requirements to meet the strategic 
objectives of both the Company and Utmost Group. These objectives include meeting all regulatory solvency requirements on an 
ongoing basis, while maintaining adequate margins to absorb short term fluctuations arising from changes in market, economic or 
other factors. and providing returns to shareholders. The Company periodically reviews the capital position and annually updates 
its medium-term capital management plan. 

The regulatory solvency requirements are determined. principally, in accordance with the insurance Business (Bailiwick of 
Guernsey) Law, 2002. as amended, and The Insurance Solvency Rules 2021 as well as with regard to similar requirements relating to 
the specific activities in other jurisdictions in which the Company is licensed. The Company is permitted under The Insurance 
Solvency Rules 2021 to adopt one of a number of recognised standard formulae in calculation of its solvency capital requirement. 
The Company has adopted the UK Solvency II requirements. as set by the Prudential Regulation Authority, in relation to the 
calculation of its capital requirements. and hos received consent from the Guernsey Financial Services Commission. as set out in 
letters dated 10 December 2015 and 11 October 2021, to apply the UK Solvency II methodology in the determination of its 
available capital. 

The UK Solvency Ill capital requirement considers market, credit, counterparty, underwriting and operational risks, and application 
of the standard formula itself is considered generally appropriate as on approach to determining the Company's overall capital 
requirement. 

The Company is required by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission to maintain at all times a solvency ratio of at least 135%, 
and the Company's Capital Management Standard sets out o commitment to maintain o solvency ratio of at least 150% 
Immediately following the payment of any dividend. 

The provisional solvency ratio is summarised below. and is not subject to the audit: 

Eligible own funds (available capital) 
Solvency capital requirement 

Solvency II ratio 

2023 
Provisional 

(unaudited) 

317,130 
165,594 

191.5% 

2022 
(unaudited) 

303.331 
159,203 

190.5% 

The Company was compliant throughout the period with all capital requirements in the jurisdictions in which it is licensed. 
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4.4 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument, insurance contract issued in an asset position or reinsurance contract
held will cause a financial lass tot the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Company’s exposure to credit risk.

Key
— debt security holdinas;
— loans and advances;
— amounts due under insurance contracts;
— reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities;

The Company structures the levels of credit risk it accepts by placing limits on its exposure to a single counterparty, or groups of
counterparties, and to differently rated debt securities. Limits on the levels of credit risk for the financial period were based on
guidelines issued by Utmost Group, with modification where appropriate to the circumstances of the Company. The Risk
Management function conies out monitoring of adherence to the guidelines. The Board Investment Committee undertakes credit
assessment in respect of the credit exposures.

Credit risk relating to financial instruments is monitored by the Company’s investment team and the Risk Management function, It
is their responsibility to review and manage credit risk, including environmental risk for all counterparties. The Company manages
and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparfies, and by monitoring
exposures in relation to such limits. It is the Company’s policy to invest in high quality financial instruments with a low risk of default.

The strength of reinsurers is monitored on a quarterly basis, Individual contracts are considered on a case by case where
necessary.

The nature of the Company’s exposure to credit risks and ifs objectives, policies and processes used to manage and measure the
risks have not changed from the previous period.

The Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are set out below along with the credit rating category of the issuer or
counterparty.

Credit ratings are applied consistently tot various asset classes in line with rules set out in the Company’s risk appetite framework.
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4.4 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument, insurance contract issued in an asset position or reinsurance contract 
held will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. 

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Company's exposure to credit risk. 

Kev 
debt security holdinas; 
loans and advances; 
amounts due under insurance contracts; 
reinsurers' share of insurance liabilities; 

The Company structures the levels of credit risk it accepts by placing limits on its exposure to a single counterparty, or groups of 
counterparties, and to differently rated debt securities. Limits on the levels of credit risk for the financial period were based on 
guidelines issued by Utmost Group. with modification where appropriate to the circumstances of the Company. The Risk 
Management function carries out monitoring of adherence to the guidelines. The Board Investment Committee undertakes credit 
assessment In respect of the credit exposures. 

Credit risk relating to financial instruments is monitored by the Company's investment team and the Risk Management function. It 
is their responsibility to review and manage credit risk. including environmental risk for all counterparties. The Company manages 
and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties, and by monitoring 
exposures in relation to such limits. It is the Company's policy to invest in high quality financial instruments with a low risk of default. 

The strength of reinsurers is monitored on a quarterly basis. Individual contracts are considered on a case by case where 
necessary. 

The nature of the Company's exposure to credit risks and its objectives. policies and processes used to manage and measure the 
risks have not changed from the previous period. 

The Company's financial assets exposed to credit risk are set out below along with the credit rating category of the issuer or 
counterparty. 

Credit ratings are applied consistently for various asset classes in line with rules set out in the Company's risk appetite framework. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The Company did not use credit derivative or similar instruments to mitigate the maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Company has the contractual right to offset the reinsurance deposits included in the table in note 16 against the
receivables due fram the reinsurers, which have arisen from reinsurance contracts, included in note 10.

4.5 Liquidity risk

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities and assets

The following tables summarises the maturity profile of the financial assets, financial liabilities, insurance contract
liabilities and reinsurance contract assets of the Company based an the remaining contractual obligations including
interest payable and receivable.

For insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance assets, maturity profiles are determined based an an estimated
timing of net cash outflows from the recognised insurance liabilities and reinsurance contracts. Unit-linked liabilities are
repayable or transferable on demand and are included in the up to a year column. Repayments which are subject to
notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.

The Company maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets which can be easily liquidated in the
event of an unfareseeable interruption of cash flow.

Cash flows which have no maturity, are shown in the period in which they could first be called by the policyholder or
counterparty. This includes all protection policies for which the cash flaws have been assumed to be equal to the
liability and payable in the first 0—5 years. Cash flows payable in years 5 and beyond relate to outstanding long-term
disability claims and annuity payments. The valuation of such liabilities excludes any surrender penalties that the
Company has the option of imposing in such circumstances.

Notwithstanding the above, any policy can be surrendered at any time, and all financial and insurance liabilities to
contract holders are therefore shown with a minimum maturity of 0-1 years. In practice, this is considered extremely
unlikely to happen. The Company has the general right to delay any surrender or surrenders to protect the interest of
other policyholders and more specifically, may reflect the settlement terms achieved on the disposal of assets in the
terms it offers on the settlement of liabilities backed by those assets. The Companys financial assets exposed to credit
risk are set out below along with the credit rating category of the issuer or counterparties.

48

UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

The Company did not use credit derivative or similar instruments to mitigate the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

The Company has the contractual right to offset the reinsurance deposits included in the table in note 16 against the 
receivables due from the reinsurers, which have arisen from reinsurance contracts. included in note 10. 

4.5 Liquidity risk 

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities and assets 
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event of an unforeseeable interruption of cash flow. 
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counterparty. This includes all protection policies for which the cash flows have been assumed to be equal to the 
liability and payable in the first 0-5years. Cash flows payable in years 5 and beyond relate to outstanding long-term 
disability claims and annuity payments. The valuation of such liabilities excludes any surrender penalties that the 
Company has the option of imposing in such circumstances. 

Notwithstanding the above, any policy can be surrendered at any time, and all financial and insurance liabilities to 
contract holders are therefore shown with a minimum maturity of 0-1 years. In practice, this is considered extremely 
unlikely to happen. The Company has the general right to delay any surrender or surrenders to protect the interest of 
other policyholders and more specifically, may reflect the settlement terms achieved on the disposal of assets in the 
terms it offers on the settlement of liabilities bocked by those assets. The Company's financial assets exposed to credit 
risk are set out below along with the credit rating category of the issuer or counterparties. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS All amounts in £000
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 unless otherwise stated

4.6 Market risks

The Company’s primary exposure to market risk is the impact of equity price and currency movements on the fair value of the assets held
in the linked funds, an which the tees are based, and fsed fee elements of certain unit-linked contracts.

The sensitivity analyses below are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is
unlikely to occur, and changes in same of the assumptions may be correlated — far example, change in interest rate and change in
market values.

4.6.1 Interest-rate risk

Interest-rate risk is one of the principal risks the Company faces, It is relevant not only to insurance and investment contracts but also to
the Company’s management of its awn assets not specifically or nationally backing particular liabilities.

The major product categories affected by interest-rate risk are annuities, guaranteed-return contracts and Insurance with DPF contracts.
Annuities, because of their long-term nature, are particularly sensitive to interest-rate risk. Accordingly, the Company imposes tight control
aver the matching of key criteria to minimise the risk taken. In respect of contracts with DPF, the Company has limited exposure provided
that the attributable assets are greater than the liabilities. However, should the position reverse and liabilities be greater than assets then
the full shortfall would became the Company’s liability. The Company also has contractual rights to impose market value adjustments in
order to treat all contract holders fairly.

The Company has entered into a number of investment contracts that guarantee a minimum return, whereby a proportion of any surplus
becomes due to the Company, but all of any deficit would be met by the Company. The process for the management of assets backing
such liabilities takes due regard for such asymmetries. For short-term insurance contracts, the Company has matched the insurance
liabilities with cash and short-term debt.

4.6.2 PrIce risk

Whilst there is significant exposure to the equity market from policyholder investments, equity price falls have no immediate impact on the
statement at financial position by virtue of the reserving methodology adapted for investment classed business. The Company does not
back any of its insurance contracts, other than unit-linked contracts, with equity and has limited equity exposure from shareholder
investments. Equity price falls do however result in a fall in fee income, and therefore are detrimental to future profits.

4.6.3 Foreign currency risk

The Company’s ALM framework focuses on matching of currency exposures at a portfolio level.

The Company operates in international markets. Its non-GBP currency exposures are principally limited to USD and EUR. The assets and
liabilities related to insurance and investment contracts are matched by currency as part of the Company’s asset liability matching
strategy. Exposures from operating activities, therefore, are limited to the emerging profit or lass.

No forward foreign exchange rate contracts were entered into during the year.
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4.6 Market risks 
The Company's primary exposure to market risk is the impact of equity price and currency movements on the fair value of the assets held 
in the linked funds, on which the fees are based, and fixed fee elements of certain unit-linked contracts. 

The sensitivity analyses below are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is 
unlikely to occur. and changes In some of the assumptions may be correlated -- for example, change in interest rate and change in 
market values. 

4.6.1 Interest-rate risk 

Interest-rate risk is one of the principal risks the Company faces. It is relevant not only to Insurance and investment contracts but also to 
the Company's management of its own assets not specifically or notionally backing particular liabilities. 

The major product categories affected by Interest-rate risk ore annuities. guaranteed-return contracts and Insurance with DPF contracts. 
Annuities, because of their long-term nature, are particularly sensitive to interest-rate risk. Accordingly, the Company imposes tight control 
over the matching of key criteria to minimise the risk taken. In respect of contracts with DPF, the Company has limited exposure provided 
that the attributable assets are greater than the liabilities. However, should the position reverse and liabilities be greater than assets then 
the full shortfall would become the Company's liability. The Company also has contractual rights lo impose market value adjustments in 
order to treat all contract holders fairly. 

The Company has entered into a number of investment contracts that guarantee a minimum return. whereby a proportion of any surplus 
becomes due to the Company, but all of any deficit would be met by the Company. The process for the management of assets backing 
such liabilities takes due regard for such asymmetries. For short-term insurance contracts, the Company has matched the insurance 
liabilities with cash and short-term debt. 

4.6.2 Price risk 

Whilst there is significant exposure to the equity market from policyholder investments. equity price falls have no immediate impact on the 
statement of financial position by virtue of the reserving methodology adopted for investment classed business. The Company does not 
back any of its insurance contracts. other than unit-linked contracts, with equity and has limited equity exposure from shareholder 
investments. Equity price falls do however result in o fall in fee income. and therefore are detrimental to future profits. 

4.6.3 Foreign currency risk 

The Company's ALM framework focuses on matching of currency exposures al a portfolio level. 

The Company operates in international markets. Its non-GBP currency exposures are principally limited to USD and EUR. The assets and 
liabilities related to insurance and investment contracts are matched by currency as part of the Company's asset liability matching 
strategy. Exposures from operating activities, therefore. ore limited to the emerging profit or loss. 

No forward foreign exchange rate contracts were entered into during the year. 
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4.7 Fair value hierarchy

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature, characteristics and
risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy. All assets have been determined as level 1 apart from £99m (2022 £1 3.3m)
held by policyholders at their own risk and £0.04m (2022 £0.04m) of assets held by the Company. The analysis can be seen in the tables
below.

The following table shows the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Policyholders and Company’s assets and liabilities as at 31 December:

2023

Other investments:
Debt security - at OCt
Debt security - at lair value through profit or loss
Ordinary shares and funds- at fair value through profit or loss
Underlying Items:
Debt securities - at fair value through profit or loss
Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit or lass
Total other Investments

Total financial assets to cover linked liabilities

Total financial assets

Uabllittes
Investment contract liabilities

Total financial liabilIties

2022

Other investments:
Debt security - at OCt
Debt security - at fair value through profit ar loss
Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit or lass
Underlying items:
Debt securities - at tair value through profit or loss
Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit or loss
Total other Investments

Total financial assets to cover linked liabilities

Total financial assets

Uabillties
Investment contract liabilities

Total financial liabIlities

FaIr Value Measurement Using
Quoted Prices in SIgnIficant SIgnificant Unobservable

Active Markets Observabte Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

- 36

3.020,410 - 9,897 3,030,307

3,679,836 - 9,933 3,689,769

- 2.798.877 9.897 2,808,774

- 2.798,877 9,897 2,808,774

Fair Value Measurement Using
Quoted PrIces In SIgnIficant Significant Unobservable

Active Markets Observable inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

154.957 -
- 154,957

159,564 -
- 159,564

17.920 - 36 17,956

329,462 - - 329,462
4,225 -

- 4,225
666,128 - 36 666,164

3,038.055 - 13.259 3,051,314

3.704.183 13.295 3,717.478

- 2.841.395 13,259 2,854.654

• 2,841,395 13,259 2,854,654

126.198
145,606
46,983

311,112
29,527

659.426

36

126,198
145,606
47,019

311,112
29,527

659.462
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4.7 Fair value hierarchy 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature, characteristics and 
risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy. All assets have been determined as level 1 apart from £9.9m (2022 £13.3m) 
held by policyholders at their own risk and £0.04m (2022 £0.04m) of assets held by the Company. The analysis can be seen in the tables 
below. 

The following table shows the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Policyholders and Company's assets and liabilities as at 31 December: 

2023 

Other investments: 
Debt security - at OCl 
Debt security - at fair value through profit or loss 
Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit or loss 
Underlying Items: 
Debt securities - at fair value through profit or loss 
Ordinary shares and funds - ol fair value through profit or loss 
Total other Investments 

Total financial assets to cover inked liabilities 

Total financial assets 

Labllltle 
Investment contract liabilities 

Total financial liabilities 

2022 

Other investments: 
Debt security- at OCI 
Debt security - at fair value through profit or loss 
Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit or loss 
Underlying Items : 
Debt securities - at fair value through profit or loss 
Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit or loss 
Total other Investments 

Total financial assets to cover linked liabilities 

Total financial assets 

Llabilities 
Investment contract lfabilities 

Total financial llabllles 

Fair Value Measurement Using 
Quoted Prices in Significant Significant Unobservable 

Active Markets Observable inputs Inputs 
(level1) (level2) (level 3) 

126.198 
145.606 
46,983 36 

311.112 
29.527 

659,426 36 

3,020,410 9,897 

3,679,83% 9,933 

2.798,877 9.897 

2,798,877 9,897 

Fair Value Measurement Using 
Quoted Prices in Significant Significant Unobservable 

Active Markets Observable Input Input 
(level1) (Level2) (level 3) 

154,957 
159.564 

17.920 36 

329.462 
4.225 

666,128 36 

3,038,055 13,25° 

3,704,183 13,295 

2.841,395 13.259 

2,841,395 13,25° 

52 

Total 

126,198 
145,606 
47,019 

311,112 
29,527 

659,462 

3,030,307 

3,689,76° 

2,808,774 

2,808,774 

Total 

154,957 
159,564 

17,956 

329,462 
4,225 

666.164 

3,051,314 

3,717,7% 

2,854.654 

2,854,654 
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Fair Value at
FVTPL

All amounts in £000

unless otherwise stated

2023
Investment back to

Debt Securities Investment Funds policies - policy
holder risk

Opening balance

(Sales) / Purchases
Unreolised gains/ (losses)
Transters from level 310 level 1
Closing balance

Fair Value at
FVTPL

36 13,259

Investment back to
Debt Securities Investment Funds policies, policy

holder rI5k

36 8,665

Sales) / Purchases
Unrealised gains / )losses)
Transfer from level 1 to level 3
Closing balance . 13.259

13,295

The investment bock to policies —policyholder risk, level 3 instruments, Os at 31 December, are made up of investments where the asset has
been placed into liquidation/ administration! suspension or any such non-tradable status valued at the lost available quoted price, reduced
in line with the company’s price write down policy. The policy is applied when no new prices are mode avalable and where the updates
received do not allow the Company to reasonably establish a revised value.

All movements throughout the year are recognised in unrealised gains and losses.

The own risk Level 3 instruments at 31 December made up of financial assets at foir value through profit or loss: Investment funds comprise:

Holding Issuer Name £ 000’s

793 552
Tapestry Investment Red PIg Fret NPV Post
cc ‘cc Red Nov

Tapestry Investments Co PCC is in the process of liquidation and the value is based on the last available net asset value received from the
liquidator less distributions received subsequently.

4.7 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December.

Total

(11)
(2.381)

(9701

During the year. investment back to policies - policyholder risk moved from level 3 to level 1 as market observable data became available for
these investments that was previously not available. The transfer is deemed to have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2023.

- 36 9,897 9,933

2022

Opening balance

(11)
(2,381)

t9701

Total

(986)
(330)
5.910

8,701

(986)
(330)
5,910

1 99R

Financial asset at fair value through profit and loss: investment funds 36
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4.7 Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December. 

Fair Value at 
FVTPL 

All amounts in £ 00O 
unless otherwise stated 

2023 

Opening balance 

(Sales] / Purchases 
Unrealised gains/ {losses] 
Transfers from level 3 to level I 
Closing balance 

Investment back to 
Debt Securities Investment Funds policies - policy 

holder risk 

36 13,259 

(11J 
(2.381) 
[70] 

24 2A27 

Total 

13,295 

(11 
(2,381) 

(370 2.n 
During the year, investment back to policies - policyholder risk moved from level 3 to level I as market observable data became available for 
these investments that was previously not available. The transfer is deemed to have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2023. 

2022 

Opening balance 

(Sales) / Purchases 
Unrealised gains / (losses) 
Transfer from level 1 to level 3 
Closing balance 

Falr Value at 
FVIPL 

Investment back to 
Debt Securities investment Funds policies - policy 

holder risk 

36 8,665 

(986) 
(330) 
5,910 

2¢ 1325 

Total 

8,701 

(986) 
(330) 
5,910 

1323£ 

The investment back to policies --policyholder risk, level 3 instruments, as at 31 December. are made up of investments where the asset has 
been placed Into liquldatlon/ administration/ suspension or any such non-tradable status valued at the last available quoted price, reduced 
in line with the company's price write down policy. The policy is applied when no new prices ore made available and where the updates 
received do not allow the Company to reasonably establish a revised value. 

All movements throughout the year are recognised in unrealised gains and losses. 

The own risk Level 3 instruments at 31 December made up of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Investment funds comprise: 

Holding Issuer Name £ 000's 

Financial asset at fair value through profit and loss: Investment funds 793.502 Tapestry Investment Red Ptg Pref NPV Post 
Co PCC Red Nov 36 

Tapestry Investments Co PCC is in the process of liquidation and the value is based on the last available net asset value received from the 
liquidator less distributions received subsequently. 
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Net Investment income (expenses) - underlying assets
Net gains on FVTPL investments
Net Foreign currency exchange gains I (losses)

____________ ________________________________

Net investment Income - Underlying assets

Net Investment income (expenses) - other investments
Interest revenue from financial assets not measured at FVTPL
Net gains on FVTPL investments
Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI
Net Foreign currency exchange gains / tlosses)

_________________________________________________

Net Investment Income - other investments

____________________________________________________

Net Investment income (expenses) - other
Net change in investment contract liabilities

____________________________________________________

Net investment Income (expenses) - other

_______________________________________________________

Total net Investment income

Finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts issued
Change in fair value of underlying assets of contracts measured under the VFA
Interest occreted
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions
Foreign exchange differences
Finance expenses from Insurance contracts issued

Finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held

Interest accreted
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions
Foreign exchange differences
Finance income tram reinsurance contracts held
Net insurance finance expenses

____________________________________________________

Summary of the amounts recognised In profit or loss
Net investment income - underlying assets
Net investment income - other investments
Net investment income (expenses) - other
Net insurance finance expenses

____________________________________________________

Summary of the amounts recognised In OCI
Net investment income - other investments

Summary of the amounts recognised
Insurance service result
Net investment income
Net insurance finance expenses

_________________________________________________

Net Insurance and Investment result

5 Net financial Result

2023

Wealth Solutions Corporate Solutions Total

304,117
(949)

303,168

43,399
(17,741)
25,658

347,516
(18,690)
328,826

142 2,222 2.364
- 10,116 10,116

1,004 2,781 3.785
- tl.680) (1.680)

1,146 13,439 14.585

(299,793) (144) (299,937)
(299,793) (144) (299.937)

4.521 38,953 43,474

(814) (43,016) (43,830)
- (9,608) (9.608)
- (2,973) (2,973)

173 23.311 23,484
(641) (32,286) (32.927)

- 2,970 2.970
- 577 577
- (2,238) (2,238)
- 1.309 1.309

(641) (30,977) (31,618)

303,168 25,658 328,826
(40) 10,636 10.596

(299793) (144) (299,937)
(641) (30.977) (31.618)

2,694 5,173 7,867

1,186 2.803 3.989

(92) 4,865 4,773
4521 38,953 43,474

(641) (30.977) (31,618)
3,788 12,841 16,629
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5 Net Financial Result 

2023 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise slated 

Wealth Solutions Corporate Solutions Total 

Net investment income (expenses] - underlying assets 
Net gains on FVTPL investments 
Net Foreign currency exchange gains / (losses) 
Net investment income - underlying assets 

Net investment income (expenses] - other investments 
Interest revenue from financial assets not measured al FVTPL 
Net gains on FVIPL investments 
Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI 
Net Foreign currency exchange gains / (losses) 
Net investment income - other investments 

Net investment Income (expenses] - other 
Net change in investment contract liabilities 
Net investment income (expenses) - other 

Total net investment income 

Finance income [expenses) from Insurance contracts issued 
Change in fair value of underlying assets of contracts measured under the VFA 
Interest accreted 
Effect of changes in Interest rotes and other financial assumptions 
Foreign exchange differences 
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 

Finance income (expenses)} from reinsurance contracts held 

Interest accreted 
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions 
Foreign exchange differences 
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held 
Net insurance finance expenses 

Summary of the amounts recognised in profit or loss 
Net investment income - underlying assets 
Net Investment income - other Investments 
Net investment income (expenses) - other 
Net Insurance finance expenses 

Summary of the amounts recognised in OCI 
Net investment income - other Investments 

Summary of the amounts recognised 
Insurance service result 
Net Investment income 
Net insurance finance expenses 
Net insurance and investment result 

54 

304,117 
[949] 

303,168 

142 

1,004 

1,146 

[299.793] 
(299.793 

4,521 

(814) 

173 
(441 

(641 

303,168 
(40) 

(299,793) 
(641) 

2,694 

1,186 

(92) 
4.,521 

[641] 
3,788 

43,399 
[l7741 
25,658 

2.222 
10,116 
2,781 

[I680] 
13,439 

[I44] 
(44) 

38,953 

(43.016) 
(9.608) 
(2.973) 

23,311 
(32,2806) 

2.970 
577 

[2.238] 
1,30° 

30.977 

25.658 
10.636 

(144) 
(30.977] 

5,173 

2,803 

4,865 
38.953 

[3o.977] 
12,841 

347,516 
(18.690 
328,826 

2,364 
10,116 
3,785 

(14Ao) 
14,585 

(299.37 
(299.937) 

43,474 

(43,830) 
(9,608) 
(2,973) 
23,484 

(32.927 

2,970 
577 

(2.238) 
1,309 

(31618 

328,826 
10,56 

(299,937) 
(31418 

7,867 

3,989 

4,773 
43,474 

(31618 
16,629 
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5 Net Financial Result (continued)

2022

Net Investment Income (expenses) - underlying assets
Net gains on FVTPL investments
Net Foreign currency exchange gains I (losses)

___________________________________________________

Net investment Income- underlying assets

___________________________________________________

Net Investment Income (expenses) - other Investments
Interest revenue from financial assets not measured at FVTPL
Net gains on FVTPL investments
Net gains an investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI
Net Foreign currency exchange gains I (lasses)

___________________________________________________

Net Investment Income- other Investments

______________________________________________________

Net Investment Income (expenses) - other
Net change in investment contract liabilities

___________________________________________________

Net Investment Income (expenses) - other

___________________________________________________

Total net Investment Income

___________________________________________________

Finance Income (expenses) from Insurance contracts Issued
Change in fair value of underlying assets of contracts measured under the VFA
Interest accreted
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions
Foreign exchange differences

___________________________________________________

Finance expenses from Insurance contracts Issued

___________________________________________________

Finance Income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held

Interest accreted
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions
Foreign exchange differences

___________________________________________________

Finance Income from reinsurance contracts held

___________________________________________________

Net Insurance finance expenses

________________________________________________

Summary of the amounts recognised In profit or loss
Net investment income - underlying assets
Net investment income - other investments
Net investment income (expenses) - other
Net insurance finance expenses

______________________________________________________

Summary of the amounts recognised In OCI
Net investment income - other investments

Summary of the amounts recognised
Insurance service result
Net investment income
Net insurance finance expenses

___________________________________________________

Net Insurance and Investment result

Wealth Solutions Corporate Solutions Total

(485,132) (39,816) (524.948)
3,421 - 3,421

(481.7111 (39.8161 (521.5271

94 2,129 2.223
- (21,330) (21,330)

(1,506) (6,089) (7,595)
- 8.452 8.452

(1,412) (16838) (18.250)

491,425 458 491.883
491.425 458 491.883

8.302 (56.196) (47.894)

568 40,853 41.421
- (1,680) (1.680)
- 26.737 26.737

(406) (52,885) (53.291)
162 13.025 13.187

- 213 213
- (7,177) (7,177)
- 6.338 6.338
- (626) (626)

162 12,399 12.561

(481.711) (3,429) (485.140)
(94) (12,572) (12.666)

491,425 458 491,883
162 12.399 12.561

9,782 (3,144) 6.638

C 1.318) (4,266) (5,584)

1 1 (2,808) (2,797)
8,302 (19.809) (11.507)

162 12,399 12.561
8,475 (10,218) (1,763)
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5 Net Flnanclal Result (continued) 

2022 

All amounts ore in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

Wealth Solutions Corporate Solutions Total 

Net investment income (expenses] - underlying assets 
Net gains on FVIPL investments 
Net Foreign currency exchange gains / (losses] 
Net investment income - underlying assets 

Net investment income (expenses] - other Investments 
Interest revenue from financial assets not measured ct FVTPL 
Net gains on FVIPL investments 
Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI 
Net Foreign currency exchange gains / (losses) 
Net investment income - other investments 

Net investment Income (expenses] - other 
Net change in investment contract liabilities 
Net investment income (expenses) - other 

Total net investment income 

Finance Income (expenses) from Insurance contracts issued 
Change in fair value of underlying assets of contracts measured under the VFA 
Interest accreted 
Effect of changes in Interest rotes end other finoncicl assumptions 
Foreign exchange differences 
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 

Finance Income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held 

Interest accreted 
Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions 
Foreign exchange differences 
FHnuance income from reinsurance contracts held 
Net insurance finance expenses 

Summary of the amounts recognised in profit or loss 
Net investment income - underlying assets 
Net Investment income - other investments 
Net investment income (expenses) - other 
Net insurance finance expenses 

Summary of the amounts recognised In OCI 
Net investment income - other investments 

Summary of the amounts recognised 
Insurance service result 
Net Investment income 
Net insurance finance expenses 
Net insurance and investment result 

55 

(485,132] 
3.421 

(481.711 

94 

(1.506) 

(412) 

491,425 
491,425 

8,302 

568 

[406] 
162 

162 

(481,711) 
(94) 

491,425 
162 

9,782 

(1,318) 

11 
8.302 

162 
8,475 

(39,816) 

(39.816) 

2,12 
(21.330) 

(6,089) 
8,452 

(16.838) 

458 
458 

(56,196 

40,853 
(1,680) 

26.737 
[52.885] 

13,025 

213 
(7.177) 
6.338 
(626 

12,39° 

(3,429) 
(12,572) 

458 
12,399 
(3,144) 

(4,266) 

(2.808) 
(19,809) 

12,399 
(10.21s 

(524,948) 
3,421 

(521,527) 

2,223 
(21,330) 

(7,595) 
8,452 

(18.250) 

491,883 
491,883 

47.894 

41,421 
(1,680) 
26,737 

(53,291 
13,187 

213 
(7,177 
6,338 
(626 

12.561 

(485, 140) 
(12,666) 
491,883 

12,561 
6,638 

(5,584) 

(2,797) 
(11,507) 

12,561 
(1.743 
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6 Fees and charges receivable on investment business
2023 2022

Fee income from investment contracts 27,184 27,336

Net movement in deferred front-end fees 37,860 27,660

Other fee income - including commission and rebate income 11,097 13.240

Total tee income 76,141 68,236

7 Insurance service and other operating expenses
2023 2022

Claims and benefits 2,336 34,007

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 10,023 8,019

Social insurance costs 549 547

Pension costs - defined contributions 724 601

Other staff costs 57 65

Total staff costs 11,353 9,232

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment i 623 1,460

Services Charge 229 197

Software Costs 2,841 2,605

Audit fees 1,272 999

Auditor’s fee non-audit services 30 (19)

Commission expenses 36,657 25,600

Other administrative costs 10,729 7,076

Total 67,070 81,157

Insurance service expenses 13,407 41,070

Other operating expenses 53,663 40,087

Total 67,070 81,157

8 Finance costs
2023 2022

Interest expense 586 170

Lease liability finance cost 87 147

Total Interest Expense 673 317
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6 Fees and charges receivable on Investment business 

Fee income from investment contracts 
Net movement in deferred front-end fees 
Other fee income - including commission and rebate income 
Total fee Income 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 

otherwise stated 

2023 2022 

27,184 27.336 
37,860 27,660 
11,097 13,240 
76,141 68,236 

7 Insurance service and other operating expenses 
2023 2022 

Claims and benefits 2,336 34,007 

Staff costs 

Wages and salaries 10,023 8,019 
Social insurance costs 549 547 
Pension costs - defined contributions 724 601 
Other staff costs 57 65 
Total staff costs 11,353 9,232 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,623 1,460 
Services Charge 229 197 
Software Costs 2,841 2,605 
Audit fees 1,272 999 
Auditor's fee non-audit services 30 (19) 
Commission expenses 36,657 25,600 
Other administrative costs 10,729 7,076 
Total 67,070 81,157 

Insurance service expenses 13,407 41,070 
Other operating expenses 53,663 40,087 
Total 67,070 81,157 

8 Finance costs 
2023 2022 

Interest expense 586 170 
Lease liability finance cost 87 147 
Total Interest Expense 673 317 
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9 Income Taxes

Statement of comprehensive income 2023 2022

Current tax

Currentyearincometox 1,426 1,169

Under provision - prior year 204 1 19

Utilisation of prior year carried forward losses (446)

Deferred tax recognised 2,166 -

Income tax expense 3,350 1,288

Reconciliation of tax charge 2023 2022

Profit before tax (Including discontinued operations) 39,490 35,335

Guernsey standard tax rate for insurance business 10% 10%

Current tax on profits for the year 3.949 3,533

Effect of the higher tax rates in the other jurisdictions in which the Company operates 1,306 1,307

Effect of utilising operating losses in other jurisdictions in which the Company operates (446) -

Effect of activities subject to 0% tax rate (3,941) (3,527)

Recognition of deferred tax liability 2,166 -

Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior years 205 120

Under provision 111 (145)

Total current tax (credit) / expense 3,350 1,288

Tax payable 2023 2022

At 1 January 960 40

Current year 651 960

Adjustment for prior year (960) (40)

At31 December 651 960

Prior year profit before tax is defined by IFRS 17 for the current year and for the prior year it is defined by IFRS 4.

The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions in multiple currencies. For each jurisdiction in which the Company
operates there is a different tax regime, which requires a different local calculation of the Company’s taxable
profits. Therefore, management deem it necessary to consider each jurisdiction independently for the purposes of
tax. The Company chooses to use specialist tax advisors to ensure that all calculations of fox are prepared in
accordance with local requirements.

The taxable profit is provided to the relevant tax authorities on the basis of local accounting standards and audited
financial statements and adjusted as required in each jurisdiction in which the Company operates. The differences
in IFRS profits and taxable profits give rise to immaterial differences in the tax noted in each period and as such the
Company is not recognising any deferred tax. Furthermore where there are any brought forward tax losses the
Company has taken a prudent approach and would only consider recognising a deferred tax asset if the future
profits could be considered more probable than not.
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9 Income Taxes 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

Statement of comprehensive Income 

Current tax 
Current year income tax 
Under provision - prior year 
Utilisation of prior year carried forward losses 
Deferred tax recognised 
Income tax expense 

Reconciliation of tax charge 

Profit before tax (Including discontinued operations) 
Guernsey standard tax rate for insurance business 
Current tax on profits for the year 
Effect of the higher tax rates in the other jurisdictions in which the Company operates 
Effect of utilising operating losses in other jurisdictions in which the Company operates 
Effect of activities subject to 0% tax rate 
Recognition of deferred tax liability 
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior years 
Under provision 
Total current tax (credit) / expense 

Tax payable 

At 1 January 

Current year 

Adjustment for prior year 

At 31 December 

2023 

1,426 
204 

(446) 
2,166 
3,350 

2023 

39,490 

10% 
3,949 
1,306 

(446) 
(3,941) 
2,166 

205 
111 

3,350 

2023 

960 

651 

(960) 

651 

2022 

1,169 
119 

1,288 

2022 

35,335 
10% 

3,533 
1,307 

(3,527) 

120 
(145) 

1,288 

2022 

40 

960 

(40) 

960 

Prior year profit before tax is defined by IFRS 17 for the current year and for the prior year it is defined by IFRS 4. 

The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions in multiple currencies. For each jurisdiction in which the Company 
operates there is a different tax regime. which requires a different local calculation of the Company's taxable 
profits. Therefore, management deem it necessary to consider each jurisdiction independently for the purposes of 
tax. The Company chooses to use specialist tax advisors to ensure that all calculations of tax are prepared in 
accordance with local requirements. 

The taxable profit is provided to the relevant tax authorities on the basis of local accounting standards and audited 
financial statements and adjusted as required in each jurisdiction in which the Company operates. The differences 
in IFRS profits and taxable profits give rise to immaterial differences in the tax noted in each period and as such the 
Company is not recognising any deferred tax. Furthermore where there are any brought forward tax losses the 
Company has taken a prudent approach and would only consider recognising a deferred tax asset if the future 
profits could be considered more probable than not. 

57 



UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AN amounts are in £000 unless

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 othen.vise stated

9 Income Taxes (continued)

lax on the Company’s profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise on the taxable profit using the
standard rote of Guernsey taxation applicable to The Company as follows:

The applicable tax rote for the year in Guernsey was 10% on local business (2022:10%). Applicable tax rates in other
jurisdictions where the Company suffers taxation were Hong Kong 16.5% (2022: 16.5%), 12.5% in Ireland (2022: 12.5%),
an effective rate of 18.82% (2022: 23.1%) in Switzerland and 17% in Singapore (2022:17%).

No income tax receivable has been recognised in note 15 (2022: £0).

The Singapore Branch has no unutilised tax losses carried forward at year-end (2022: SGD 4,029,683). No other
Branches had assessed tax losses carried forward at year-end.

There are no enacted Global Minimum Tax rules applicable in Guernsey, Switzerland. Singapore, Ireland, Hong Kong and
the DIFC that relate to the Pillar II international minimum tax regime for the year ended 31 December 2023. The first
applicable minimum tax ruling will be applicable as of 1 January 2025 for Guernsey, Singapore and Hong Kong. Global
Minimum Tax rules have been enacted in Switzerland and Ireland as of 1 January 2024. Pillar II proposals for the DIFC have
not yet been released and an implementation date has not yet been confirmed. The current effective tax rate in
Switzerland was 18.82% for the year ended 31 December 2023 and therefore the minimum requirement of 15% has been
met. A separate disclosure to this effect has been added to the separate Swiss Branch accounts.

Deferred tax liability

During 2023, the Company recognised a deferred tax balance of £2,166 million (2022: £0) on future profits expected to
emerge from the Swiss Branch. The Swiss Branch actuarial reserves are prepared on a more prudent basis than IFRS reserves
and therefore a large profit is expected to emerge as the book runs off and the non-unit reserve (NUR) unwinds. The
previous approach to recognising deferred tax liabilities and therefore the taxable value of in-force policies (PVFP) was
determined based on the difference between the unit reserve and the Solvency II best estimate of liability (511 BEL). This
approach did not take into account the prudent NUR. The current approach recognises the impact of the unwind of the
NUR on the profits payable in Switzerland. The deferred tax liability remains with the Company and not with the Swiss
Branch.

Please refer to note 3.2 for the management estimates and judgements applicable.
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9 Income Taxes (continued) 

Tax on the Company's profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise on the taxable profit using the 
standard rate of Guernsey taxation applicable to the Company as follows: 

The applicable tax rate for the year in Guernsey was 10% on local business (2022: 10%). Applicable tax rates in other 
jurisdictions where the Company suffers taxation were Hong Kong 16.5% (2022: 16.5%), 12.5% in Ireland (2022: 12.5%), 
an effective rate of 18.82% (2022: 23.1%) in Switzerland and 17% in Singapore (2022: 17%). 

No income tax receivable has been recognised in note 1 5 (2022: £0). 

The Singapore Branch has no unutilised tax losses carried forward at year-end (2022: SGD 4,029,683). No other 
Branches had assessed tax losses carried forward at year-end. 

There are no enacted Global Minimum Tax rules applicable in Guernsey, Switzerland, Singapore, Ireland, Hong Kong and 
the DIFC that relate to the Pillar II international minimum tax regime for the year ended 31 December 2023. The first 
applicable minimum tax ruling will be applicable as of 1 January 2025 for Guernsey, Singapore and Hong Kong. Global 
Minimum Tax rules have been enacted in Switzerland and Ireland as of 1 January 2024. Pillar II proposals for the DIFC have 
not yet been released and an implementation date has not yet been confirmed. The current effective tax rate in 
Switzerland was 18.82% for the year ended 31 December 2023 and therefore the minimum requirement of 15% has been 
met. A separate disclosure to this effect has been added to the separate Swiss Branch accounts. 

Deferred tax llablllty 

During 2023, the Company recognised a deferred tax balance of £2.166 million (2022: £0) on future profits expected to 
emerge from the Swiss Branch. The Swiss Branch actuarial reserves are prepared on a more prudent basis than IFRS reserves 
and therefore a large profit is expected to emerge as the book runs off and the non-unit reserve (NUR) unwinds. The 
previous approach to recognising deferred tax liabilities and therefore the taxable value of in-force policies (PVFP) was 
determined based on the difference between the unit reserve and the Solvency II best estimate of liability (SIi BEL). This 
approach did not take into account the prudent NUR. The current approach recognises the impact of the unwind of the 
NUR on the profits payable in Switzerland. The deferred tax liability remains with the Company and not with the Swiss 
Branch. 

Please refer to note 3.2 for the management estimates and judgements applicable. 
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70 Deferred acquisition costs
2023 2022

Deferred acquisition costs at 1 January

Acquisition costs capitalised during the year

Acquisition costs released during the year

Deferred acquisition costs at 31 December

Current portion

Non-current portion

Total deferred acquisition costs

165,178

1,232

(31763)

134,647

12.184

122.463

134.647

184,179

4,121

(23,122)

165,178

14,384

150,794

165,178

Closing net book value

As at 37 December 2023

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2022

Opening net book amount

Additions

Depreciation charge

Closing net book value

As at 31 December 2022

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

3,252

16

(1,624)

(340)

340

71 Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 31 December 2023

Opening net book amount

Additions

Depreciation charge

Derecognition of cost of ROU assets - discontinued business

Derecognition of accumulated depreciation of ROU asset - discontinued
business

Total

Leasehold

Right of Use Asset
improvements,
computer and

office equipment

2.710 542

- 16

11,327) (297)

(340) -

340 -

1,383 261 1,644

6,944 7,901 14,845

(5,561) (7,640) (13,201)

1,383 261 1.644

2.750 671 3,421

1.100 191 1,291

(1.140) (320) (1,460)

2.710 542 3.252

7,284 7.885 15,169

(4,574) (7,343) (11,917)

2,710 542 3.252

A depreciation expense of £1,623 (2022: £1,460) has been included within other operating expenses
ore non-current assets.

(note 7). MI tangible assets
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10 Deferred acquisition costs 

Deferred acquisition costs at 1 January 
Acquisition costs capitalised during the year 
Acquisition costs released during the year 
Deferred acquisition costs at 31 December 

Current portion 
Non-current portion 
Total deferred acquisition costs 

11 Property, plant and equipment 

2023 

165.178 
1.232 

(31,763) 
134,647 

12.184 
122,463 

134,647 

All amounts ore in £ 000 unless 
otherwise stoled 

2022 

184,179 
4,121 

(23.122) 
165,178 

14,384 
150,794 

165,178 

Year ended 31 December 2023 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Depreciation charge 
Derecognition of cost of ROU assets - discontinued business 

Derecognition of accumulated depreciation of ROU asset - discontinued 
business 

Closing net book value 

As at 31 December 2023 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Year ended 31 December 2022 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Depreciation charge 
Closing net book value 

As at 31 December 2022 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Right of Use Asset 

2,710 

(1,327) 
(340) 

340 

1,383 

6,944 
(5.561) 
1,383 

2.750 
1,100 

[.140] 
2,710 

7,284 
(4,574) 
2,710 

Leasehold 
Improvements, 
computer and 

office equipment 

542 
16 

(297) 

261 

7,901 
(7.640) 

261 

671 
191 

[320] 
542 

7,885 
(7.343) 

542 

Total 

3.252 
16 

(1.624) 
(340) 

340 

1,644 

14,845 
(13,201) 

1,644 

3,421 
1,291 

[1460] 
3,252 

15,169 
(11,917) 

3,252 

A depreciation expense of £1,623 (2022: £1.460) hos been included within other operating expenses (note 7). AI tangible assets 
ore non-current assets. 
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12 FInancial assets affair value held to cover linked liabilities at fair value through profit and
loss

Restated
2023 2022

Underlying items

Fixed income securities 112,765 107,169

Ordinary shares and funds 2,766,578 2,768,131

Otherinvestments 131 74

Cash & cash equivalents 150,833 175,940

Total underlying items 3,030,307 3,057,314

As at 1 January 3,051,374 3,480,692
Unrealised net gains/(lasses) recognised (excluding net realised gains or
losses) in profit and loss 260,299 (569,379)

Additions 460,137 510,893

Disposals (sales and redemptions) (651,167) (565,011)

Foreign exchange movement (90,276) 194,119

As at3l December 3,030,307 3,051,314

See note 2.1.1 for details on the restatement of comparative information

Included in the analysis above are investments of £9,933 (2022: £13,295) which are Level 3 assets in the Fair Value Hierarchy. The nature
of these assets means there may be limited liquidity through suspensions, liquidations or by the nature of assets the underlying fund
invests into,

In some instances, policyholder risk assets may be subject to a charge in favour of a third party. Under the terms of the charge any
liability arising will be settled from the relevant policyholder risk assets.
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12 Flnanclal assets at fair value held to cover linked llabllltles at fair value through profit and 
loss 

2023 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

Restated 
2022 

Underlying Items 
Fixed income securities 
Ordinary shares and funds 
Other investments 
Cash & cash equivalents 
Total underlying Items 

As at 1 January 
Unrealised net gains/(losses) recognised (excluding net realised gains or 
losses) in profit and loss 

Additions 
Disposals (sales and redemptions) 
Foreign exchange movement 
As at 31 December 

·See note 2.1.1 for details on the restatement of comparative informotion 

112,765 
2,766.578 

131 
150,833 

3,030,307 

3,051,314 

260,299 

460.137 
(651,167) 

(90,276) 
3,030,307 

107,169 
2,768.131 

74 
175,940 

3,051,314 

3,480,692 

(569,379) 

510,893 
(565,011) 

194,119 
3,051,314 

Included in the analysis above are investments of £9,933 (2022: £13,295) which are Level 3 assets in the Fair Value Hierarchy. The nature 
of these assets means there may be limited liquidity through suspensions, liquidations or by the nature of assets the underlying fund 
invests into. 

In some instances, policyholder risk assets may be subject to a charge in favour of a third party. Under the terms of the charge any 
liability arising will be settled from the relevant policyholder risk assets. 
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13 Other investments
Restated *

2023 2022

Other investments

Debt securities - OCI 126,198 154,957

Debt securities - at fair value through profit or loss 145,606 159,564

Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit and loss 47,019 17,956

Underlying items

Debt securities - at fair value through profit or loss 311,1 12 329,462

Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit and loss 29,527 4,225

Total other investments 659,462 666,164

As at 1 January 666,164 755,215
Unrealised net gains/(losses( recognised (excl. net realised gains or losses)
through OCI 3,989 )5,584)

Unrealised net gains/(losses) recognised (excluding net realised gains or
losses) in profit and loss 14,553 (46,435)

Additions 411,743 284,256

Disposals (sales and redemptions) (424,545) (355,233)

Foreign exchange movement (12,442) 33,945

As at3l December 659,462 666,164

*See note 2.1.1 for details on the restatement of comparative information

Other investments include shareholders investments and assets backing business under the 0MM and assets backing business under
the VFA (excluding unit-linked insurance). Assets backing business under the VFA (excluding unit-linked contracts) are recognised in
underlying items.

All financial instruments in note 12 and note 13 were recognised at inception in the same categories in which they are currently
measured.

14 Investments in subsidiaries and associates

2023 2022

As at 1 January - cost 459 459

As at 1 December - cost 459 459

No subsidiaries have been impaired during the year or in the prior year.

Country of incorporation % of ordinary shares held
Subsidiaries Principal place of

2023 2022 Date acquired business

Utmost Portfolio Management Limited Guernsey 100 100 Utmost House, Hirzel
(UPM( 9 Augu5t 2007 Street, St Peter Port.

Guernsey
Utmost International Middle East Limited Dubal, UAE 100 100 Unit OT 14-36, Level
IUIMEI 12, Gate Central

8 April 2019 Park Offices, DIFC,
UAE

Utmost Worldwide Employee Pension Guernsey 100 100 Utmost House, Hirzel
Scheme Limited 5 September 2019 Street, St Peter Port,

Guernsey

Dynasty ICC Limited Guernsey 100 100 Utmost House, Hirzel
Street, St Peter Port,

18 November2021
Guernsey
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13 Other Investments 

Other Investments 
Debt securities - OCl 
Debt securities - at fair value through profit or loss 
Ordinary shares and funds - at fair value through profit and loss 

Underlying items 
Debt securities - at fair value through profit or loss 
Ordinary shores and funds - at fair value through profit and loss 
Total other Investments 

As at 1 January 
Unrealised net gains/(losses} recognised (excl. net realised gains or losses} 
through OCI 

Unrealised net gains/(losses} recognised (excluding net realised gains or 
losses) in profit and loss 

Additions 
Disposals (sales and redemptions} 
Foreign exchange movement 
As at 31 December 

All amounts ore in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

Restated 
2023 2022 

126,198 154,957 
145.606 159,564 

47,019 17,956 

311,112 329,462 
29.527 4.225 

659,462 666,164 

666,164 755,215 

3,989 (5,584) 

14,553 (46,435) 

411,743 284.256 
(424.545) (355,233) 

(12,442) 33,945 
659,462 666,164 

See note 2.1.1 for details on the restatement of comparative information 

Other investments include shareholder's investments and assets backing business under the GMM and assets bocking business under 
the VFA (excluding unit-linked insurance]. Assets backing business under the VFA (excluding unit-linked contracts) are recognised in 
underlying items. 

All financial instruments in note 12 and note 13 were recognised at inception in the some categories in which they are currently 
measured. 

14 Investments In subsidiaries and associates 

As at I January - cost 

As at 1 December - cost 

No subsidiaries have been impaired during the year or in the prior year. 

2023 
459 

459 

2022 
459 

459 

Subsidiaries 

Utmost Worldwide Employee Pension 
Scheme Limited 

Dynasty ICC Limited 

Country of Incorporation 

Guernsey 

Guernsey 

2023 

100 

100 

100 

100 
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2022 

100 

100 

100 

100 

Principal place of 
Date acquired business 

Utmost House. Hirzel 
9 August 2007 Street, St Peter Port. 

Guemsev 
Unit OT 14-36.Level 
12. Gate Central 

8 April 2019 Park Offices. DIFC 
UAE 

Utmost House. Hirzel 
5 September 2019 Street. St Peter Port. 

Guernsey 

Utmost House. Hirzel 

18 November 2021 
Street. SI Peter Port, 
Guernsey 

Utmost Portfolio Management Limited Guernsey 
(UPM] 

Utmost International Middle East Limited Dubai, UAE 
(UIME) 

%of ordinary shares held 



UTMOST WORLWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ,jl amounts are in £000 unless

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 otherwise stated

15 Other receivables Restated
2023 2022

Bond interest 3,874 3,258
Post-employment defined benefit asset (Note 17) 9,162 9,687
Receivables arising from reinsurance contracts 3.635
Other prepayments 1,703 1.470
Other accrued income 766 308
Receivables due from other related parties 511 1,171
Other 1,400 1,012
Total other receivables 17,416 20,541

Current (within 12 months) 8,254 10,854
Non-current (after 12 months) 9,162 9,687
Total other receivables 17,416 20,541

*See note 2.1.1 for details on the restatement of comparative information

16 Cash and cash equivalents
2023 2022

Deposits with credit institutions 4,018 6.152
Cash at bank 46,007 47,953
Cash and cash equivalents 50,025 54,105

The year-end effective USD rate on short-term bank deposits was 5.55% (2022: 0.00%). Interest rates offered at year
end are currently 2.5% on USD and 25% on GBP. No deposits other than USD are currently being placed.

Income earned from all call and term deposit accounts amounted to £394. (2022: £57). This relates to Company own
risk assets.
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15 Other receivables 

Bond interest 
Post-employment defined benefit asset (Note 17) 
Receivables arising from reinsurance contracts 
Other prepayments 
Other accrued income 
Receivables due from other related parties 
Other 
Total other receivables 

Current (within 12 months) 
Non-current (after 12 months) 
Total other receivables 

See note 2.1.1 for details on the restatement of comparative information 

16 Cash and cash equivalents 

Deposits with credit institutions 
Cash at bank 
Cash and cash equivalents 

2023 

3,874 
9,162 

1,703 
766 
511 

1,400 
17.416 

8.254 
9,162 

17,416 

2023 

4,018 
46,007 
50,025 

Restated 
2022 

3,258 
9,687 
3,635 
1,470 

308 
1,171 
1.012 

20,541 

10,854 
9,687 

20,541 

2022 

6,152 
47,953 
54,105 

The year-end effective USO rate on short-term bank deposits was 5.55% (2022: 0.00%). Interest rates offered at year­ 
end are currently 2.5% on USO and 2.5% on GBP. No deposits other than USO are currently being placed. 

Income earned from all call and term deposit accounts amounted to £394. (2022: £57). This relates to Company own 
risk assets. 
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17 Post-employment defined benefit fund

The Company participates in the Utmost Worldwide Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme (‘the DB Pension Scheme”),
which is a funded defined benefit arrangement. The DB Pension Scheme is closed to the future accrual of benefits with
effect from 31 December 2010. All remaining active members were treated as having left pensionable service with effect
from that date and their benefits are calculated based on their final pensionable salaries on that date.

The DB Pension Scheme is an approved scheme in Guernsey, under Sections 40(o) and 150. as relevant, of the Income Tax
(Guernsey) Law 1975, as amended.

The DB Pension Scheme must comply with the relevant legislation in Guernsey.

The DB Pension Scheme is governed by the directors of a corporate trustee (‘the Trustee”(. The Trustee is responsible for the
fund’s investment management and notifies the Company of its investment strategy from time to time. The Trustee is
responsible for the exercising of discretionary powers in respect of the fund’s benefits, although the decision on whether to
allow members to take early retirement resides with the relevant participating employer. The Company has agreed to
contribute to the Fund such sums as may be advised by the Trustee acting on advice of the scheme’s Actuary, with the
proviso that the payment of contributions will be spread over a period of not more than five years from the valuation date.

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position for pension benefits are determined as follows:

2023 2022

Fair value of plan assets 20,556 20,328

Present value of funded obligations (11,394) (10,641
Net asset recognised in the statement of financial posItion 9,162 9,687

The amounts recognised in the profit or loss are as follows:

Net interest on defined benefit obligation (456) (53(

(456) (53)

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

Re-measurement on defined benefit plan (981) 6,616
(981) 6.616

Change In retirement benefit oblIgation 2023 2022

Retirement benefit obligation at 1 January 10,641 20,491

Benefits paid (170( (66)
Interest on obligation 497 362
Experience gains 200 197
(Gains) I losses from changes in financial assumptions 404 (10,390)
(Gains) I losses from changes in demographic assumptions (178( 47
Refirement benefit obligation at 31 December 11,394 10,641
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17 Post-employment defined benefit fund 

The Company participates in the Utmost Worldwide Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme ("the DB Pension Scheme"), 
which is a funded defined benefit arrangement. The DB Pension Scheme is closed to the future accrual of benefits with 
effect from 31 December 2010. All remaining active members were treated as having left pensionable service with effect 
from that date and their benefits are calculated based on their final pensionable salaries on that date. 

The DB Pension Scheme is an approved scheme in Guernsey. under Sections 40(o) and 150, as relevant. of the Income Tax 
(Guernsey) Law 1975, as amended. 

The DB Pension Scheme must comply with the relevant legislation in Guernsey. 

The DB Pension Scheme is governed by the directors of a corporate trustee ("the Trustee"). The Trustee is responsible for the 
fund's investment management and notifies the Company of its investment strategy from time to time. The Trustee is 
responsible for the exercising of discretionary powers in respect of the fund's benefits, although the decision on whether to 
allow members to take early retirement resides with the relevant participating employer. The Company has agreed to 
contribute to the Fund such sums as may be advised by the Trustee acting on advice of the scheme's Actuary. with the 
proviso that the payment of contributions will be spread over a period of not more than five years from the valuation date. 

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position for pension benefits are determined as follows: 

Fair value of plan assets 
Present value of funded obligations 
Net asset recognised In the statement of financial poslflon 

The amounts recognised in the profit or loss are as follows: 

Net interest on defined benefit obligation 

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 

Re-measurement on defined benefit plan 

Change In retirement benefit obligation 

Retirement benefit obligation at 1 January 

Benefits paid 
Interest on obligation 
Experience gains 
(Gains) / losses from changes in financial assumptions 
(Gains) / losses from changes in demographic assumptions 
Retirement benefit obligation at 31 December 

2023 2022 

20,556 20,328 
(11,394) (10,641) 

9 162 9.687 

(456] [53] 
(456 (53) 

(981] 6,616 
(81 6,616 

2023 2022 

10,641 20,491 

(170) (66) 
497 362 
200 197 
404 (10,390) 

(178) 47 
11,394 10.641 
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17 Post-employment defined benefit fund (continued)

Change of fair value of plan assets 2023 2022

Opening fair value of plan assets 20,328 23,509

Return on assets (interest) 953 416
Return on assets (excluding interest) (555) (3.531)
Benefits paid (170) (66)
Closing faIr value of plan assets 20,556 20,328

Plan asset disaggregaflon by asset class 2023 2022
% %

Guts 80.3 51.1
Corporate Bonds 14.4 14.4
Cash 5.3 34.5

100 100

Plan assumptions 2023 2022
%

Discount rate at end of year 4.5 4.7
Discount rate at start of year 4.7 1.8
Inflation 3.2 3.3
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 3.1 3.2
Rate of increase in pension payments 3.1 3.2
Rate of increase in pensions in payment for former Sun Alliance members 3.5 3.5

Mortality assumptions
The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables, which allow for future mortality improvements.

The assumptions are that a member aged 63 will live on average until age 88 (2022: 88.5) if they are male and until
age 89.7 (2022: 90.1) if female.

For a member currently aged 50 (2022: 50) the assumptions are that if they attain age 63 they will live on average until
age 88.9 (2022: 89.4) if they are male and until age 90.8 (2022:91.2) if female.

Sensitivity analysis
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Retirement Benefit Obligation at 31 December to changes in the
significant actuarial assumptions.
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17 Post-employment defined benefit fund (continued) 

Change of fair value of plan assets 

Opening fair value of plan assets 

Return on assets (interest) 
Return on assets (excluding interest) 
Benefits paid 
Closlng fair value of plan assets 

Plan asset disaggregation by asset class 

Gilts 
Corporate Bonds 
Cash 

Plan assumptions 

Discount rate at end of year 
Discount rate at start of year 
Inflation 
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 
Rate of increase in pension payments 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment for former Sun Alliance members 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2023 2022 
20,328 23.509 

953 416 
(555) (3,531) 
{Io [66] 

20,556 20,328 
2023 2022 

% % 

80.3 51.1 
14.4 14.4 
5.3 34.5 
100 100 
2023 2022 

% % 

4.5 4.7 
4.7 1.8 
3.2 3.3 
3.1 3.2 
3.1 3.2 
3.5 3.5 

Mortality assumptions 
The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables, which allow for future mortality improvements. 

The assumptions ore that a member aged 63 will live on average until age 88 (2022: 88.5) if they are male and until 
age 89 .7 (2022: 90.1) if female. 

For a member currently aged 50 (2022: 50) the assumptions are that if they attain age 63 they will live an average until 
age 88.9 (2022: 89.4) if they are male and until age 90.8 (2022: 91.2) if female. 

Sensitivity analysis 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Retirement Benefit Obligation at 31 December to changes in the 
significant actuarial assumptions. 
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17 Post-employment defined benefit fund (continued)

Impact on Retirement Benefit Obligation

2023
Change in Increase in

Assumption Assumption Decrease In Assumption

Discount Rate 0.5% Decrease by 9.2% Increase by 10.5%

Inflation 0.5% Increase by 8.4% Decrease by 8.1%
Pension Increases 0.5% Increase by 7.0% Decrease by 6.4%

Change to 105% Change to 95%

Scaling factor applied to base mortality table Decrease by 1.0% Increase by 1.1%

Impact on Retirement Benefit Obligation

2022
Change in Increase in

Assumption Assumption Decrease In Assumption

Discount Rate 0.5% Decrease by 9.5% Increase by 10.9%

Inflation 0.5% Increase by 8.7% Decrease by 8.2%
Pension Increases 0.5% Increase by 7.0% Decrease by 6.4%

Change to 105% Change to 95%

Scaling factor applied to base mortality table Decrease by 1.0% Increase by 1.0%

Funding policy
Following the cessation of accrual of benefits with effect from 31 December 2010, regular contributions to the
fund are no longer required. However, additional contributions are still made to cover any shortfalls that arise
following each valuation. The funding method employed to calculate the value of previously accrued benefits is
the Attained Age Method. During the financial period the Trustee agreed the level of contributions payable to
the fund by the Company to meet any shortfall arising following an actuarial valuation, with the proviso that the
payment of contributions will be spread over a period of not more than five years from the valuation date.

There are no amounts recognised during the year for payments to the defined benefit scheme (2022: £NIL).
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17 Post-employment defined benefit fund ( continued) 

2023 

Impact on Retirement Benefit Obligation 
Change In Increase In 

Assumption Assumption Decrease In Assumption 

Discount Rate 
Inflation 
Pension Increases 

Scaling factor applied to base mortality table 

0.5% Decrease by 9 .2% Increase by 10.5% 
0.5% Increase by 8.4% Decrease by 8.1 % 
0.5% Increase by 7.0% Decrease by 6.4% 

Change to 105% Change to 95% 

Decrease by 1.0% Increase by 1.1 % 

2022 

Impact on Retirement Benefit Obligation 
Change In Increase In 

Assumption Assumption Decrease In Assumption 

0.5% Decrease by 9 .5% Increase by 10.9% 
0.5% Increase by 8.7% Decrease by 8.2% 
0.5% Increase by 7.0% Decrease by 6.4% 

Change to 105% Change to 95% 

Decrease by 1.0% Increase by 1.0% Scaling factor applied to base mortality table 

Funding policy 
Following the cessation of accrual of benefits with effect from 31 December 2010, regular contributions to the 
fund are no longer required. However, additional contributions are still made to cover any shortfalls that arise 
following each valuation. The funding method employed to calculate the value of previously accrued benefits is 
the Attained Age Method. During the financial period the Trustee agreed the level of contributions payable to 
the fund by the Company to meet any shortfall arising following an actuarial valuation, with the proviso that the 
payment of contributions will be spread over a period of not more than five years from the valuation date. 

Discount Rate 
Inflation 
Pension Increases 

There are no amounts recognised during the year for payments to the defined benefit scheme (2022: £NIL). 
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18 Investment contract liabilities

The following table summarises the movement in financial liabilities under investment contracts during the year:

2023 2022

Investment contracts where the investment risk is borne by the
2.799,521 2,845,849

contract holder
Investment contracts where the investment risk is borne by

9,253 8,805
related party

__________________ _________________

Total financial liabilities of fair value through profits. loss
2,808,774 2,854,654

As at 7 January 2,854,654 3,266,879

Deposits to investment contracts 130,659 203,794

Withdrawals from investment contracts (357,839) (266,983)

Fees and charges deducted including third parties (33,552) (36,470)

Change in technical provisions for investment contract
299,937 (491,883)

Iiabihties

Other movements (1,742) 4,008

Fx movements (83,343) 175,309

As at 31 December 2,808,774 2,854,654

Investment contracts where the risk is borne by the related party relates to reinsurance contracts with related
parties. Please refer to note 20.
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18 Investment contract llabllltles 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

The following table summarises the movement in financial liabilities under investment contracts during the year: 

Investment contracts where the investment risk is borne by the 
contract holder 
Investment contracts where the investment risk is borne by 
related party 
Total financial llabllltles at fair value through profit & loss 

2023 

2,799,521 

9,253 

2,808,774 

2022 

2,845,849 

8,805 

2,854,654 

As at 1 January 2,854,654 3,266,879 

Deposits to investment contracts 130,659 203,794 

Withdrawals from investment contracts (357,839) (266,983) 

Fees and charges deducted Including third parties (33,552) (36,470) 

Change in technical provisions for investment contract 299,937 (491,883) liabilities 

Other movements (1,742) 4,008 

Fx movements (83,343) 175,309 

As at 31 December 2,808,774 2,854,654 

Investment contracts where the risk is borne by the related party relates to reinsurance contracts with related 
parties. Please refer to note 20. 
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19 InsUrance contract lIabIlItIes

19.1 ComposItion of the balance street

2023

Insurance contract liabtihes
R&nsurance contract assets

2022

Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets

Utmost Weotth Utmost Corporate
Solutions SolutIons

6,686 731.218
isv inns

Current portIon Non-current portion Total

225221 737,904
1)0792) 20)98)
214.429 717.706

2023

Insurance revenue

Wealth Solufloes Corporate Solutions Total

Contracts not measured under the PAA
Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC

Expected incurred clams and othcr directly attributable eupeeses alter loss component allocation

Changes in the isIs adysstment tar nan-Ilnoncial risk tar the risk expired otter loss component
allocation

CON recognised in profit or loss tar the services provided

Insurance acquisition cash flows recovery

Insurance revenue horn contracts no) measured under the PAA

Total Insurance revenue

Insurance servIce expenses
Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses

Changes that relate to past service adjustments to the LIC

Losses on onerous contracts and reversal at the losses

Insurance acquisition cash tiows amortisation

Total Insurance service expenses

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held
Reinsuravce expenses - contracts not measured under th PAA

Expected claims and other expenses recovery

Changes in the risk adjustment recognised tar the risk expired

CON recognised tar the services received

Reinsurance expenses-contracts not measured under the PAA

Other incurred dkecltly attrIbutable expenses

Ettects at changes in the risk ot reinrurers nanpertormance

Claims recovered
Changes that relate to tuture service - changes in the FCF that do nat adjust the CON tot the group of
underlying reinsurance contracts

Changes that relate to past service, adjustments to incurred claims

Total net expenses from relesurance contracts held

Total insurance service result

71 30.932 31,003

1,308 1,315

t2617 12639

2.604 2,684

47.541 47,641

47.541 47.641

19.2 Insurance revenue and expenses

inwrance revenue and insurance servIce resuft

737.904 5)2,603
,__.

... (20.198) (9,406)
6,686 711.020 717,706 503,277

Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate
Solutions Solutions Total Current portion Non-current portIon Total

7,249 715.074 722,323 485,799 236.524 722.323
- 31,909) (3t.909( (6,578) (25,331) (31.909)

7.249 683,165 690,414 419,221 211.193 690,414

22

100

100

50) (24.626) 24.676)

- 16,523 16,523

(120) (2.390) (2.510)

(7) (2,737) (2,744)

(177) (13230) (13,407)

(15) 17,672) 17.687)

- (t.2Bt) 1,281)

. (9.670) (9,670)

(15) (26,623) (28,638)

- (36) (36)

- 9,104 9,104

- 2.171 2,17t

- (12.562) (12.062)

(15) (29,446) (29,461)

(92) 4.865 4.773

67

UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

All amounts are in £000 unless 
otherwise stated 

Total Current portion Non-current portion fotat 

737.904 512.683 225.221 737.904 
(20.198] [9.406] [10.792] [20_19@] 
717,JOE a27 214421 717,70! 

Total Current portion Non-current portion Total 

722.323 485.799 236,524 722.323 
[3I909] [6578] [25,331 [319p9] 
40,44 47,22! 211,173 690.414 443,145 

Utmost Corporate 
Solutions 

715.074 
[3190] 

724 

Utmost Wealth 
Solutions 

7.249 

Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate 
Solutions Solutions 

6.686 731.218 
(2o.19g] 

2022 

Insurance contract liabilities 
Reinsurance contract asset 

Insurance contract liabilities 
Reinsurance contract assets 

1° insurance contract liabilities 

19.1 Campoltion of the balance sheet 

2023 

1.2 insurance revenue and expenses 

Insurance revenue and insurance service result 

2023 Wealth Solutions Corporate Solutions Total 

Insurance revenue 
Contracts not measured under the PAA 
Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC 
Expected incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses ofter loss component allocation 

Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk tor the risk expired after loss component 
allocation 

CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided 
Insurance acquisition cash flows recovery 
Insurance revenue from contracts not measured under the PAA 

Total insurance revenue 

Insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other dlrectty attributable expenses 
Changes that relate to past service adjustments to the UC 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of the losses 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation 

Total Insurance service expenses 

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contract held 
Reinsurance expenses- contracts not measured under the PAA 
Expected claims and other expenses recovery 
Changes in the risk adjustment recognised for the risk expired 
CSM recognised for the services received 
Reinsurance expenses - contracts not measured under the PAA 
Other incurred directly attributable expenses 
Effects of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance 
Cloims recovered 
Changes that relate to tuture service - changes in the FCF that do not adjust the CSM tor the group of 
underlying reinsurance contracts 

Changes that relate to past service adjustments to incurred claims 

Total net expenses from reinsurance contract held 
Total insurance service result 

71 

22 

100 
100 

(50) 

(12o) 
(7) 

(177 

(15) 

(15) 

(15) 
(2) 

30.932 31,003 

1,308 1.315 

12.617 12639 
2.684 2.684 

47,541 47,641 
47,541 47,441 

(24 626) (24.676] 
16.523 16.523 

(2.390) (2.510) 
(2.737) (2.744) 

(13.230) (13,407) 

(17.672) (17.687] 
(1.281) (1.281J 
(9.670) (9,670) 

(26,623) (28.638) 

(36) (36) 
9.104 9,104 

2171 2.171 

[12.062) (12 062] 
(29,446) (29,461) 

4.845 4,773 
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2022

Insurance revenue

Contracts not measured under the PAA
Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC

Expected incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses after loss
component allocation

Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk for the risk expired after loss
component allocation

CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided

Insurance acquisition cash flows recovery

Insurance revenue from contracts not measured under the PAA

Total insurance revenue

Insurance service expenses
Incurred claims and other direcfly attributable expenses

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC

Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of the losses

Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation

Total Insurance service expenses

________________________________________________________

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held

Reinsurance expenses - contracts not measured under the PAA

Expected claims and other expenses recovery

Changes in the risk adjustment recognised for the risk expired

CSM recognised for the services received

Reinsurance expenses - contracts not measured under the PAA

Other Incurred directly attributable expenses

Effects of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance

Claims recovered
Changes that relate to future service - changes in the FCF that do not adjust the
CSM for the group of underlying reinsurance contracts

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to incurred claims

Total net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Total Insurance service result

19.2 Insurance revenue and expenses (continued)

Wealth Solutions Corporate Solutions Total

91 33,313 33404

4 1,574 1.578

19 7503 7.522

- 1.522 1.522

114 43,912 44,026

114 43,912 44,026

(68) (29,351) (29,419)

- (4,019) (4.019)

(12) (6.042) (6.054)

(8) tl.570) (1.578)

(88) (40,982) (41,070)

- (21,322) (21,322)
- (223) (223)

(15) (10,724) (10,739)

(15) (32,269) (32.284)

- (84) (84)

- 19,931 19.931

- 4,653 4,653

- 2.031 2.031

(15) (5,738) (5,753)

11 (2,808) (2,797)
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2022 Wealth Solutions Corporate Solutions Total 

Insurance revenue 
Contracts not measured under the PAA 
Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC 
Expected incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses after loss 
component allocation 

Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk for the risk expired after loss 
component allocation 

CSM recognised In profit or loss for the services provided 
Insurance acquisition cash flows recovery 
Insurance revenue from contracts not measured under the PAA 
Total Insurance revenue 

Insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses 
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of the losses 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation 

Total Insurance service expenses 

91 33,313 33.404 

4 1,574 1,578 

19 7.503 7.522 
1.,522 1.,522 

114 43,912 44,026 
114 43,912 44,026 

(68) (29,351) (29,419) 
(4,019) (4.019) 

(12) (6.042) (6,054) 
(8) (1.570) (1.578) 

(88) (40,982) (41,070) 

Net income (expenses} from reinsurance contracts held 

Reinsurance expenses - contracts not measured under the PAA 
Expected claims and other expenses recovery 
Changes in the risk adjustment recognised for the risk expired 
CSM recognised for the services received 
Reinsurance expenses - contracts not measured under the PAA 
Other incurred directly attributable expenses 
Effects of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance 
Claims recovered 
Changes that relate to future service - changes in the FCF that do not adjust the 
CSM for the group of underlying reinsurance contracts 

Changes that relate to post service - adjustments to incurred claims 

Total net expenses from reinsurance contracts held 

Total insurance service result 

68 

(15) 

(15) 

(15) 

11 

(21.322) (21.,322) 
(223) (223) 

(10.724) (10.739) 
(32,269) (32,284) 

(84) (84) 
19,931 19.931 

4,653 4.653 

2.031 2.031 
(5,738) (5,753) 

(2,808) (2,77 
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Wealth Solutions

insurance Contract Liabilities

Premium receivables due from contract holders

Claims payable due to contract holders

Total Insurance Contract Liabilities

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims

2023

Opening insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 1 January

Insurance revenue

Insurance service expenses

Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses

Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses

Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service result

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income

Investment components

Cash flows

Premiums received

Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid

Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation

Total cash flows

Net balance as at 31 December

Closing insurance contract liabilities

Net baiance as at 31 December

36

6.686

The premium receivables balance farms part of the Liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance forms part of the Liability for
Incurred Claims.

2023 2023

Premium
Claims payable

receivable

2023

6,953

(303)

Wealth Solutions

LRC

Excluding loss
Loss component [IC Total

component

7,006 8 (1) 7,013

7,006 8 (1) 7,013

(100) - (100)

-
(21) 71 50

- 120 - 120

7 - - 7

7 99 71 177

(93) 99 71 77

643 (21 - 641

550 97 71 718

(988) - 988 -

288 - - 288
-

- (1,059) (1,059)

(7) - - (7)

281 - (1,059) (778)

6,849 105 (1) 6,953

6,849 105 (1) 6,953
6.849 105 (1) 6.953

Opening Balance as at 1 January

Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses)

(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred

Closing Balance as at 31 December

44 (280)

288 (1,059)

(29) 1,303
303 (36)
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19 insurance contract liabilities (continued) 

Wealth Solutions 
Insurance Canlract Liabilities 
Premium receivables due from contract holders 
Claims payable due to contract holders 
Total Insurance Contract Uabllltles 

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the llabllity for incurred claims 

2023 LRc 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2023 
6,953 

(303) 
36 

6,686 

Wealth Solutions 

Opening insurance contract liabilities 
Net balance as at 1 January 
Insurance revenue 

Insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation 
Insurance service expenses 
Insurance service result 

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 
Total amounts recognised In comprehensive Income 
Investment components 
Cash flows 
Premiums received 
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation 
Total cash flows 
Net balance as at 31 December 
Closing insurance contract liabilities 
Net balance as at 31 December 

Excluding loss 
component 

7,006 
7,006 
(100) 

7 
7 

(93) 

643 
550 

(988) 

288 

(7) 
281 

6,849 
6,849 
6,849 

Loss component 

8 
8 

(21) 
120 

99 
99 

(2) 
97 

105 
105 
105 

UC Total 

(1 7.013 
() 7,013 

(100) 

71 so 
120 

7 
71 177 
71 77 

641 
71 718 

988 

288 
(1,059) (1,059) 

(7 
(1,059) (778) 

(1) 6,953 
(1) 6,953 
() 6,953 

The premium receivables balance forms part of the Liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance forms part of the Liability for 
Incurred Claims. 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses) 

(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Wealth Solutions

Insurance Contract Liabilities

Premium receivables due from contract holders
Claims payable due to contract holders

Total Insurance Contract Liabilities

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for Incurred claims

2022

280

7,249

Opening insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 1 January

Insurance revenue

insurance service expenses

Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses

Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses

Insuronce acquisition cash flows amortisation

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service result

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income

Investment components
Cash flows

Premiums received

Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid

Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation
Total cash flows

Net balance as at 31 December

Closing insurance contract liabilities

Net balance as at 31 December

The premium receivables balance forms part of the Liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance forms part of the Liability for
Incurred Claims.

Opening Balance as at 1 January

Plus premiums billed! (Less claims incurred and directly attributed expensesl

(Less premiums receivedl ! Plus claims paid

Plus foreign exchanges gains! (losses)

Closing Balance as at3l December

- 21

44 (280)

2022
7.013

(441

Wealth Solutions

CRC

Excluding loss UCLoss component
component

Total

8,945 - - 8.945

8,945 - - 8.945

(114) - - (114)

- (4) 72 68

- 12 - 12

8 - - 8

8 8 72 88

(106) 8 72 (26)

(1621 - - (1621
(268) 8 72 (188)

(1,996) - 1,996 -

332 - - 332
-

- 12,0661 12,068)
(81 - - (81

324 - (2,068) (1,744)
7,006 8 (1) 7,013

7,006 8 (1) 7.013
7,006 8 (1) 7,013

2022 2022
Premium

Claims payable
receivable

116 (379)

332 (2,0681

(404) 2,146
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19 insurance contract liabilities (continued) 

Wealth Solutlons 
Insurance Contract Liabilities 
Premium receivables due from contract holders 
Claims payable due to contract holders 
Total Insurance Conlract Uabllltles 

Reconclllatlon of the lablllty for remaining coverage and the llablllty for Incurred claims 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2022 
7,013 

(44) 
280 

7,249 

2022 LRC 

Wealth Solutions Excluding loss Loss component UC Total 
component 

Opening Insurance contract liabilities 8,945 8,945 
Net balance as at 1 January 8,945 8,945 
Insurance revenue (114) (114) 

Insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses (4) 72 68 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses 12 12 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation 8 8 
Insurance service expenses 8 8 72 88 
Insurance service result (106) 8 72 (26) 
Finance expenses from Insurance contracts issued [162] (162) 
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income (268) 8 72 (188) 
Investment components (1.996) 1,996 
Cash flows 
Premiums received 332 332 
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid (2,068) (2.068) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation (8) (8) 
Total cash flows 324 (2.068) (1,744) 
Net balance as at 31 December 7,006 8 () 7,013 
Closing insurance contract liabilities 7,006 8 (1 7.013 
Net balance as at 31 December 7,006 8 () 7,013 

The premium receivables balance forms part of the Liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance forms part of the Liability for 
Incurred Claims. 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims incurred and directly attributed expenses) 
(Less premiums received) / Plus claims paid 
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses) 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 

70 

2022 2022 
Premium Claims payable receivable 

116 (379) 
332 (2,068) 

(404) 2,146 
21 

44 (280) 
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All amounts ore in £000 unless

otherwise stated

19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances

2023

Opening insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 1 January

Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired
Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future service

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of
losses

insurance service result

Finance lincome) expenses from insurance contracts issued
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income

Cash flows

Premiums received
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows
Total cash flows

Net balance as at 31 December
Closing insurance contract liabilities

Net balance as at 31 December

2023
Premium

receivable
44

288

t291
303

Wealth Solutions Present value of Risk adjustment for
CSMfuture cash flows non- financial risk Total

6752 50 211 7.013
6,752 50 211 7,013

-
- (221 (22)

- (7)
-

(7)
(141 - - (14)
(14) (7) (22) (43)

(87) 9 78

120 -
- 120

33 9 78 120

19 2 56 77
641 1 (1) 641
660 3 55 718

288 - - 288
(1,059) - - (1,059)

(7) - - (7)
(778) - - (778)
6,634 53 266 6,953
6.634 53 266 6.953
6,634 53 266 6,953

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balance form part of the Present Value of Future Cash flows.

Opening Balance as at 1 January

Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses)

(Less premiums received) I Plus claims incurred
Closing Balance as at 31 December

2023

Claims payable

(280)

(1.059)

1,303

- (36)
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19 Insurance contract llabllities (continued) 
Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2023 

Wealth Solutions Present value of Risk adjustment for CSM future cash flows non- financial risk 

Opening insurance contract liabilities 6.752 so 211 
Net balance as at 1 January 6,752 50 211 

Changes that relate to current service 
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided (22) 
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired (7) 
Experience adjustments (14 

(14) (7) (22) 

Changes that relate to future service 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (87) 9 78 

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of 
losses 120 

33 9 78 

Insurance service result 19 2 56 
Finance (income] expenses from insurance contracts issued 641 1 [) 
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income 660 3 55 

Cash flows 
Premiums received 288 
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid (L059) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows (7 
Total cash flows g7s) 
Net balance as at 31 December 6,634 53 266 
Closing insurance contract liabilities 6,634 53 266 
Net balance as at 31 December 6,634 53 266 

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balance form port of the Present Value of Future Cash flows. 

Total 

7.013 
7,013 

(22) 
(7) 

14 
(43) 

120 
120 

77 
641 
718 

288 
(1.059) 

(7) 

6,953 
6,953 
6,953 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid ond directly attributed expenses) 
(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 

71 

2023 2023 
Premium Claims payable recelvable 

44 (280) 
288 (1,059) 
(29) 1.303 

303 (36) 
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19 Insurance contract liabIlities (contInued)

ReconcIlIatIon of the measurement components of Insurance contract balances

2022

Present value of RIsk adjustment for
future cash flows non- fInancIal rIsk

Al) amounts are in £000 unless

otherwise stated

Opening insurance contract liabilities

Net balance as at 1 January

Changes that relate to current service

CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided

Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired

Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future service

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of
losses

Finance (income) expenses from insurance contracts issued

Total amounts recognised In comprehensive Income

Cash flows

Premiums received

Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid

Insurance acquisition cash flows

Total cash flows

Net balance as at 31 December
Closing insurance contract liabilities

Net balance as at 31 December

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balance form part of the Present Value of Future Cash flows.

2022 2022

Opening Balance as at 1 January

Plus premiums billed! (Less claims incurred and directly attributed expenses)

(Less premiums received( / Plus claims paid

Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses)

Closing Balance as at 31 December

Premium
Claims payable

receivable
116 (379)

332 (2,068)

(404) 2,146

Wealth Solutions CSM Total

8,887 24 34 8,945

8,887 24 34 8,945

-

- (19) (19(

- )4) - (4)

(15) — — (15)

(15) (4) (19) (38)

Insurance service result

(220) 28 192

12 - - 12

(208) 28 192 12

(223) 24 173 (26)

(168) 2 4 (162)

(391) 26 177 (188)

332 - - 332

)2,068( - - (2,068)

(8) - - (8)

(1,744) - (1,744)

6,752 50 211 7.013

6,752 50 211 7,013

6.752 50 211 7,013

- 21
44 (280)
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
Reconclllatlon of the measurement components of insurance contract balances 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2022 

Wealth Solutions Present value of Rlsk adjustment for CSM future cash flows non- llnanclal risk 

Opening insurance contract liabilities 8,887 24 34 
Net balance as at 1 January 8,887 24 34 

Changes that relate lo current service 
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided (19) 
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired (4) 
Experience adjustments (15) 

(5) ( (9) 

Changes that relate to future service 
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (220) 28 192 
Changes in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of 
losses 12 

(208) 28 192 

Insurance service result (223) 24 173 

Finance (income) expenses from insurance contracts issued (168) 2 4 

Total amounts recognised In comprehensive Income (391) 26 177 

Cash flows 
Premiums received 332 

Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid (2.068) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows (8) 
Total cash flows (1,744) 
Net balance as at 31 December 6,752 50 211 
Closing Insurance contract liabilities 6.752 50 211 
Net balance as at 31 December 6,752 50 211 

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balance form part of the Present Value of Future Cash flows. 

Total 

8.945 
8,945 

(19) 
(4) 

(15) 
(38) 

12 
12 

(26) 

(162) 

(188) 

332 

(2,068) 
(8) 

(1,744) 
7,013 
7,013 
7,013 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims incurred and directly attributed expenses) 

(Less premiums received) / Plus claims paid 
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses) 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 

72 

2022 2022 
Premium Claims payable receivable 

116 (379) 
332 (2.068) 

(404) 2,146 
21 

44 (280) 
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All amounts are in £000 unless

otherwise stated

19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Corporate Solutions
Insurance Contract Liabilities
Premium receivables due from contract holders

Claims payable due to contract holders

Unallocated premiums from contract holders

Total Insurance Contract Llabiiifles

Reconciiiation of the liability far remaining coverage and the iiabiiity for incurred claims

2023

Corporate Solutions
Excluding loss

component
Loss component LIC Total

Opening insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 1 January

Insurance revenue

Insurance service expenses

Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses

Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation
Insurance service expenses

Insurance service result

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income
Investment components
Cash flows

Premiums received

Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation
Total cash flows

Net balance as at 31 December
Closing insurance contract liabilities

Net balance as at 31 December

582,874 1,172 140,513 724,559
582,874 1,172 140,513 724.559
(47,541) - - (47.541)

- (3.001) 27,627 24,626
-

- (16,5231 (16,523)
- 2,390 - 2,390

2,684 - - 2,684
2,684 (611) 11.104 13.177

(44,857) (611) 11,104 (34,364)
31,220 23 1.043 32,286

(13,637) (588) 12.147 (2,078)

155,227) - 55,227 -

105.257 - - 105,257
-

- (92.564) (92564)
(2,662) -

- 12.6621
102.595 - (92.564) 10,031
616.605 584 115,323 732,512
616,605 584 115,323 732,512
616,605 584 115,323 732,512

The premium receivables balance forms part of the liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance forms part of the Liability for
Incurred Claims.

Opening Balance as at 1 January

Plus premiums billed! ILess claims paid and directly attributed expensesl
lLess premiums received)! Plus claims incurred (111,1301
Plus foreign exchanges gains! Ilosses)
Closing Balance as at 31 December

13311 17 -

5,344 (2,163) (1.887)

2023

732,512
(5.344)

2,163
1,887

731,218

LRC

2023 2023

Premium
Claims payablereceivable

11,548

105,257

2023
Unallocated

premiums

11.8871

(2,063)

(92,564)

92,447
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 

Corporate Solutions 
Insurance Contract Liabilities 
Premium receivables due from contract holders 
Claims payable due to contract holders 
Unallocated premiums from contract holders 
Total Insurance Contract Liabilities 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2023 
732,512 

(5.344) 
2,163 
1,887 

731,218 

Reconciliation of the llability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims 

2023 LRC 

Corporate Solutions Excluding loss Loss component llC Total component 

Opening insurance contract liabilities 582,874 1,172 140,513 724.559 
Net balance as at 1 January 582,874 1,172 140,513 724,55 
Insurance revenue (47,541) (47,541) 
insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other directly attnbutable expenses (3.001) 27.627 24,626 
Changes that relate lo past service - adjustments lo the UC (16.523) (16.523) 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses 2,390 2,390 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation 2.684 2,684 
Insurance service expenses 2,684 (611) 11,104 13,177 
Insurance service result (44.857) (1 11,104 (34.364 
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 31.220 23 1.043 32,286 
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income (13,637) (588) 12,147 (2,078) 
Investment components (55.227) 55,227 
Cash flows 
Premiums received 105.257 105.257 
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid (92.564) (92.564) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation (2.662) (2.662) 
Total cash flows 102,595 (92.564) 10,031 
Net balance as at 31 December 616,605 584 115,323 732,512 
Closing insurance contract liabilities 616.605 584 115.323 732.512 
Net balance as at 31 December 616,605 584 115,323 732,512 

The premium receivables balance forms part of the liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance forms port of the Liability for 
Incurred Claims. 

2023 2023 2023 
Premium Claims payable Unallocated 

receivable premiums 
Opening Balance as at 1 January 11,548 (2,063) 
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses) 105.257 (92.564) 
(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred (11,130) 92,447 (1.887) 
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses) (331) 17 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 5,344 (2.163) (1.887) 

73 
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

All amounts are in £000 unless

otherwise stated

Corporate Solutions
Insurance Contract Liabilities
Premium receivables due from contract holders
Claims payable due to contract holders
Total Insurance Canfract Liabilities

ReconcilIation of the lIability tot remaining coverage and the liability far Incurred claims

2022

2022
724,559

tl 1,548)

2,063
715,074

Opening insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 1 January
Insurance revenue
Insurance service expenses
Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation
Insurance service expenses
Insurance service result
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued
Total amounts recognised In comprehensive Income
Investment components
Cash flows
Premiums received
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation
Total cash flows

Net balance as at 31 December
Closing insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 31 December

Opening Balance as at 1 January
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses)
(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses)
Closing Balance as at 31 December

2022 2022

Premium
Claims payablereceivable

10,347 (2,335)

104,140 (99,493)

(105,988) 99,822
3.049 (57)

11,548 (2.063)

Corporate Solutions

LRC

Excluding loss
Loss componentcomponent tIC Total

607,863
- 131,134 738,997

607,863 - 131,134 738,997
(43.972) - - (43.912)

- (4,973) 34,324 29,351
-

- 4,019 4,019
- 6,042

- 6.042
1.534

-
- 1,534

1,534 1,069 38,343 40,946
(42.378) 1.069 38,343 (2.966)
)15,544) 103 2,416 (13.025)
(57.922) 1.172 40,759 (15.997)
168.113) - 68,113 -

104,140 -
- 104,140

-

- (99,493) (99,493)
(3.094) - - (3,094)

101,046 - (79,493) 1.553
582,874 1,172 140,513 724,559
582,874 1,172 140.513 724.559
582,874 1,172 140,513 724,559

The premium receivables balance forms part of the Liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance farms part of the Liability forIncurred Claims.
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 

Corporate Solutions 
Insurance Contract Liabilities 
Premium receivables due from contract holders 
Claims payable due to contract holders 
Total Insurance Contract Liabilities 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2022 
724.559 
(11,548) 

2,063 
715,074 

Reconciliation of the liablllty for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims 

2022 LRC 

Corporate Solutions Excluding loss Loss component uIc Total component 

Opening Insurance contract liabilities 607.863 131.134 738,997 
Net balance as at 1 January 607,863 131,134 738,997 
Insurance revenue (43,912) (43,912) 
Insurance service expenses 
Incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses (4,973) 34.324 29.351 
Changes that relate to post service • adjustments to the LIC 4,019 4,019 
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those losses 6,042 6.042 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation 1,534 1,534 
Insurance service expenses 1,534 1,069 38,343 40,946 
Insurance service result (42,378) 1,069 38,343 (2,966) 
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (15,544) 103 2,416 (13.025) 
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income (57,922) 1,172 40,759 (15,991) 
Investment components (68.113) 68,113 
Cash flows 
Premiums received 104,140 104,140 
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid (99,493) (99,493) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation (3.094) (3,094) 
Total cash flows 101,046 (99,493) 1,553 
Net balance as at 31 December 582,874 1,172 140,513 724,559 
Closing insurance contract liabilities 582.874 1,172 140.513 724,559 
Net balance as at 31 December 582,874 1,172 140,513 724,559 

The premium receivables balance forms part of the Liability for Remaining Coverage and the Claims payable balance forms part of the Liability for 
Incurred Claims. 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 
Plus premiums billed/ [Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses] 

(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred 
Plus foreign exchanges gains / {losses) 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 

74 

2022 2022 
Premium Claims payable recelvable 

10,347 (2.335) 
104,140 (99,493) 

(105,988) 99,822 
3,049 (57) 

11,548 (2.063) 
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Reconciliation of the measurement components of Insurance contract balances

2023

2023

Premium
receivable

11,548

105,257

(111.130)

(331)

5-344

Ad) amounts are in £000 unless
otherwise stated

2023

Claims payable

(2,063)

(92,564)

92,447
17

(2,163)

Present value of Risk adjustment for
future cash flows non- financial risk CSM Total

698,949 10,935 14,675 724,559
698,949 10,935 14,675 724,559

(48)
- t12569) (12,617)

- (1,308) - (1.308)
(6,306) - - (6,306)
(6,354) ( 1.308) (12,569) (20,231)

Corporate Solutions

Opening insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 1 January
Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired
Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of
losses
Contracts initially recognised in the period

Changes relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC
Insurance service result
Finance (income) expenses from insurance contracts issued
Total amounts recognIsed in comprehensIve Income
Cash flows
Premiums received
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows
Total cash flows

Net balance as at 31 December
Closing insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 31 December

2,996 (102) (2894) -

470 - - 470

(19,047) 1,005 19,962 1,920
(15,581) 903 17,068 2,390
(15,428) (1,095) - (16,523)
(37,363) (1.500) 4,499 (34,364)
31,666 145 475 32,286
(5,697) (1,355) 4,974 (2,078)

105,257 - - 105,257
(92,564) - - (92,564)

(2,662) - - (2,662)
10,031 - 10.031

703.283 9,580 19,649 732,512
703,283 9,580 19,649 732,512
703,283 9,580 19,649 732.512

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cash flows.

Opening Balance as at 1 January
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses)
(Less premiums received) I Plus claims incurred
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (lasses)

___________

Closing Balance as at 31 December

2023

Unallocated
premiums

(1,887)

(1,887)
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances 

2023 

Corporate SoluHons Present value of Risk adjustment for 
future cash flows non- financial risk CSM Total 

Opening insurance contract liabilities 
Net balance as at 1 January 
Changes that relate to current service 
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided 
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired 
Experience adjustments 

698,949 
698,949 

(48) 

(6.306) 

10,935 
10,935 

(1.308) 

14,675 
14,675 

(12.569) 

724,559 
724,55 

(12.617) 
(1,308) 
(6,306) 

(6,354) (1,308) (12,569) (20,231) 
Changes that relate to future service 
Changes In estimates that adjust the CSM 

Changes In estimates that result In onerous contract losses or reversal of 
losses 
Contracts initially recognised in the period 

2,996 

470 

(19,047) 

(102) 

1,005 

(2.894) 

19,962 

470 

1.,920 
(15,581) 903 17,068 2,390 

Changes relate to past service - adjustments to the UC 
Insurance service result 
Finance (Income) expenses from Insurance contracts Issued 
Total amounts recognised In comprehensive income 
Cash flows 
Premiums received 
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid 
Insurance acquisition cash flows 
Total cash flows 
Net balance as at 31 December 
Closing insurance contract llabfiftles 
Net balance as at 31 December 

(5,428) 
(37,363) 
31,666 
(5,697) 

105.257 
(92.564) 

(2.662) 
10,031 

703,283 
703.283 
703,283 

[Lo95] 
(1,500) 

145 
(1.355) 

9,580 
9,580 
9,580 

4,499 
475 

4,974 

19,649 
19,649 
19,649 

(16.523) 
(34,364) 
32.,286 
(2.078) 

105,257 
(92.564) 

(2,662) 
10,031 

732,512 
732.512 
732,512 

(1,887) 

(1,887) 

2023 
Unallocated 

premlums 

(2.143) 

2023 

Claims payable 

(2,063) 
(92,564) 
92,447 

17 
5,344 

105,257 

(111,130) 
(331) 

Opening Balance as at I January 
Plus premiums billed/ (less claims paid and directly attributed expenses) 

(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred 
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses) 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cash flows. 
2023 

Premium 
receivable 

11,548 
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Reconciliation of the measurement components of Insurance contract balances

2022

Opening insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 1 January
Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired
Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of
losses
Contracts initially recognised in the period

Changes relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC
Insurance service result
Finance (income) expenses from insurance contracts issued
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income
Cash flows

Premiums received
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid
ln5urance acquisition cash flows
Total cash flaws

Net balance as at 31 December
Closing insurance contract liabilities
Net balance as at 31 December

Premium
receivable

10,347

104,140

(105,988)
3,049

11.548

Corporate Solutions Present value of Risk adjustment for
CSMfuture cash flows nan- financial risk Total

722,343 1 1,281 5,373 738,997
722,343 11,281 5.373 738,997

(47) - (7,456) (7,503)
- (1,574) - (1,574)

(3,952) - - (3.952)
(3,999) (1,574) (7,456) (13.029)

(770) (696) 1.466 -

4362 -
- 4.362

(13.535) 963 14,252 1,680
(9,943) 267 15,718 6,042

4.095 (75) - 4.020
(9,847) (1.382) 8,262 (2,967)

(15.100) 1.036 1,040 (13,024)
(24,947) (346) 9,302 (15,991)

104,140 - - 104.140
(99,493) - - (99,493)

(3,094) -
- (3,094(

1,553 - - 1.553
698,949 10,935 14.675 724.559
698,949 10,935 14,675 724.559
698,949 10,935 14,675 724,559

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cash flows.

Opening Balance as at 1 January

Plus premiums billed? (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses)

(Less premiums received) / Plus claims incurred
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses)
Closing Balance as at 31 December

2022 2022

Claims payable

(2,335)

(99.493)

99822
(57)

(2.063)
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances 

2022 

Corporate Solutions Present value of Risk adjustment for CSM Total future cash flows non- financial risk 

Opening insurance contract liabilities 722.343 11,281 5,373 738,997 
Net balance as at 1 January 722,343 11,281 5,373 738,997 
Changes that relate to current service 
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided (47) (7.456) (7.503) 
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for the risk expired (1,574) (1,574) 
Experience adjustments (3.952) (3.952) 

(3,999) (1,574) (7,456) (13,029) 
Changes that relate to future service 
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (770) (696) 1,466 

Changes in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of 4.362 4.362 
losses 
Contracts initially recognised In the period (13.535) 963 14,252 1.680 

(9,943) 267 15,718 6.042 

Changes relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC 4.095 (75) 4,020 
Insurance service result (9,847) (1,382) 8,262 (2.967) 
Finance (income) expenses from Insurance contracts Issued (15.100) 1,036 1,040 (13,024) 
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income (24,947) (346) 9,302 (15,991) 
Cash flows 
Premiums received 104,140 104,140 
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid (99,493) (99,493) 
Insurance acquisition cash flows (3,094) (3.094 
Total cash flows 1,553 1,553 
Net balance as at 31 December 698,949 10,935 14,675 724,55° 
Closing insurance contract liabilities 698,949 10,935 14,675 724,559 
Net balance as at 31 December 698,949 10,935 14,675 724,559 

The premium receivables and the Claims payable balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cash flows. 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 
Plus premiums billed/ (Less claims paid and directly attributed expenses) 

(Less premiums received) / Plus claims Incurred 
Plus foreign exchanges gains / (losses) 
Closing Balance as at 31 December 

76 

2022 2022 
Premium Claims payable recelvable 

10,347 (2.335) 

104.140 (99,493) 

(105,988) 99.822 
3,049 (57) 

11,548 (2.063) 
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79 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Amounts determined on transitIon to If RS 17

All amounts are in £000 unless
otherwise stated

2023

Insurance contracts issued

Insurance revenue

New contracts issued
Contracts measured under the fair value approach
at transition

CSM as at 37 December

New contracts issued
Contracts measured under the fair value approach
at transition

Reinsurance contracts held

CSM as of 31 December

New contracts issued
Contracts measured under the fair value approach
at transition

2022

Insurance contracts issued

Insurance revenue

New contracts issued
Contracts measured under the fair value approach
at transition

CSM as at 31 December

New contracts issued
Contracts measured under the fair value approach
at transition

Reinsurance contracts held

CSM as at 31 December

New contracts issued
Contracts measured under the fair value approach
at transition

Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate
Solutions Solutions

100

Total

35,773 35,773

11,768 11,868

100 47,541 47441

- 11,914 11,914

266 7,735 8,001

266 19,649 19,915

- (8,303) (8,303)

- (3,815) (3,815)

- (12,118) (12,118)

Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate
TSolutions Solutions o a

- 1 7,570 17,570

114 26,342 26,456

174 43,912 44,026

- 7,380 7,380

211 7,295 7,506

211 14,675 14,886

- (6,661) (6,661)

- (2,005) (2,005)

- (8,666) (8,666)
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19 Insurance contract liablllties (continued) 

Amounts determined on transition to IFRS 17 

2023 Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate Total Solutions Solutions 
Insurance contracts issued 
Insurance revenue 
New contracts issued 35,773 35.773 
Contracts measured under the fair value approach 100 11,768 11,868 al transition 

100 47,541 47,641 

CSM as at 31 December 
New contracts issued 11,914 11,914 
Contracts measured under the fair value approach 266 7,735 8,001 at transition 

266 19,649 19,915 

Reinsurance contracts held 
CSM as at 31 December 
New contracts issued (8.,303) (8.,303) 
Contracts measured under the fair value approach (3,815) (3,815) at transition 

(12,118) (12,118) 

2022 Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate Total Solutions Solutions 

Insurance contracts issued 
Insurance revenue 
New contracts issued 17,570 17,570 
Contracts measured under the fair value approach 114 26,342 26,456 at transition 

114 43,912 44,026 

CSM as at 31 December 
New contracts issued 7.380 7,380 
Contracts measured under the fair value approach 211 7,295 7.506 at transition 

211 14,675 14,886 

Reinsurance contracts held 
CSM as at 31 December 
New contracts issued (6.661) (6,661) 
Contracts measured under the fair value approach (2.005) (2.005) at transition 

(8,666) (8,666) 
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Increase in the insurance contract liabilities from contracts recognised in the period
Utmast Wealth Solutions has no new insurance at reinsurance cantracts

Jl amounts are in £000 unless

otherwise stated

19 Insurance contract lIabilIties (continued)
Expected recognition of conhoctuol service morgin

Insurance contracts Issued Reinsurance contracts held
Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate2023

Solutions Solutions 00
Solutions SolutionsYear 1 20 9,586 9,606 - (6.054) (6,054)

Yeat2 18 3,039 3057 - (2699)
Year3

16 1,014 1.030,
- 1881) (881)

Yeor4 15 522 537’ (455) (455)
Year 5 14 482 496 - (455) 1455)
Years 6 to 10 57 1,876 1,933

- 11.429) (1,429)
Years lOond beyond 126 3,130 3,256 (145) (145]
Total 266 9,649 19915 - (12,118) f12.fl8)

Insurance contracts Issued Reinsurance contracts held

Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate
Tot Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate

Toi
2022

Solutions Solutions a
Solutions Solutions

YearS 19 7,433 7,452 - (5,772) )5,772)
Year2 17 2.145 2162 - (1.451) (1,451)
Year3 16 424 440 - (189) (189)
Yeor4 14 385 399 - (177) (177)
YearS

12 359 371 - (177) (177)
Years 6 to 10 49 1,435 1,484 - (734) (734)
Years 10 and beyond 84 2.494 2,578 - (166) (166)
Total

211 14.675 14,886
- 18.666) (8,666)

Impact of contracts recognised In the year
Utmost Corporate Solutions

Non- onerous
Onerous contracts2023

contracts Total
. ortginotedoriginated

Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows

-Insurance acquisition cash flaws
2.328 282 2.610

- Claims and other directly attributable expenses
16.555 7,059 23.6 14Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows
18.883 7.341 26,224Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows

(39,556) 15,715) (45,27 I)Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk
71 1 294 1.005

CSM
19,962

- 19,962Increase in the insurance contract liobllities from contracts recognIsed In the perIod
- 1.920 1.920

Utmost Corporate Solutions
Non- onerous

Onerous contracts2022 contracts
origInated Total

originated
Estimates of the presenf value of future cash outflows

- Insurance acquisition cash flows
2,865 334 3.199

- Claims and other directly attributable expenses
18,713 5.422 24.135Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows
21.578 5.756 27,334Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows

(36.563) 14,306) 140,869)Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk
733 230 963

CSM
14,252

- 14,252

- 1,680 1,680
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
Expected recognition of contractual service margin 

Insurance contracts issued Reinsurance contracts held 

2023 Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate Total I Utmost Wealth utmost corporate [ Total Solutions Solutions Solutions Solutions 
Year 1 20 9,586 9.606 (6,054) (60s4 
Year 2 18 3.039 3,057 . (2.699) t2.699) 
Year3 16 1.014 1,030 . (881) (681) 
Year 4 15 522 537 (455) (455) 
Year 5 14 482 496 (455) (455) 

Years 6 to 10 57 1,876 1,933 . (1,429) (1,429) 
Years IO and beyond 126 3.130 3,256 . (145) (145] 

19,649l 
- 

1.915 (121e/ (2118] Total 266 - 

2022 

2023 

Impact of contracts recognised In the year 

Increase in the insurance contract liabilities from contracts recognised in the period 

Reinsurance contract held 

Total Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate Total Solutions Solutions 

7,452 (5.772] (5.772) 

2,162 (1.451) (1,451), 

440 (18) (189) 
399 (177) (77 
371 (177 (77 

1484 (734) (734) 

2,578 (166) (166) 

14.886 (8.666]) (8.666) 

Utmost Corporate Solutions 
Non- onerous Onerous contracts contracts originated Total 

originated 

2.328 282 2.610 

16.555 7.059 23.614 

18.883 7.341 26.224 

(39,556) (5.715) (45.271) 

711 294 1,005 

19,962 19,962 

1,920 1,920 

Utmost Corporate Solutions 
Non- onerous Onerous contract contract originated Total 

originated 

2.865 334 3.199 

18,713 5.422 24,135 

21.578 5.756 27.334 

(36.,563) (4.306) (40.869) 

733 230 963 

14.252 14.252 

1,680 1,680 

Insurance contracts issued 

Utmost Wealth Utmost Corporate 
Solutions Solutions 

19 7.,433 
17 2145 

16 424 
14 385 
12 359 

49 1.435 

84 2,494 

211 14,675 

Increase in the insurance contract liabilities from contracts recognised in the period 
Utmost Wealth Solutions has no new insurance or reinsurance contracts 

Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows 

- Insurance acquisition cash flows 

- Claims and other directly attributable expenses 

Year I 
Year 2 

Year 3 

Year 4 

Year5 

Years 6 to 10 

Years I0 and beyond 

2022 

Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows 

Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows 

Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk 

CSM 

Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows 

Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows 

Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk 

CSM 

Total 

Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows 

- Insurance acquisition cash flows 

- Claims and other directly attributable expenses 
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
impact of contracts recognised in the year

Reinsurance contracts held Utmost Corporate Solutions

. ContractsContracts originated2023 originated in Totalnot in a net gain
a net gain

Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows 12,202 6,266 18,468
Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows (28,508) (4,797) (33,305)
Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk 515 266 781
CSM 15,791 (1.735) 14,056
Increase in the reinsurance contract assets from contracts - - -

recognised in the period

Reinsurance contracts held Utmost Corporate Solutions

ContractsContracts originated2022 originated in Totalnot in a net gain
a net gain

Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows 10,900 3,664 14,564
Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows (21,749) (3,129) (24,878)
Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk 484 160 644
CSM 10,365 (695) 9,670
Increase In the relnsurance contract assets from contracts - - -

recognised in the period

*Utmost Wealth Solutions has no new insurance or reinsurance contracts
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
Impact of contracts recognised in the year 

Reinsurance contracts held 

2023 

Utmost Corporate Solutions 

Contracts 
Contracts originated originated tn 

not In a net gain a net gain 
Total 

Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows 
Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows 
Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk 
CSM 

12.202 
(28.508) 

515 
15,791 

6.266 
(4,797) 

266 
(1,735) 

18,468 
(33,305) 

781 
14,056 

Increase In the reinsurance contract assets from contracts 
recognised In the period 

Reinsurance contracts held 

2022 

Utmost Corporate Solutlons 

Contracts 
Contracts originated originated In 

not In a net gain a net gain 
Total 

Estimates of the present value of future cash inflows 
Estimates of the present value of future cash outflows 
Risk-adjustment for non-financial risk 
CSM 

10,900 
(21,749) 

484 
10,365 

3,664 
(3.129) 

160 
(695) 

14,564 
(24,878) 

644 
9,670 

Increase In the reinsurance contract assets from contracts 
recognised In the period 

Utmost Wealth Solutions has no new insurance or reinsurance contracts 
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19 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Insurance claims development 2023

Estimated of ultimate claims costs (gross Accident year
of reinsurance, undiscounted) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
At end of accident year 9,146 1 1.050 10,801 14,967 7,488
1 year later 7,632 8,345 15,918 7,245
2 years later 8,871 6.499 1 1,646
3 years later 5,801 6,041
4 years later 4,399
5 years later

Cumulative gross claims (2,791) (1,488) (2,429) (565) (64) (6,737)

Gross cumulative claims liabilities
- 30 082accident years from 2019 to 2023

Gross cumulative claims liabilities - prior
84016accident years

Effect of discontinuing (5.870)
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for

7 096non-financial risk

Gross LIC for the contracts origInated 115,324

Reinsurance claims development 2023

Estimated of ultimate claims costs (net of Accident year
reinsurance, undlscounted) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total
At end of accident year 1,855 3,185 1,728 3,334 1,581
1 year later 1,096 2,900 2,875 2,756
2 years later 1,319 2,489 2,287
3 years later 664 2,252
4 years later 541

5 years later

Cumulative net claims (324) (440) (450) (179) (22) (7,415)

Net cumulative claims liabilities -

accident years from 2019 to 2023 8,002

Net cumulative claims liabilities - prior
accident years 60.526

Effect of discontinuing (2.138)
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for

6 870non-financial risk

Net LIC for the contracts originated 73,260

80

UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

19 Insurance contract llabllltles (continued) 

Insurance claims development 2023 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

Estimated of ultimate claims costs (gross I Accident year 
of reinsurance, undlscounted) I 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 
At end of accident year 9,146 11,050 10,801 14,967 7,488 
1 year later 7.632 8.,345 15,918 7,245 
2 years later 8,871 6,499 11,646 
3 years later 5,801 6,041 
4 years later 4,399 
5 years later 

Cumulative gross claims (2,191) (1,488) (2,429) (565) (64) (6,737) 

Gross cumulative claims liabilities ­ 
30,082 accident years from 2019 to 2023 

Gross cumulative claims liabilities - prior 84,016 accident years 

Effect of discontinuing (5.870) 
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for 

7,096 non-financial risk 
Gross LIC for the contracts originated 115,324 

Reinsurance claims development 2023 

Estimated of ultimate claims costs (net of I Accident year 
reinsurance, undiscounted) I 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 
At end of accident year 1,855 3,185 1,728 3,334 1,581 
1 year later 1,096 2,900 2,875 2,756 
2 years later 1,319 2,489 2,287 
3 years later 664 2.252 
4 years later 541 
5 years later 

Cumulative net claims (324) (440) (450) (179) (22) (1,415) 

Net cumulative claims liabilities ­ 
accident years from 2019 to 2023 8.002 

Net cumulative claims liabilities - prior 
60,526 accident years 

Effect of discontinuing (2.138) 
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for 

6,870 non-financial risk 

Net UC for the contracts originated 73,260 
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Insurance claims development 2022

Estimated of ultimate claims costs (gross of Accident year
reinsurance, undiscounted) 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total
At end of accident year 9,146 11,050 10,801 14,967
I yearlater 7,632 8,345 15,918
2 years later 8,871 6,499
3 years later 5,801
4 years later

5 years later

Cumulative gross claims (2,019) (1,079) (1,280) (121) (4,439)

Gross cumulative claims liabilities - accident years
38 746from 2019 to 2023

Gross cumulative claims liabilities - prior accident
101 168years

Effect of discontinuing (7,580)
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for non-financial

8 179risk

Gross LIC for the contracts originated 140,513

Reinsurance claims development 2022

Estimated of ultimate claims costs (net of Accident year
reinsurance, undlscounted) 2079 2020 2021 2022 Total

At end of accident year 1,855 3,185 1,728 3,334
1 year later 1,096 2,900 2875
2 years later 1,319 2,489
3 years later 664
4 years later

5 years later

. (290) (301) (255) (58) (904)Cumulative net claims

Net cumulative claims liabilities - accident years
8 458from 2019 to 2023

Net cumulative claims liabilities - prior accident
70 846years

Effect of discontinuing (2,426)
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for non-financial

6 661risk

Net LIC for the contracts originated 83,539
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Insurance claims development 2022 
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Estimated of ultimate claims costs (gross of I Accident year 
reinsurance, undiscounted) I 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total 
At end of accident year 9,146 11,050 10,801 14,967 
1 year later 7,632 8,345 15,918 
2 years later 8,871 6,499 
3 years later 5,801 
4 years later 
5 years later 

Cumulative gross claims (2,019) (1,019) (1,280) (121) (4,439) 

Gross cumulative claims liabilities - accident years 38,746 from 2019 to 2023 
Gross cumulative claims liabilities - prior accident 101,168 years 

Effect of discontinuing (7.580) 
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for non-financial 8,179 risk 
Gross LIC for the contracts originated 140,513 

Reinsurance claims development 2022 

Estimated of ultimate claims costs (net of I Accident year 
reinsurance, undiscounted) I 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total 

At end of accident year 1,855 3,185 1,728 3,334 
1 yearlater 1,096 2,900 2,875 
2 years later 1.319 2,489 
3 years later 664 
4 years later 
5 years later 

Cumulative net claims (290) (301) (255) (58) (904) 

Net cumulative claims liabilities - accident years 8,458 from 2019 to 2023 
Net cumulative claims liabilities - prior accident 70,846 years 

Effect of discontinuing (2,426) 
Effect of the risk adjusment margin for non-financial 6,661 risk 
Net LIC for the contracts originated 83,539 
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UTMOST WORLWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Au amounts ate in £000 unless
otherwise stated

20 Relnsurance contract assets

2023

Corporate solutions - Relnsurance
Remaining

Incurred claimscoverage

2023

60,644

(14,968)

1,250

(26,728)

20,198

Total

Opening reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 1 January

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance expenses

Claims recovered

Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to incurred claims
Changes that relate to future service - changes in the FCF that do not
adjust the CSM for the group of underlng insurance contracts

Effect af changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance
Net Income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held

Finance income from reinsurance contracts held

Total amounts recognised In comprehensive Income

Cash flows
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other directly attributable
expenses paid

Recoveries from reinsurance
Total cash Ilows
Net balance as at 31 December
Closing reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 31 December

18,949 56,974 75,923

18,949 56,974 75,923

(28,623) - (28,623)

- 9,104 9,104

- (12,062) (12,062)

2,171
- 2,171

(2) (34) (36)
(26,454) (2,992) (29,446)

500 809 1,309

(25,954) (2,183) (28,137)

25,583
- 25,583

- (12,725) (12,725)
25,583 (12,725) 12,858
18,578 42,066 60,644
18,578 42,066 60,644
18,578 42,066 60,644

(3.490)
(25,583)
13,954

151
(14,968)

3,918
12,725

(15,514)
121

1,250

2023

Deposits from
reinsurers

(44,442)

17,094
620

(26.728

Corporate Solutions

Reinsurance contract assets

Reinsuronce premium ceded payable to reinsurers

Claims receivable from reinsurers

Deposits from reinsurers

Total reinsurance contract assets

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims

The premium payable balance forms port of the remaining coverage and the claims receivable forms part of incurred claims. Thereinsurance deposit is recognised as an amount lower than the reinsured incurred claims amount so is considered to form part ofincurred claims.

2023 2023
Premiums Claims

payable to receivable from
reinsurer Insurer

Opening Balance
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions! (Less claims recovered)
Plus claims paid / (Less premiums received)
Plus FX

________ _______ _____________

Closing Balance
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20 Reinsurance contract assets 

Corporate Solutions 
Reinsurance contract assets 

Reinsurance premium ceded payable to reinsurers 

Claims receivable from reinsurers 

Deposits from reinsurers 

Total reinsurance contract assets 

Reconclllation of the llablllty for remaining coverage and the llablllty for incurred claims 

All amounts are in £ 000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2023 

60,644 

(14,968) 

1,250 

[26.728) 

20,198 

2023 
Remaining Incurred claims Total Corporate solutions • Reinsurance coverage 

Opening reinsurance contract assets 18,949 56,974 75,923 
Net balance as at 1 January 18,949 56,974 75,923 

Net Income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held 
Reinsurance expenses (28.623) (28,623) 
Claims recovered 9,104 9,104 
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to incurred claims (12,062) (12,062) 
Changes that relate to future service - changes in the FCF that do not 
adjust the CSM for the group of underlying insurance contracts 2,171 2,171 

Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance (2) [34] [3] 
Net income (expenses} from reinsurance contracts held (26.454) (2.992) (29,446) 

Finance income from reinsurance contracts held 500 809 1,309 

Total amounts recognised in comprehensive Income (25.954) (2.183 (26,137) 

Cash flows 
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other directly attr1butable 
expenses paid 25,583 25.583 
Recoveries from reinsurance (12,725] [12.725] 
Total cash flows 25,583 (12.725 12,858 
Net balance as at 31 December 18,578 42,066 60,644 
Closing reinsurance contract assets 18,578 42,066 60,644 
Net balance as at 31 December 18,578 42,066 60,644 

The premium payable balance forms part of the remaining coverage and the claims receivable forms part of incurred claims. The 
reinsurance deposit is recognised as an amount lower than the reinsured incurred claims amount so is considered to form part of 
Incurred claims. 

2023 2023 2023 
Premiums Claims Deposits from payable to recelvable from 
reinsurer Insurer reinsurers 

Opening Balance (3,490) 3,918 (44,442) 
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions/ (Less claims recovered) (25.583) 12,725 
Plus claims paid / (Less premiums received) 13,954 (15,514) 17.094 
Plus FX 151 121 620 
Closing Balance (14,968) 1,250 (26,728) 

84 



UTMOST WORLWIDE LIMITED
NOTES To THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

All amounts are in £000 unless
otherwise stated

20 Reinsurance contract assets (continued)

2022

Corporate solutions- Reinsurance

Opening reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 1 January

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance expenses

Other incurred directly attributable expenses
Claims recovered
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to incurred claims

Changes that relate to future service - changes in the FCF that do not
adjust the CSM for the group of underlying insurance contracts
Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance
Net income (expenses) from relnsurance contracts held
Finance income from reinsuronce contracts held
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive income

Cash flows
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other directly attributable
expenses paid

Recoveries from reinsurance
Total cash flows
Net balance as at 31 December
Closing reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 31 December

(10,174)
(32.740)
39.266

158
13.490)

5
18,475

(14,464)
(98)

3.918

2022

75,923

(3,490)

3,9 18

(44,442)

37,909

2022

Deposits from
reinsurers

(40,153)

(1,303)
(2,986)

(44.442)

Corporate Solutions

Reinsurance contract assets

Reinsurance premium ceded payable to reinsurers

Claims receivable from reinsurers

Deposits from reinsurers

Total reinsurance contract assets

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims

Remaining
Incurred claimscoverage Total

1 1,790 56,233 68,023
71.790 56,233 68,023

(32,269)
- (32,269)

- 19,931 19,931

- 2,031 2,031

4,653
- 4,653

(28) (56) (84)

(27,644) 21,906 (5.738)
2,063 (2,689) (626)

(25,581) 19,217 (6,364)

32,740
- 32,740

- (18,476) (18,476)
32,740 (18,476) 14,264
18,949 56,974 75,923
18,949 56,974 75,923
18,949 56,974 75.923

The premium payable balance forms part of the remaining coverage and the claims receivable forms port of incurred claims. Thereinsurance deposit is recognised as an amount lower than the reinsured incurred claims amount so is considered to form part ofincurred claims.

2022 2022

Premiums Claims
payable to receivable from

reinsurer insurer
Opening Balance
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions/ (Less claims recovered)
Plus claims paid I (Less premiums received)
Plus FX

________
_______

_____________

Closing Balance
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20 Reinsurance contract assets (continued) 

Corporate Solutions 

Reinsurance contract assets 

Reinsurance premium ceded payable to reinsurers 

Claims receivable from reinsurers 

Deposits from relnsurers 

Total reinsurance contract assets 

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2022 
75.923 

(3,490) 

3,918 

[44.442) 
31,909 

2022 
Remaining Incurred claims Total Corporate solutions • Reinsurance coverage 

Opening reinsurance contract assets 11,790 56.233 68,023 
Net balance as at 1 January 11,790 56,233 68,023 

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held 
Reinsurance expenses (32.269) (32.269) 

Other incurred dlrectty attributable expenses 
Claims recovered 19,931 19,931 
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to incurred claims 

2.031 2.031 
Changes that relate lo future service - changes in the FCF that do not 
adjust the CSM for the group of underlying Insurance contracts 4,653 4,653 
Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non-performance [2a] [56] [4] 
Net Income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held (27.444) 21,906 (5.738 
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held 2,063 (2.689] [626] 
Total amounts recognised In comprehensive Income (25.581) 19,217 (6.364) 

Cash flows 
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other directly attributable 
expenses paid 32,740 32,740 
Recoveries from reinsurance [18.476) [18.476] 
Total cash flows 32,740 (18.476) 14,264 
Net balance as at 31 December 18,949 56,974 75,923 
Closing reinsurance contract assets 18,949 56,974 75,923 
Net balance as at 31 December 18,949 56,974 75,923 

The premium payable balance forms part of the remaining coverage ond the claims receivable forms port of incurred claims. The 
reinsurance deposit Is recognised as an amount lower than the reinsured incurred claims amount so Is considered to form part of 
incurred claims. 

2022 2022 2022 
Premiums Claims Deposits from payable to recelvable from 

relnsurer Insurer reinsurers 

Opening Balance (10,174) 5 (40,153) 
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions/ (Less claims recovered) (32,740) 18,475 
Plus claims paid / (Less premiums received) 39,266 (14,464) (1,303) 
PlusFX 158 [98] (2.986] 
Closing Balance (3.490) 3,918 (44.442) 
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20 Reinsurance contract assets (continued)
Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances

Opening reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 1 January

Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services
received
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for
The risk expired

Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM
Changes in estimates that result in onerous
contract losses or reversal of losses

Contracts initially recognised in the period

Changes that relate to past service
Changes that relate to past service -

adjustments to incurred claims
Effect of chonges in the risk of reinsurers non-
performance
Insurance service result
Finance (income) expenses from insurance
contracts issued
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive
income

Cash flows
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and
other directly attributable expenses paid
Recoveries from reinsurance
Total cash flows
Net balance as at 31 December

Closing reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 31 December

2023
Premiums

payable to
reinsurer

(3,490)

(25,583)

13,954
151

2023
Claims

receivable from
insurer
3.918

12,725

(15,514)
121

1.250

2023

Corporate Solutions. Relnsurance
Risk adjustment

Present value of future for non- financial
cash flows risk CSM Total

60,462 6,795 8,666 75,923
60,462 6.795 8.666 75.923

-
- (9,670) (9,670)

— (1,281) — (1281)

(8,568) -
- (8,568)

(8,568) (1.281) (9,670) (79.519)

3,463 (64) (3399)
-

- - 2,171 2,171

(14,837) 781 14,056
-

(11,374) 717 12,828 2.171

(11,711) (351)
- (12,062)

(36) -
- (36)

(31,689) (915) 3,158 (29,446)

974 41 294 1,309

(30,715) (874) 3,452 (28,137)

25,583
-

- 25,583
(12,725) - - (12,725)
12,858 - • 12,858
42,605 5,921 12,118 60,644
42,605 5,921 12,118 60,644
42.605 5,921 12,118 60,644

The premium poyobles, claims receivable and deposit from reinsurers balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cash
flows (PVFCF).

Opening Balance
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions/ (Less claims recovered)
Plus claims paid I (Less premiums received)
Plus FX
Closing Balance

2023

Deposits from
reinsurers

(44.442)

17,094
620

(26.7281114.968)
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20 Reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
Reconclllatlon of the measurement components of Insurance contract balances 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2023 
Risk adjustment 

Corporate Solutions - Reinsurance Present value of future for non- flnanelal 
cash flows risk CSM Total 

Opening reinsurance contract assets 60,462 6.795 8.666 75,923 
Net balance as at 1 January 60,462 6,795 8,666 75,923 

Changes that relate to current service 
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services 

(9.670) (9.670) received 
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk for 
the risk expired (1,281) (1.281) 
Experience adjustments (8.568) (8 568] 

(8,568) (1281 (9.470) (19.,519 
Changes that relate to future service 
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 3,463 (64) (3,399) 
Changes in estimates that result in onerous 
contract losses or reversal of losses 2.171 2.171 

Contracts initially recognised in the period [14.837] 781 14,056 
(11.374) 717 12,828 2,171 

Changes that relate to past service 
Changes that relate to past service ­ 
adjustments to incurred claims (11,711) (351) (12,062) 
Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non­ 
performance [36) (36] 
Insurance service resuH (316S9) (915 3,158 (29.446 
Finance (income) expenses from insurance 
contracts issued 974 41 294 1,309 
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive 
Income (3o.715) (gs74 3,452 (2s.137 

Cash flows 
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and 
other directly attributable expenses paid 25.583 25.583 
Recoveries from reinsurance [12.725] [12.725] 
Total cash flows 12,858 12,858 
Net balance as at 31 December 42,605 5,921 12,118 60,644 
Closing reinsurance contract assets 42.605 5,921 12,118 60,644 
Net balance as at 31 December 42,605 5,921 12,118 60,644 

The premium payables, claims receivable and deposit from reinsurers balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cash 
flows (PVFCF). 

2023 2023 2023 
Premiums Claims Deposits from payable to receivable from 
relnsurer Insurer reinsurers 

Opening Balance (3,490) 3,918 (44,442) 
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions/ (Less claims recovered) (25,583) 12.725 
Plus claims paid / (Less premiums received) 13,954 (15,514) 17,094 
Plus FX 151 121 620 
Closing Balance (14,968) 1,250 (26.728) 
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20 Relnsurance contract assets (continued)
Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances (continued)

2022

Corporate Solutions- Reinsurance

Opening reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 1 January

Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services
received
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial
risk for the risk expired
Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future servIce
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM
Changes in estimates that result in onerous
contract losses or reversal of losses
Contracts initially recognised in the period

Changes that relate to past service
Changes that relate to past service -

adjustments to incurred claims
Etfect of changes in the risk at reinsurers non-
performance
Insurance service result
Finance (income) expenses from insurance
contracts issued
Total amounts recognised in comprehensive
Income

Cash flows
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and
other directly attributable expenses paid
Recoveries from reinsurance
Total cash flows
Net balance as at 31 December
Closing reinsurance contract assets
Net balance as at 31 December

2022
Premiums

payable to
reinsurer
(10,174)
(32,740)
39,266

158
13.490)

2022
Claims

receIvable from
insurer

5
18,475

(14,464)
(98)

3.918

Risk adjustment
Present value of future for non- financial

cash flows risk CSM Total

54,336 6,581 7,106 68,023
54,336 6,581 7,106 68,023

-

- (10,724) (10,724)

- (223)
- (223)

(1,391)
-

- (1,391)
(1,391) (223) (10,724) (12,338)

4,009 (826) (3,183) -

-

- 4,653 4,653
(10,314) 644 9.670 -

(6,305) (182) 11,140 4,653

2,114 (83)
- 2.031

(84) -
- (84)

(5,666) (488) 416 (5,738)

(2,472) 702 1.144 (626)

(8,138) 214 1,560 (6,364)

32,740
-

- 32,740
(18.476) -

- (18,476)
14,264 - - 14,264
60,462 6,795 8,666 75,923
60.462 6,795 8,666 75.923
60.462 6,795 8,666 75,923

The premium payables. claims receivable and deposit from reinsurers balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cashflows (PVFCF).

Opening Balance
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions! (Less claims recovered)
Plus claims paid / (Less premiums received)
Plus FX
Closing Balance

2022

Deposits from
reinsurers

(40,153)

(1,303)
(2.986)

(44.442)
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20 Reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
Reconclllatlon of the measurement components of Insurance contract balances ( continued) 

2022 
Risk adjustment 

Corporate Solutions - Reinsurance Present value of future for non- financial 
cash flows risk CSM Total 

Opening reinsurance contract assets 54,336 6,581 7,106 68,023 
Net balance as at 1 January 54,336 6,581 7,106 68,023 

Changes that relate to current service 
CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services 
received (10,724) (10,724) 
Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial 
risk for the risk expired (223) (223) 
Experience adjustments [L.39y (L391] 

(L391 (223) (0.724 (12338) 
Changes that relate to future service 
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 4,009 (826) (3.183) 
Changes in estimates that result in onerous 
contract losses or reversal of losses 4.653 4,653 
Contracts initially recognised in the period [0.314] 644 9.670 

(6,305 (62) 11,140 4,653 
Changes that relate to past service 
Changes that relate to past service ­ 
adjustments to Incurred claims 2,114 (83) 2.031 
Effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers non- 
performance (@4 (4] 
Insurance service result (5.666) (48s) 416 (5.738 
Finance (income) expenses from insurance 
contracts issued (2.472) 702 1,144 (626] 
Total amounts recognised In comprehensive 
Income (8.138) 214 1,560 (6.364) 

Cash flows 
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and 
other directly attributable expenses paid 32,740 32,740 
Recoveries from reinsurance [8.476) [18.476) 
Total cash flows 14,264 14,264 
Net balance as at 31 December 60,462 6,795 8,666 75,923 
Closing reinsurance contract assets 60,462 6,795 8,666 75.923 
Net balance as at 31 December 60,462 6,795 B,666 75,923 

The premium payables. claims receivable and deposit from reinsurers balances form part of the Present Value of Future Cash 
flows (PVFCF) 

2022 2022 2022 
Premiums Claims Deposits from payable to receivable from 
reinsurer Insurer relnsurers 

Opening Balance (10,174) 5 (40,153) 
Plus premiums net of ceding commissions/ (Less claims recovered) (32,740) 18,475 
Plus claims paid / (Less premiums received) 39,266 (14,464) (1,303) 
Plus FX 158 [8] (2.986 
Closing Balance (3.40) 3,918 (44.442) 
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Insurance and relnsurance contract liabilities assumptions

The tables below set out the yield curves used to discount the cash flows of insurance contracts for major currencies:

Yield Curves 2023 1 5 10 15 20

Annuities GBP 6.08% 4.70% 462% 4.74% 4.77%

All other insurance contracts

GBP 4.74% 3.36% 3.28% 3.40% 3.43%EUR 3.36% 2.32% 2.39% 2.47% 2.41%USD 4.76% 3.50% 3.45% 3.49% 3.46%

Yield Curves 2022 1 5 10 15 20

Annuities GBP 5.95% 5.55% 5.20% 5.11% 5.03%

All other insurance contracts

G8P 4.46% 4.06% 3.71% 3.62% 3.54%EUR 3.18% 3.13% 3.09% 3.02% 2.77%USD 5.07% 3,95% 3.75% 3.71% 3.63%

Underwriting concentration based on PVFCF of expected cash flows

2023 2022

Unit linked insurance 10.209 10.117With-profits
-Retirement & Savings 543,494 508,952Annuities 54,259 59,348Life and disability 43,717 61,621Other

58,238 65.663Total
709,917 705,701
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Insurance and reinsurance contract llabllltles assumptions 

The tables below set out the yield curves used lo discount the cash nows of insurance contracts for major currencies : 

Yield Curves 2023 5 10 15 20 

Annuities GBP 6.08% 4.70% 4.62% 4.74% 4.77% 

All other insurance contracts 

GBP 4.74% 3.36% 3.28% 3.40% 3.43% 
EUR 3.36% 2.32% 2.39% 2.47% 2.41% 
USD 4.76% 3.50% 3.45% 3.49% 3.46% 

Yield Curves 2022 5 10 15 20 

Annuities GBP 5.95% 5.55% 5.20% 5.11% 5.03% 

All other insurance contracts 

GBP 4.46% 4.06% 3.71% 3.62% 3.54% 
EUR 3.18% 3.13% 3.09% 3.02% 2.77% 
USD 5.07% 3.95% 3.75% 3.71% 3.63% 

Underwriting concentration based on PVFCF of expected cash flows 

2023 2022 

Unit linked insurance 10.209 10,117 
With-profits 
Retirement & Savings 543,494 508,952 
Annuities 54,259 59,348 
Life and disability 43.717 61,621 
Other 58.238 65.663 
Total 709,917 705,701 
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IFRS Sensitivities

All amounts are in £000 unless
otherwise 5tated

The below IERS sensitivities reflect both the profit and equity impact of the S sensitivities. The impact has been presentedon a total basis for the Company. The split between Utmost Wealth Solutions and Utmost Corporate Solutions has notbeen disclosed as the impact on UWS insurance contracts and UCS investment contracts are not material, and theresults are considered to be more meaningful in aggregate. Investment contracts have been excluded as the impacton them is zero for each sensitivity,

Mortality

iFRSImpact.’00Q_ 2023 2022Modality sens1fij$Wjiicrease Proht - - Equity
-

- EquftyInsurance contracts - gross liabilities (291) (291) (513) (513)Insurance contracts - ceded liability (181) (181) (359) (359)Insurance contracts - asset
-

- -Other financial assets
- 228

- 213Total fpclUdlng CSM (472) (2441 (872) (659)Total excluding CSM 1 978 2.206 1885 2 098

=1

;et
-

- - -

- (2511 - (213)
591 340 619 606

(2.254j (2.505) (2.165% (2.378%

interest rate

IFRS impact. £‘oooZ:
lnterestrate-1Ø
nsurance contracts - gross liabtities 12,495 12,495 17.967 17.967nsurance contracts - ceded liability (1.015) (1.015) (4.029) (4.029)nsurance contracts - asset (12,2641 (12,264) (1 3.823) (13,823)Other financial assets

- (2,678) - (2,278)‘tat including CSM (784) (3.462) 175 t2 163)otal excluding CSM (5321 (3.211) 741 11.537)

RSimpact-’O00
nter.st rate 1%d.cr.ass

-

nsurance contracts - gross liabilities (13,622) (13.622) (19,851) (19,851)nsurance contracts - ceded liability 1,237 1,237 4,626 4.626nsurance contracts - asset 12,264 12,264 13.823 13.823Other financial assets
- 2,382 - 1,980Total including CSM (1211 2.261 (1A02 578Total excludIng C$M (4261 1 956 (1.800) 781
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IERS Sensitivities 

All amounts are in £ 000 unless 
otherwise slated 

The below IFRS sensitivities reflect both the profit and equity impact of the 8 sensitivities. The impact has been presented 
on a total basis for the Company. The split between Utmost Wealth Solutions and Utmost Corporate Solutions has not 
been disclosed as the impact on UWS insurance contracts and UCS Investment contracts are not material. and the 
results are considered to be more meaningful in aggregate. Investment contracts have been excluded as the impact 
on them is zero for each sensitivity, 

Mortality 

IFRS Impact - £'000 - - 2023 2022 - - .. - 10% increase Pi~mt Eauitv Profit pout 
Insurance contracts - aross liabilities (291 (291 (513 (513) 
Insurance contracts - ceded liability (181) (181 (359l (359) 
Insurance contracts - asset . . - - 
Other financial assets - 228 - 213 
Total including CSM (472) (244) (872) (659) 
Total excludina CSM 1,978 2,206 1,885 2,098 

IFRS Impact - £'000 - 2023 2022 
Mortality sensitivity - 10% decrease Prom - Fattv Pi~t Etnultfv 

Insurance contracts - aross liabilities 387 387 423 423 
Insurance contracts - ceded liability 204 204 396 396 
Insurance contracts - asset - - - - 
Other financial assets - (251 - (213) 
Total including CSM 591 340 819 606 
Total excludina CSM (2,254] (2,505 (2,165) (2,378) 

Interest rate 

IFRS Impact - £'00O - - 2023 2022 
Interest rate - 1% Increase Pi~mt Eautv Pit Eeutty 
Insurance contracts - gross liabilities 12,495 12,495 17,967 17,967 
Insurance contracts - ceded liability (1,015) (1,015 (4,029 (4,029) 
Insurance contracts - asset (12,264) (12,264 (13,823) (13,823 
Other financial assets - (2,678 - (2,278 
Total including CSM (784] (3,462 115 (2,163 
Total excludina CSM (532) (3,211 741 (1,537 

IFRS Impact - £'00O - 2023 -- 2022 - 
fit~rit rate - 1% decrease Profit Eaulv Pott outty 
Insurance contracts - gross liabilities (13.622) (13,622 (19,851) (19,851) 
Insurance contracts - ceded liabilitv 1.237 1.237 4,626 4,626 
Insurance contracts - asset 12,264 12,264 13,823 13,823 
Other financial assets - 2,382 - 1,980 
Total includina CSM (121 2,261 (1,402) 578 
Total excludina CSM (426) 1,956 (1,800) 181 
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GBP exchange rate

FRS impact- £‘OOO
— 2023 2022

GBP exchange rate - 20% Increase
- EqUlfr - Pröflt Equity

nsurance contracts - gross liabilities 120,719 120.719 118.710 118,710
nsurance contracts - ceded liability (9,222 (9222 (11.984) (11.984)
nsurance contracts - asset (110,366 (110,3661 (105,534) (105,534)
Other financial assets 3,028 (3,331) 3,783 (3,746)
Total including CSM 4159 (2,200) 4,975 (2,554)
Total excluding CSM 3,134 (3,224) 4,787 (3,342)

ERS Impact - £000 2023 - - 202 —

GBP exchange rate4ecrease Profit if L
nsurance contracts - gross liabilities (120.784) (120.784) (119.198) (119.198)
nsurance contracts - ceded liability 9,198 9.198 11,973 1 1.973
nsurance contracts - asset 110,366 1 10,366 105,534 105,534
Other financial assets (3,028) 3,331 (3,783) 3,746
lotat Including CSM (4,248) 2,7 1’ (5,474) 2,055
Tokstixciudlng CSM (3,134) 3,225 (4,186) 3,343

Non-lIfe future claims

-

nsurance contracts - gross liabilities f (6.116) (6.116) (6.91 1) (6,911)
nsurance contracts - ceded liability ] (52) (52) (1.368) (1.368)
nsurance contracts - asset

- - - -

Other financial assets
- - - -

Totottnciuding CSM (6,7 68) (ô,l68j (8,279) (8,27)
Total excluding CSM (1.048) (1,048) (1,242) (1,242)

RSkflpød1.’OO0
-

-

- ‘1)23 20M —

bt1teMuc1a1ms - IO%dtãreas Poflt Equity Equity
nsurance contracts - gross liabilities 6,1 16 6,116 6,911 6,911
nsurance contracts - ceded liability 91 91 (8251 (825)
nsurance contracts - asset

- - - -

Other financial assets
- - - -

Total Including CSM 6,207 6207 6,086 6,086
Total excluding CSM 1.131 1,131 1.340 1,340
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IFRS Impact - £'00O - - --- 2023 2022 - 
GBP exchange rate - 20% increase . - Profit . vi. Profit - Felt - 
Insurance contracts - aross liabilities 120,719 120,719 118,710 118.710 
Insurance contracts - ceded liability (9.222) (9.222l (11,984] (11,984 
Insurance contracts - asset (110,366) (110,366) (105.534) (105,534 
Other financial assets 3.028 (3.331 3,783 (3,746 
Total including CSM 4,15 (2.200) 4,975 (2,554) 
Total excludina CSM 3,134 (3,224) 4,187 (3,342) 

IFRS Imp~ct - £'000 . .. 2023 . 2022 
GBP exchange rate • 20% decrease Profitt Fa ulty Pioft Eobit 

Insurance contracts - aross liabilities (120,784) (120,784) [119,198) (119,198 
Insurance contracts - ceded liability 9,198 9,198 11,973 11,973 
Insurance contracts - asset 110,366 110,366 105.534 105.534 
Other financial assets (3,028) 3,331 (3,783 3.746 
Total including CSM (4,248) 2,111 (5,474 2,055 
Total excludina CSM (3,134] 3,225 (4,186 3,343 

Non-life future claims 

IFRS Impact £'00o - 2023 2022 - 
Non-Ife ffure claims, 10% . rofit Eaultv Profit elf -- . . 
Insurance contracts - aross liabilities (6,116) (6,116) (6,911) (6,911) 
Insurance contracts- ceded liability (52) (52) (1,368) (1,368) 
Insurance contracts - asset . - . . 
Other financial assets . - - . 
Total including CSM (6,168) (6,168) (8,279) (8,27° 
Total excludina CSM (1,048) (1,048) (1,242) (1,242) 

IFRS mpacf £'0oO - - 2023 2022 - 
- . - 

Ni-life ff~r~ claims - 10% decrease Pi~ft - Ftuft -- Praft - - - Eaultv 
Insurance contracts - aross liabilities 6,116 6,116 6,911 6,911 
Insurance contracts - ceded liability 91 91 (825) (825) 
Insurance contracts - asset . . - - 
Other financial assets - . - - 
Total including CSM 6,207 6,207 6,086 6,086 
Total excludina CSM 1,131 1,131 1,340 1,340 
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21 Other poyables

The Company has the legal right to offset the reinsurance deposits included in the above table against
the receivables due from reinsurers, which have arisen from reinsurance contracts (note 20). Other
payables includes amounts such as sundry payables to policyholders, commercial insurance claims,
management accruals and International Equity Fund (lEE) Fees.

2023 2022

Payables relating to investment contracts 29,452 19,974
Payables arising out of reinsurance operations 1,906 2,148
Reinsurance deposits

- 1,049
Amounts payable to intermediaries

1,235 1,545
Income Tax

651 960
Payable to other related parties

30 94
Social security and other tax payables

38 4,662
Investment trade settlements due

32 1,066
Unearned premiums received

54 1,696
Expense accruals

9,320 12,988
Other accruals

210 903
Lease liabilities

990 2,023
Other payables

995 2,724
Total other payables

44,913 57,832

Investment trade settlements due relate to brokers control and fluctuates between a receivable and a
payable on a quarterly basis. The Company has the legal right to offset the reinsurance deposits included
in the above table against the receivables due from reinsurers, which have arisen from reinsurance
contracts.

The expense accruals include items such as general expenses, staff bonus accrual, negative portfolio
bond policies and other policyholder amounts. Included within other accruals there are amounts for
accrued commercial insurance premiums and expected credit losses.
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21 Other payables 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

The Company has the legal right to offset the reinsurance deposits included in the above table against 
the receivables due from reinsurers, which have arisen from reinsurance contracts (note 20). Other 
payables includes amounts such as sundry payables to policyholders, commercial insurance claims, 
management accruals and International Equity Fund (IEF) Fees. 

2023 2022 

Payables relating to investment contracts 29,452 19,974 
Payables arising out of reinsurance operations 1,906 2,148 
Reinsurance deposits 1,049 
Amounts payable to intermediaries 1,235 1,545 
Income Tax 651 960 
Payable to other related parties 30 94 
Social security and other tax payables 38 4,662 
Investment trade settlements due 32 1,066 
Unearned premiums received 54 1,696 
Expense accruals 9,320 12,988 
Other accruals 210 903 
Lease liabilities 990 2.023 
Other payables 995 2,724 

Total other payables 44,913 51,832 

Investment trade settlements due relate to brokers control and fluctuates between a receivable and a 
payable on a quarterly basis. The Company has the legal right to offset the reinsurance deposits included 
in the above table against the receivables due from reinsurers, which have arisen from reinsurance 
contracts. 

The expense accruals include items such as general expenses, staff bonus accrual, negative portfolio 
bond policies and other policyholder amounts. Included within other accruals there are amounts for 
accrued commercial insurance premiums and expected credit losses. 
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27 Other poyables (continued)

Lease liabilities

Opening amount
Interest charge
Lease payment
Exchange difference

Closin9 amounf

2023

The service charges relating to these lease contracts are included within insurance service and other
operating expenses (note 7) and amounts to £229 (2022: £197).

2022

The lease agreement in Guernsey imposes covenants on the Company that are in the ordinary course ofa lease agreement such as restriction of use, compliance with laws and reasonable repair. The leaseagreement expires on 2 April 2025, with an option to renew. The lease of the Swiss Branch office has beenclassified as a short-term lease as it is a rolling lease agreement with a 6-month termination period. Thelease of the Hong Kong Branch office expires on 31 January 2024 and has been renewed until 31 January2027. Please refer to note 4.5 for a maturity analysis of the lease liability.

22 Deferred income liability

2023 2022

Deferred income liability

Current portion
Non-current portion
Total deferred income liability

Deferred income liability at 1 January
Fees received and deferred during the year
Recognised as fee income in profit or loss during the year
Deferred Income liability at 31 December

172,422 210,282
172,422 210,282

20.579
151 ,843
1 72,422

210,282

8,390
(46,250)

772,422

24,318
185,964
210,282

237,942

10,027
(37,687)

210,262

2,023 2,943
88 147

(1,112) (1,121)

J!L 54

2,023

92

UTMOST WORLWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

21 Other payables (continued) 

Lease llabllltles 
2023 2022 

Opening amount 2.023 2,943 
Interest charge 88 147 
Lease payment (1,112) (1,121) 
Exchange difference (9J 54 
Closing amount 990 2,023 

The service charges relating to these lease contracts are included within insurance service and other 
operating expenses (note 7) and amounts to £229 (2022: £197). 

The lease agreement in Guernsey imposes covenants on the Company that are in the ordinary course of 
a lease agreement such as restriction of use, compliance with laws and reasonable repair. The lease 
agreement expires on 2 April 2025, with an option to renew. The lease of the Swiss Branch office has been 
classified as a short-term lease as it is a rolling lease agreement with a 6-month termination period. The 
lease of the Hong Kong Branch office expires on 31 January 2024 and has been renewed until 31 January 
2027. Please refer to note 4.5 for a maturity analysis of the lease liability. 

22 Deferred Income llablllty 

2023 2022 

Deferred income liability 172,422 210,282 
172,422 210,282 

Current portion 20,579 24,318 
Non-current portion 151,843 185,964 
Total deferred Income liability 172,422 210,282 

Deferred Income llablllly at 1 January 210,282 237,942 
Fees received and deferred during the year 8,390 10,027 
Recognised as fee income in profit or loss during the year (46.250) (37.687] 
Deferred Income llablllly at 31 December 172,422 210,282 
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23 Share capital

N umber of issuedNumber of
and fully paid up Share Capitalauthorised shares

shares
£As at 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2023
150.000,000 100,230,699 100,230,699
150,000,000 100,230,699 100,230,699

Unrealised gains I (losses) on FA at FVTOCI
Foreign currency translation reserve
Defined benefit plan reserve
Revenue reserve
Total reserves

All amounts shown represent actual figures and are not rounded or ‘ODDs amounts.
These shares all belong to one class of share capital and all issued shares ore fully paid at par value of £1. There havebeen no changes to the numbers of shares outstanding or issues during the period. There are no rights or restrictionsattached to this class of shares, and no shares are held by the entity, its subsidiaries or associates. No shares have beenreserved for issue under options or contracts for sale.

24 Retained earnings and other reserves
* restated

2023 2022

Hong Kong required solvency margin 4,179 4,770BVI minimum solvency margin 294 310Non distributable reserve 4,473 5,080

(4,787) (8,776)
7,635 7,635
4,469 5,450

35,958 44,211
47,748 53,600

Hong Kong Required Solvency Margin and BVI Minimum Solvency Margin
The Company has designated certain retained earnings as non-distributable in the normal course of business, in order tocomply with Hong Kong and BVl regulatory solvency requirements.

Currency Translation Reserve
The currency translation reserve arose on the redenomination in 1999 of the Company’s share capital with additionalamounts noted in this reserve to reflect the changes made to the presentation currency on the sale of the Company toUtmost Local in 2019.
Revenue Reserve
The revenue reserve forms the balance of the shareholders’ equity. It is fully distributable, subject to the constraintsimposed by the requirements of the Company (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey)Law, 2002.
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23 Share capital 

As at 31 December 2022 
As at 31 December 2023 

Number of 
authorised shares 

150,000.,000 
150,000,00Q 

Number of Issued 
and fully paid up 

shares 

100,230,699 
100,230,699 

Share Capital 

£ 
100,230,699 

100,230,699 

All amounts shown represent actual figures and are not rounded or 'OOOs amounts. 
These shares all belong to one class of share capital and all issued shares are fully paid at par value of £I. There have 
been no changes to the numbers of shares outstanding or issues during the period. There are no rights or restrictions 
attached to this class of shares, and no shares are held by the entity, its subsidiaries or associates. No shares have been 
reserved for issue under options or contracts for sale. 

24 Retained earnings and other reserves 
• restated 

2023 2022 

Hong Kong required solvency margin 4,179 4,770 
BVI minimum solvency margin 294 310 
Non dlstrlbutable reserve 4.473 5,080 

Unrealised gains / (losses) on FA at FVTOCI (4,787) (8,776) 
Foreign currency translation reserve 7,635 7,635 
Defined benefit plan reserve 4,469 5,450 
Revenue reserve 35,958 44,211 
Total reserves 47,748 53,600 

Hong Kong Required Solvency Margin and BVI Minimum Solvency Margin 
The Company has designated certain retained earnings as non-distributable in the normal course of business. in order to 
comply with Hong Kong and BVI regulatory solvency requirements. 

Currency Translation Reserve 
The currency translation reserve arose on the redenomination in 1999 of the Company's share capital with additional 
amounts noted in this reserve to reflect the changes made to the presentation currency on the sale of the Company to 
Utmost Local in 2019. 
Revenue Reserve 
The revenue reserve forms the balance of the shareholders' equity. It is fully distributable, subject to the constraints 
imposed by the requirements of the Company (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and the Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) 
Law, 2002. 
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25 Discontinued operations

On February 2019, the Board stated ifs intention to cease selling non-life insurance policies. In December 2021, the
company billed the final premiums from its Bahamian non-life medical policies and in May 2022, it billed the final
premiums from its Cayman non-life medical policies. As the company’s obligations to pay claims on these policies
ceased 6 months following the last billing of premiums, all obligations relating to the medical business ceased by 31
December 2022. The medical insurance business is the only operation presented as a discontinued operation in
2022. Please refer to notes 28.1 and 28.2 for a further breakdown. There ore no balances for 2023.

The post-tax loss on the discontinued operations was determined os follows:

Results of discontinued operations 2022

Total income
27

Net insurance benefits and claims 310
Lxpenses

t83)

Profit
254

Statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows includes the following amounts relating to discontinued operations:
2022

Operating activities 251Investing activities
3

Net cash from discontinued operations 254

26 ContingencIes, commitments and guarantees

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to mailers of litigation or arbitration. While there can be no
assurances, at this time the directors believe, based on the information currently available to them, that it is not
probable that the ultimate outcome of any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on the financial
condition of the Company.

In cases where the probability is more likely than not that cash outflows will occur, a provision is made within the
financial statements and presented as part of payables (note 21).

The Company is subject to insurance solvency regulations in all the territories in which it issues insurance and
investment contracts, and it has complied with all the local solvency regulations. There are no contingencies
associated with the Company’s compliance or lack of compliance with these requlations.

There are no outstanding commitments as at 31 December 2023 nor 31 December 2022.

27 Business sector report of Utmost Worldwide Limited for the Utmost Worldwide Limited Hong Kong Branch regulated
by the Hong Kong Insurance Authority (“HKIA’)

The following tables reconcile the full statement of financial position, including non-monetary assets and liabilities, to
the classes and portfolios used in the Company’s ALM framework. It is included in the audited financial statements
of the Company in order to provide detail to the Hong Kong Insurance Authority in relation to the various Hong
Kong business classes in which the Company operates.

The comparative business sector report for 2022 remains the same as it was submitted to the HKIA in 2022 and per the
signed 2022 financial statements, and has not been amended to coincide with the new IFRS 17 presentation, This is to
ensure that it coincides with the returns submitted to the HKIA.

The business sector report for 2023 has been aligned with the 2023 HKIA returns submitted to the regulator and will nat
always correspond to the totals on the balance sheet.
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25 Discontinued operations 

On February 2019, the Board stated its intention to cease selling non-life insurance policies. In December 2021, the 
company billed the final premiums from its Bahamian non-life medical policies and in May 2022, it billed the final 
premiums from its Cayman non-life medical policies. As the company's obligations to pay claims on these policies 
ceased 6 months following the lest billing of premiums, ell obligations relating to the medical business ceased by 31 
December 2022. The medical insurance business is the only operation presented cs a discontinued operation in 
2022. Please refer to notes 28. 1 and 28.2 for a further breakdown. There are no balances for 2023. 

The post-tax loss on the discontinued operations was determined cs follows: 

Results of discontinued operations 

Total income 
Net insurance benefits end claims 
Expenses 

Profit 

Statement of cash flows 

The statement of cash flows includes the following amounts relating to discontinued operations: 

Operating activities 
Investing activities 

Net cash from discontinued operations 

2022 

27 
310 
(83) 

254 

2022 

251 
3 

254 

26 Contingencies, commitments and guarantees 

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to matters of litigation or arbitration. While there can be no 
assurances, al this time the directors believe, based on the information currently available to them, that It is not 
probable that the ultimate outcome of any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on the financial 
condition of the Company. 

In cases where the probability is more likely than not that cash outflows will occur, a provision is made within the 
financial statements and presented as part of payables (note 21). 

The Company is subject to insurance solvency regulations in ell the territories in which it issues insurance end 
investment contracts, and it has complied with ell the local solvency regulations. There are no contingencies 
associated with the Company's compliance or lack of compliance with these regulations. 

There are no outstanding commitments as at 31 December 2023 nor 31 December 2022. 

27 Business sector report of Utmost Worldwide Umlted for the Utmost Worldwide Umlted Hong Kong Branch regulated 
by the Hong Kong Insurance Authority (""HKIA") 

The following tables reconcile the full statement of financial position, including non-monetary assets and liabilities, to 
the classes and portfolios used in the Company's ALM framework. It is included in the audited financial statements 
of the Company in order to provide detail to the Hong Kong Insurance Authority in relation to the various Hong 
Kong business classes in which the Company operates. 

The comparative business sector report for 2022 remains the same cs it was submitted to the HKIA in 2022 and per the 
signed 2022 financial statements, and has not been amended to coincide with the new IFRS 17 presentation. This is to 
ensure that it coincides with the returns submitted to the HKIA. 

The business sector report for 2023 has been aligned with the 2023 HKIA returns submitted to the regulator end will not 
always correspond to the totals on the balance sheet. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

MI amounts are in £000 unless
otherwise staled

281 Business sector report of The Bahamas direct business regulated by The Insurance Commission of The Bahamas
This business was discontinued in 2022, therefore there are no 2023 balances.

Balance Sheet

Assets

Receivables
Receivables arising out of direct insurance operations
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalent
Accrued income and prepayments

Liabilities
Revenue reserves
Payables

Other payables
Other liabilities

Income Statement

Gross earned premiums
Earned premium ceded

Net earned premiums

Interest and other investment income

Total income

Net insurance benefits and claims
Unrealised gains on foreign currency
Total expenses

Profit before tax
Income taxes
Profit for the year

All income and net insurance benefit claims relate to the discontinued Medical business.

2022
£

2,585

3,758
8

3,126
2

4,546
10

6,352 7,684

1,028 171

4,644 5,617
680 1,895

6,352 7,683

2022
£ B$

44 53
(44) (53)

2 2

2 2

136 169
890 -

1,026 169

1,028 171

1,028 171

8$ - Bahamian Dollars

Table included as part of the requirement for regulatory reporting in The Bahamas.
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2 2 

2 2 

136 169 
890 

1.026 169 

1,028 171 

1,028 171 

2.585 3.126 
1 2 

3,758 4,546 
8 10 

6,352 7684 

1,028 171 

4,644 5,617 
680 1,895 

6,352 7,683 

2022 
£ B$ 

44 53 
(44) (53) 

Llablllties 
Revenue reserves 
Payables 

Other payables 
Other liabilities 

Gross earned premiums 
Earned premium ceded 

Net earned premiums 

Interest and other investment income 

Total income 

Net insurance benefits and claims 
Unrealised gains on foreign currency 
Total expenses 

Profit before tax 
Income taxes 
Profit for the year 

Income Statement 

28.1 Business sector report of The Bahamas direct business regulated by The Insurance Commission of The Bahamas 
This business was discontinued in 2022, therefore there are no 2023 balances. 

Balance Sheet 2022 
£ B$ 

Assets 

Receivables 
Receivables arising out of direct insurance operations 
Other receivables 

Cash and cash equivalent 
Accrued income and prepayments 

All income and net insurance benefit claims relate to the discontinued Medical business. 

B$ - Bahamian Dollars 

Table included as part of the requirement for regulatory reporting in The Bahamas. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

All amounts ate in £000 unless
otherwise stated

28.2 BusIness sector report of the Cayman Islands direct business regulated by the Cayman Island MonetaryAuthority

This business was discontinued in 2022, therefore there are no 2023 balances.

Balance Sheet

Assets

Receivables
Receivables arising out of reinsurance operations

Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities
Revenue reserve
Payables

Payables arising out of direct insurance operations
Payables arising out of reinsurance operations

Other payables
Other liabilities

2022
£ $

830 1,004
6.931 8,383

9.3877.761

2,400 1.101

1,049 1,269
162 196
49 60

4,101 6.761
7,761 9,387

$ - United States Dollars

Table included as part of the requirement for regulatory reporting in the Cayman Islands.
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28.2 Business sector report of the Cayman Islands direct business regulated by the Cayman Island Monetary 
Authority 
This business was discontinued in 2022, therefore there are no 2023 balances. 

Balance Sheet 2022 
£ $ 

Assets 

Receivables 
Receivables arising out of reinsurance operations 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Llabllltles 
Revenue reserve 
Payables 

Payables arising out of direct insurance operations 
Payables arising out of reinsurance operations 

Other payables 
Other liabilities 

$- United States Dollars 

Table included as part of the requirement for regulatory reporting in the Cayman Islands. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

All amounts are in £000 unless
otherwise stated

28.2 Business sector report of the Cayman Islands direct business regulated by the Cayman Island Monetary Authority(continued)
This business was discontinued in 2022, therefore there are no 2023 balances.

Income Statement
2022

£ $
Gross earned premiums
Earned premium ceded

Net earned premiums

Interest and other investment income
Other income

Total Income

Net insurance benefits and claims
Expenses tor the acquisition of insurance and investment contracts
Gains on foreign currency and revaluations
Total expenses

Profit before tax
Income taxes
Profit for the year

The split between Protection and discontinued Medical business is as follows:

386 528
(349) (482)

37 46

24 31

62 77

861 1,041
(13) (15)

1,490 )2)
2,338 1.024

2,400 1,101

2,400 1,107

2022
£

Medical Income
Protection Income
Total Income

Medical net insurance benefits and claims
Protection net insurance benefits and claims
Total Net insurance benefits and claims

Protection Expenses
Expenses (excluding revaluation movement)

$ - United States Dollars

Table included as part of the requirement for regulatory reporting in the Cayman Islands.

25
37
62

2022

1 72
689
861

2022

13
13

100

UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

All amounts are in £'000 unless 
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28.2 Business sector report of the Cayman Islands direct business regulated by the Cayman Island Monetary Authortty 
( continued) 
This business was discontinued in 2022, therefore there are no 2023 balances. 

Income Statement 2022 
£ $ 

Gross earned premiums 386 528 
Earned premium ceded (349) (482) 

Net earned premiums 37 46 

Interest and other investment income 
Other income 24 31 

Total Income 62 77 

Net insurance benefits and claims 861 1,041 
Expenses for the acquisition of insurance and investment contracts (13) (15) 
Gains on foreign currency and revaluations 1,490 2) 
Total expenses 2,338 1,024 

Profit before tax 2,400 1,101 
Income taxes 
Profit for the year 2,400 1,101 

The split between Protection and discontinued Medical business is as follows: 

Medical Income 
Protection Income 
Total Income 

Medical net insurance benefits and claims 
Protection net insurance benefits and claims 
Total Net Insurance benefits and claims 

Protection Expenses 
Expenses (excluding revaluation movement) 

$- United States Dollars 

Table included as part of the requirement for regulatory reporting in the Cayman Islands. 

100 

2O22 
£ 

25 
37 
62 

2022 

172 
689 
861 

2O22 

13 
13 



UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS All amounts are in £000 unless37 DECEMBER 2023

otherwise stated

29 Related.party balances and transactions

The following transactions were carried out with related parties.

a) Key management personnel compensation

2023 2022Salaries & other short term employee benefits 1.032 1.978Post-employment benetit
106 110

b) Balances and transactions with parent company

2023 2022Receivable from Utmost International Group Holdings Limited (UIG) 5 44Prepaid expenses to UIG
tI 70) (170)Accrued expenses UIG

- (144)Dividend paid to UIG
45,000 60,000Expenses from UIG

556 694

c) Balances and transactions with subsidiaries

2023 2022Receivable UPM
72 103Receivable Utmost International Middle East Limited (“UIME’) 90 243

Payable to UPM
- (19)Accwed expenses UPM

t127) (123)Payable to UIME
(30) (76)

Management and service fees UPM 671 692Administrative expenses UIME 315 486

Management and service fees above are presented as part of the purchases of other goods and services withininsurance service and other operating expenses in note 7.
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29 Related-party balances and transactions 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties. 

a) Key management personnel compensation 

Salaries & other short term employee benefits 
Post-employment benefit 

b) Balances and transactions with parent company 

Receivable from Utmost International Group Holdings Limited (UIG) 
Prepaid expenses to UIG 
Accrued expenses UIG 
Dividend paid to UIG 
Expenses from UIG 

c) Balances and transactions with subsidiaries 

Receivable UPM 
Receivable Utmost International Middle East Limited ""UIME") 

Payable to UPM 
Accrued expenses UPM 
Payable to UIME 

Management and service fees UPM 
Administrative expenses UIME 

NI amounts are in £'000 unless 
otherwise stated 

2023 2022 
1,032 1,978 

106 110 

2023 2022 
5 44 

(170) (170) 
(144) 

45,000 60,000 
556 694 

2023 2022 
72 103 
90 243 

(19) 
(127) (123) 

(30) (76) 

671 692 
315 486 

Management and service fees above are presented as part of the purchases of other goods and services within 
insurance service and other operating expenses in note 7. 
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UTMOST WORLDWIDE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AI amounts are in £000 unless
31 DECEMBER 2023 otherwise stated

29 Related-party balances and transactions (continued)

d) Balances and transactions with other related parties
2023 2022Receivable from Utmost Services Ireland Limited (USIL) 191Receivable from UtmostPanEurope DAC (UPE) 38

-Receivable from Utmost Holdings Isle of Man Limited (1DM) 292 534Prepaid expenses to 1DM 4 4Receivable from Utmost Life and Pension Limited (ULP)
- 1Receivable from Utmost Switzerland GmbH 14 54

Accrued expenses USIL (31) (142)Accrued expenses UPE (81) -

Accrued expenses 1DM (99)
-

Administrative expenses USIL 2,336 3,741Administrative expenses 1DM 238 166

Related party receivables are presented as part of receivables in note 15. Prepaid expenses are presented as part of other
prepayments also within note 15. Accrued expenses are presented as part of other payables in note 21. Payables are presented
as part of payables to other related parties in note 21. Administrative expenses are shown as part of insurance service and other
operating expenses in note 7.

e) Balances In relation to relnsurance

2023 2022Amounts payable to related parties (11,159) (10,789)

This balance is comprised of £9.3 million of investment contracts reinsured payable to UPE, and the remainder consists ofinvestments in internal funds whereby UPEs policyholders invest in funds of the Company. Please refer to note 12.

1) Retirement benefit obligations

Transactions and balances arising from the Company’s retirement benefit obligations are disclosed in note 17.

The Company shares its offices with some of its subsidiaries and other related parties. Some services are purchased by
one related party on behalf of all and the costs allocated on an equitable basis. These recharges typically cover areas
such as office services, shared personnel costs, tent and rates. Refer to section c) and d) for the detail.

30 Events after the balance sheet date

No subsequent events have been identified which have a significant effect on the balance sheet date.

Based on the above, the Directors consider that the Company remains a going concern.
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29 Related-party balances and transactions (continued) 

d) Balances and transactions with other related parties 

Receivable from Utmost Services Ireland Limited (USIL) 
Receivable from UtmostPanEurope DAC (UPE) 
Receivable from Utmost Holdings Isle of Man Limited (IOM) 
Prepaid expenses to IOM 
Receivable from Utmost Life and Pension Limited (ULP) 
Receivable from Utmost Switzerland GmbH 

Accrued expenses USlL 
Accrued expenses UPE 
Accrued expenses 1OM 

Administrative expenses USIL 
Administrative expenses IOM 

2023 

38 
292 

4 

14 

(31) 
(81) 
(99) 

2,336 
238 

2022 
191 

534 
4 
1 

54 

(142) 

3,741 
166 

Related party receivables are presented as part of receivables in note 15. Prepaid expenses are presented as part of other 
prepayments also within note 15. Accrued expenses are presented as part of other payables in note 21. Payables are presented 
as part of payables to other related parties in note 21. Administrative expenses are shown as part of insurance service and other 
operating expenses in note 7. 

e) Balances in relation to reinsurance 

Amounts payable to related parties 
2023 

(11,159) 
2022 

(10,789) 

This balance is comprised of £9.3 million of investment contracts reinsured payable to UPE, and the remainder consists of 
investments in internal funds whereby UPE's policyholders invest in funds of the Company. Please refer to note 12. 

f) Retirement benefit obllgatlons 

Transactions and balances arising from the Company's retirement benefit obligations are disclosed in note 17. 

The Company shares its offices with some of its subsidiaries and other related parties. Some services are purchased by 
one related party on behalf of all and the costs allocated on an equitable basis. These recharges typically cover areas 
such as office services. shared personnel costs. rent and rates. Refer to section c) and d) for the detail. 

30 Events after the balance sheet date 

No subsequent events have been identified which have a significant effect on the balance sheet date. 

Based on the above. the Directors consider that the Company remains a going concern. 
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